

UGANDA BUREAU OF STATISTICS







PHYSICAL AND MONETARY ECOSYSTEM SERVICES AND ASSET ACCOUNTS FOR UGANDA 1990-2015

July 2023





FOREWORD

It is with great pleasure that I present the first ever Ecosystem Account (EA) for Uganda. Ecosystem accounts (EA) involves accounting for ecosystem extent and condition, flows of ecosystem services, and the resultant asset value of ecosystems. The accounts were compiled using the System of Environment Economic Accounting, Ecosystem Accounts (SEEA EA) frame work and the international System of National Accounting (SNA).

These accounts summarise the physical and monetary value flows of ecosystem services and the ecosystem asset values for each of 10 major ecosystem types, including farmland and urban green spaces, for the period 1990 to 2015. The report presents the background, methods and spatial results from the accounting tables of ecosystems at national scale. The ecosystem types were delineated from land cover accounts: open water, wetland, grassland, bushland, woodland, natural forest, plantation forest, farmland, built-up area and bare.

This first EA presents the estimates of Ecosystem service economic contribution and the impact of economic activity on the environment The ESA was developed for years 1990 to 2015 because of the availability of data and consistence with previously published Ecosystem Extent accounts.

The main purpose of this account is to aid policy-makers to ensure that the benefits which are derived from the ecosystems are included in their decisions. Therefore, this first EA is most welcomed by the policy makers as an instrument for policy formulation in strategic planning and evidence-based decision making.

I am confident that the EA report 2023 will provide greater insights and necessary information on the environmental economic contribution and impact which is of great importance to the diverse stakeholder and partners.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to the World Bank for their great leadership and continued technical support, Ministry of Finance Planning and Economic Development and all the NCA TWG member and partners for their guidance and support in the development of the Uganda's Ecosystem Services and Assets Accounts 2023.

Therefore, I recommend this report that virtually brings ecosystem interaction with the economy to all those interested in understanding Uganda Natural capital.

Chris. N. Mukiza (PhD)

Executive Director/Chief Statistician Uganda Bureau of Statistics

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These accounts were compiled on behalf of the Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS) by the Government of Uganda's Natural Capital Accounting Technical Working Group, with financial support from the World Bank's Global Program on Sustainability (GPS) and technical support from Anchor Environmental Consultants (Pty) Ltd.

The compilation of these accounts would not have been possible without the generous cooperation of the Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic Development (MoFPED), the National Planning Authority (NPA), the National Forestry Authority (NFA), the Ministry of Water and Environment (MWE), the National Environment Management Authority (NEMA) and the Uganda Wildlife Authority (UWA), who provided the statistics used in the accounts and assisted with their interpretation.

The Technical Working Group members who guided the process and assisted with the compilation and vetting of data included:

- Sam Echoku, Principal Statistician, UBOS
- Sam Mugume, Principal Statistician/Chairperson, MoFPED
- Hilda Arinaitwe, UBOS
- Victoria Nansubuga, UBOS
- Ronald Kaggwa, Manager: Production, Trade & Tourism Planning, NPA
- Issa Katwesige, Acting Assistant Commissioner, MWE
- Edward Ssenyonjo, Coordinator Inventory and Surveys, NFA
- Margaret Athieno Mwebesa, Assistant Commissioner, MWE Forest Sector Support Department
- Lucy Iyango, Assistant Commissioner, MWE Wetlands Management Department
- John Diisi, GIS & mapping coordinator, NFA
- Godwin Kamugisha, Principal Economist, NEMA
- Bob Kazungu, Principal Forest Officer, MWE Forest Sector Support Department

The report was prepared by Dr Jane Turpie, Luke Wilson, Johanna Brühl and Gwyn Letley of Anchor Environmental Consultants. Prof Michael Vardon of the Australian National University and Dr Bram Edens of UNEP and Dr Sofia Ahlroth and Dr Lesya Verheijen of the World Bank are thanked for their valuable inputs on an earlier draft.

Cover photo: Beautiful Uganda. Credit: Bradt Guides; www.bradtguides.com

General citation: UBOS 2023. Physical and Monetary Ecosystem Services and Asset Accounts for Uganda 1990-2015. Report prepared by Anchor Environmental Consultants and funded by the World Bank on behalf of Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS), Government of Uganda.

Academic citation: Turpie, J.K., Wilson, L. Brühl, J. & Letley, G. 2023. *Physical and Monetary Ecosystem* Services and Asset Accounts for Uganda 1990-2015. Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS), Government of Uganda, Kampala. 182pp.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PR	EFACE & ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	I
TA	BLE OF CONTENTS	III
РС	DLICY SUMMARY	VI
EX	ECUTIVE SUMMARY	IX
AE	BREVIATIONS & ACRONYMS	XXI
GL	OSSARY	XXIII
1.		1
	F	
	ECOSYSTEM ACCOUNTING	⊥ د
	FORENTIAL OSEFULNESS FOR OGANDA	 ר
		5 6
	Structure of the report	6
2		7
۷.		/
	THE NATURAL ENVIRONMENT	7
	Extent, topography and drainage	7
	Climate	9
	Terrestrial ecosystems & biodiversity	11 17
	Aqualic ecosystems & diouversity	12
	Riodiversity	13
	Climate change	13
	Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)	13
	PEOPLE, ECONOMY, LAND TENURE AND ADMINISTRATION	14
	Population	14
	Economy and livelihoods	15
	Water and energy infrastructure	16
	Land tenure and administration	17
	LAND COVER	21
3.	METHODOLOGICAL FRAMEWORK	24
	OVERVIEW	24
	ECOSYSTEMS AND ECOSYSTEM SERVICES	24
	Ecosystems	24
	Ecosystem services	25
	VALUATION	30
	Valuing ecosystem service flows in terms of Exchange values	30
	Determining Constant values and volume and price effects	31
	Estimuting ecosystem asset values	32 22
	Decomposition of changes in asset value	55
	SPATIAL FRAMEWORK	35
	ECOSYSTEM ACCOUNTING AREAS.	
	Accounting tables	35
4.	ECOSYSTEM SERVICES AND BENEFITS	36
	CROP PROVISIONING SERVICES	36
	Overview	36
	Data and methods	36
	Results	38

GRAZED BIOMASS/LIVESTOCK PROVISIONING SERVICES	
Overview	
Data and methods	
Results	
AQUACULTURE PROVISIONING SERVICES	
Overview of the service	
Data and methods	
Results	
WOOD PROVISIONING SERVICES	
Overview	
Data and methods	
Results	
WILD FISH AND OTHER NATURAL AQUATIC BIOMASS PROVISIONING SERVICES.	
Overview	
Data and methods	
Results	
WILD ANIMALS, PLANTS AND OTHER BIOMASS PROVISIONING SERVICES	
Overview	
Data and methods	
Results	
WATER SUPPLY	
Overview	
Data and methods	
Results	90
GLOBAL CLIMATE REGULATION' CARBON RETENTION	92
Overview	92
Data and methods	92
Results	95
SOIL AND SEDIMENT RETENTION SERVICES' SOIL EROSION CONTROL	98
Overview	98
Data and methods	98
Results and discussion	90 90
	103
Overview	103
Data and methods	103
Results	105
WATER FLOW REGULATION SERVICES	108
	108
Data and methods	
Reculte	
Data and matheds	
Data and methods	
Results	
SUMMARY OF THE ACCOUNTS	
NATIONAL LEVEL RESULTS	
BASIN LEVEL RESULTS	
DISTRICT LEVEL RESULTS	
NEXT STEPS	
Overview	
EXTENDING THE COVERAGE OF ECOSYSTEM SERVICES	
EXTENDING THE TIME SPAN OF THE ECOSYSTEM ACCOUNTS	
INCORPORATING ECOSYSTEM CONDITION	
IMPROVING ESTIMATES OF ASSET VALUE	

7.	REFERENCES	139
8.	APPENDIX	153

POLICY SUMMARY

Introduction

Ecosystem accounting (EA) involves accounting for ecosystem extent and condition, flows of ecosystem services (both physical and monetary), and the resultant asset value of ecosystems, in a way that is compatible with the international System of National Accounting (SNA). They help policy-makers to ensure that the benefits which are derived from ecosystems are included in their decisions.

Although Uganda is known for supporting extraordinary biodiversity, very little intact natural vegetation or wildlife now remains outside of protected areas, its lakes, rivers and wetlands are increasingly degraded, and soil fertility is declining. Its rapid population growth poses further challenges for meeting sustainable development goals.

These accounts summarise the physical and monetary value flows of ecosystem services and the ecosystem asset values for each of 10 major ecosystem types, including farmland and urban green spaces, for the period 1990 to 2015. Values are summarised at national scale, for each of the country's eight major river basins, and for each of its 146 local administrative units (135 districts and 11 cities). The accounts are in the form of a spreadsheet. This report presents the context, methods and spatial results, but only replicates the accounting tables for ecosystems at national scale.

Methodological framework

For these accounts, ten ecosystem types were delineated from land cover data: open water, wetland, grassland, bushland, woodland, natural forest, plantation forest, farmland, built-up area and bare. Within these, the detailed land cover data (NFA, 2017) and vegetation maps (van Breugel et al., 2015) were also used in estimating spatial variation in ecosystem service delivery where relevant.

Monetary values of ecosystem service flows are expressed in terms of "exchange values", which is the amount that is paid by the users of ecosystem services to the owners of those services, or that would be paid if a market existed. In some cases, the benefit to which the environmental input contributes is accounted for in the SNA (e.g. tourism), but in others it is not (e.g. recreation in open access green space areas). In the former case, the value is equivalent of an intermediate expenditure incurred in the production of an SNA product and does not alter GDP. In the latter, it is the equivalent of a final expenditure for a benefit that is outside of the SNA production boundary and is additional to measured GDP. For ecosystem services that are consumed purposely (provisioning and cultural services), the benefits are valued in terms of the residual value (or resource rent) after all human inputs are accounted for. Services that are consumed inadvertently (regulating services) are valued in terms of avoided costs (costs that would be incurred if the service was lost).

The asset value of ecosystems was calculated as the summed net present value (NPV) of expected future flows of all ecosystem services that are generated by a particular ecosystem asset over 100 years, using a social discount rate of 4.04%. Asset values took sustainability into account as far as possible. All values are expressed in constant 2017 prices in Ugandan shillings (UGX).

Summary of findings

In physical terms, the use of provisioning services increased substantially, ranging from a 25% increase for crops to a 300% increase for water supply (Table I). This can be at least partly attributed to the fact that population doubled over this time period (i.e. increased demand). In comparison, the use of regulating services did not increase much, apart from the water flow regulation service (likely due to

supply constraints). The most significant increase was that of the ecosystem contribution to tourism value. This was not expressed in physical terms, but the value increased by 6016% over the 25-year span of the accounts and is attributed to an increase in national and international demand as a result of investments in parks and tourism facilities.

In monetary terms, the value flows of all services increased. All provisioning services at least doubled in value. The percentage increases in value for water, flow regulation, sediment and nutrient retention services were the same as for physical flows, since no real price changes were recorded. The value of carbon retention more than doubled due to the increased price of carbon. Tourism value had by far the highest increase of any ecosystem service. The total monetary value of ecosystem services was 16 783 billion (UGX 2017) in 1990 and 32 057 billion in 2015 (UGX 2017); Uganda's GDP was 25 279 billion in 1990 (UGX 2017) and 101 797 billion (UGX 2017) in 2015. Hence, ecosystem services had a value equivalent to 66% to GDP in 1990 and 31% in 2015.

	Physical			Monetary (UGX billions)			
	1990	2015	% increase	1990	2015	% increase	
Crops (kt/y)	16 269	20 3 1 6	25%	4 240	7 829	85%	
Grazed biomass (kt/y)	9 069	26 760	195%	2 866	5 743	100%	
Wood (kt/y)	15 315	38 760	153%	184	3 272	1683%	
Wild fish (kt/y)	245	455	86%	0.1	0.6	503%	
Other wild resources (kt/y)	352	388	10%	147	415	182%	
Water supply (ML/y)	140 021	560 577	300%	85	338	300%	
Water flow regulation (ML/y)	5 870	12 047	105%	5.7	12	105%	
Sediment retention (million m ³ /y)	929	1 094	18%	4212	4 959	18%	
Nutrient retention (ktP/y)	3 366	3 504	4%	201	209	4%	
Carbon retention (MtC)	2 7	1 943	-11%	4 840	9 064	87%	
Tourism value (UGX millions/y)	3 530	215 923	6016%	3.5	216	6016%	
Total value	-	-	-	16 783	32 057	9 1%	

Table I. Summary and comparison of the results at national scale for 1990 and 2015

The monetary value of ecosystem services flows per ha in 1990 and 2015, expressed in constant 2017 UGX (i.e. correcting for inflation), is shown graphically in Figure I. All ecosystem types increased in value per unit area from 1990 to 2015 except for "Bare", largely attributable to the increase in numbers of people demanding services from them. The largest monetary value per ha, both in 1990 and 2015 comes from forests and wetlands. The largest percentage increases (per ha) between 1990 and 2015 were recorded in "Open Water", "Plantation", and "Wetland".

The asset account records the monetary value of opening and closing stocks of all ecosystem assets within an ecosystem accounting area and additions and reductions in those stocks. These are the net present values of projected annual flows of ecosystem service value over time, taking into account sustainability of flows as far as possible. The value of the ecosystem assets was estimated to be UGX 387.6 trillion in 1990 and UGX 682.9 trillion in 2015 (both in constant 2017 UGX; Table I). Some UGX 71.6 trillion was lost as a result of decreases in the areas of forest, woodland, wetland and open water. This was offset by the increases in demand for services, resulting in an overall increase in the value of ecosystem services. In other words, ecosystems are becoming more and more valuable to people. However, the overall asset value of ecosystems per capita declined by 17.7%, which means

that ecosystems are not being adequately managed to keep pace with the demands on them, or natural capital is not managed sustainably.





Policy implications

The findings suggest that ecosystems have been pushed close to or beyond their tipping points, and will not be able to provide ecosystems each additional Ugandan with the same, or more, services. Uganda needs to ensure that standards of living are increased without further degrading and depleting its natural assets. This will require substantial investments in restoration and increased protection of natural capital, as well as investments in education and measures to reduce population growth.

Next steps

The Ecosystem Accounts were compiled over a period of 6 months, from engaging with government on data for the accounts, inspection of the existing data and accounts, to spatial modelling, and compilation of complex accounting tables down to the resolution of 146 districts and cities. As such, the study had to be limited in scope to achieve this. While significant progress was made in extending the previous work, there is still more to be done to complete these, and there are aspects that deserve further consideration, some of which have little precedent globally. Coverage should be extended to include services such as pollination, flood attenuation, and local recreation/other experiential use of ecosystems, as well as urban air temperature regulation and air quality regulation. Another important service to be considered is the contribution of the country's tropical high forests to regional climate regulation (particularly rainfall).

In addition, these accounts are already seven years out of date. It will be important to begin in earnest to bring them closer to the present. This is now possible with the recent completion of the Uganda Land Cover for 2021. The latest land cover data are at much higher resolution (10m) than the previous series (30m), due to the launch of new satellites in 2015. This will also allow for the incorporation of new datasets, such as the recent national livestock census.

Future work should also focus on the empirical estimation of ecosystem condition and its incorporation into the ecosystem accounts. This will allow for refined estimates of ecosystem services flows as well as asset values.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Introduction

Ecosystem accounting (EA) involves accounting for ecosystem extent and condition, flows of ecosystem services (both physical and monetary), and the resultant asset value of ecosystems, in a way that is compatible with the international System of National Accounting (SNA). They help policy-makers to ensure that the benefits which are derived from ecosystems are included in their decisions.

Although Uganda is known for supporting extraordinary biodiversity, very little intact natural vegetation or wildlife now remains outside of protected areas, its lakes, rivers and wetlands are increasingly degraded, and soil fertility is declining. Its rapid population growth poses further challenges for meeting sustainable development goals.

These accounts summarise the physical and monetary value flows of ecosystem services and the ecosystem asset values for each of 10 major ecosystem types, including farmland and urban green spaces, for the period 1990 to 2015. Values are summarised at national scale, for each of the country's eight major river basins, and for each of its 146 local administrative units (135 districts and 11 cities). The accounts are in the form of a spreadsheet. This report presents the context, methods and spatial results, but only replicates the accounting tables for ecosystems at national scale.

Ecological and socio-economic context

Uganda covers an area of 241 550 km², with waterbodies making up 17% of this area. It ranges in altitude from 621 m to 5109 m and is characterised by the presence of many lakes, including parts of the great lakes, including Lake Victoria. Eight major river basins are recognised, all but one being part of the larger White Nile Basin. The country has a tropical climate with seasonal rainfall and a large rainfall gradient, with arid areas in northeast of the country. The area was originally dominated by dry *Combretum* wooded grassland (21% of land area) and Lake Victoria rainforest (20% of land area), interspersed with evergreen bushland and wooded grasslands, which supported an exceptional degree of terrestrial biodiversity, ranking in the top ten countries in the world. People have now cleared most of this for agriculture and settlements, and very little intact natural vegetation or wildlife remains outside of protected areas. Natural forest, which once covered 54% of the country, was reduced to 24% by 1990 and 8% by 2015. Soils in the agricultural areas are reportedly declining in fertility. Similarly, the lakes, rivers and wetlands once supported over 600 fish species and a host of other biodiversity. Unfortunately, excessive nutrient runoff from cities and agricultural areas, introduction of alien invasive species, loss of fringing wetland nursery areas and overfishing have undermined productivity and led to hundreds of extinctions of species found nowhere else.

Uganda has acknowledged the risk of overexploitation of their resources and incorporated environmental sustainability and sustainable development into their national policies and long-term strategies. Nevertheless, the country's focus tends to be on developing productive primary sectors such as mining, agriculture and plantation forestry and does not emphasise the need to secure biodiversity and ecosystem services.

Uganda's population grew from 13 million in 1980 to 17 million in 1991 and 35 million in 2014. The population is mostly rural (76%) and many are poor (42%). Malnutrition has increased over the past two decades. Most employment is in agriculture, and more than 60% of land is under communal tenure. Water security is relatively high, with most water supply from lakes, plus over 200 (mainly small) dams as well as use of groundwater throughout the country. However, only 28% of the

population has access to electricity, and some 88% of energy consumption is from biomass fuels (mainly wood). While the 22 UWA national parks and wildlife reserves are largely intact, many of the over 600 locally-managed forest reserves have been partially or completely deforested.

Methodological framework

Ecosystems and ecosystem services

An ecosystem is a community of organisms interacting with one another in their non-living environment. Ecosystems can be delineated based on a higher level of biological interaction within them than between them and adjacent systems, and can be recognised at different spatial scales, the broadest of which are biomes. In the SEEA EA (UN et al.,2021), ecosystems include not only natural types, such as wetlands and grasslands, but also man-made ecosystems such as agricultural fields, reservoirs and urban parklands. For these accounts, ten ecosystem types were delineated on the basis of the land cover data: open water, wetland, grassland, bushland, woodland, natural forest, plantation forest, farmland, built-up area and bare. These were based on the I3 land cover classes, but combining classes that reflected a difference in condition for the same broad ecosystem type. For some, shorter names are used in the accounts (i.e. forest, plantation). Although the supply and use of ecosystem services was summarised at the level of the I0 broad ecosystem types, it should be noted that both the detailed land cover data and the national vegetation map were used in estimating spatial variation in ecosystem capacity to deliver certain services, where relevant.

Ecosystem services considered included harvested wild resources and ecosystem inputs to cultivated crop and reared animal production (provisioning services), the characteristics or attributes of ecosystems that are valued for various experiential uses, such as recreation and tourism (cultural services) and the ecological functions that save costs in the provision of conventional economic goods and services, such as water purification (regulating services). A slightly modified version of the SEEA EA's (2021) full reference list is provided below with slight modification (cultural services are groups as "experiential services"). Services included in these accounts are highlighted in bold. Note that the list is not exhaustive, and is not yet well tested in natural capital accounting, and is thus expected to be refined over time.

PROVISIONING SERVICES

- Biomass provisioning services
 - Crop
 - Grazed biomass/Livestock
 - Aquaculture
 - o Wood
 - Wild fish and other natural aquatic biomass
 - Wild animals, plants and other biomass
- Genetic material services
- Water supply
- Other provisioning services

REGULATING SERVICES

- Global climate regulation
- Rainfall pattern regulation (at subcontinental scale)
- Local climate regulation
- Air filtration
- Soil quality regulation

- Soil and sediment retention
- Solid waste remediation
- Water purification
 - Retention and breakdown of nutrients
 - Retention and breakdown of other pollutants
- Water flow regulation
 - Base flow maintenance
 Peak flow mitigation
- Flood control
- Storm mitigation
- Noise attenuation
- Pollination
- Biological control
 - Pest control
 - Disease control
- Nursery population and habitat maintenance
- CULTURAL SERVICES
 - Experiential-related services

Monetary values of ecosystem service flows are expressed in terms of "exchange values", which is the amount that is paid by the users of ecosystem services to the owners of those services, or that would be paid if a market existed. In some cases, the benefit to which the environmental input contributes is accounted for in the SNA (e.g. tourism), but in others it is not (e.g. recreation in open access green space areas). In the former case, the value is equivalent of an intermediate expenditure incurred in the production of an SNA product and does not alter GDP. In the latter, it is the equivalent of a final expenditure for a benefit that is outside of the SNA production boundary and is additional to measured GDP. For ecosystem services that are consumed purposely (provisioning and cultural services), the benefits are valued in terms of the residual value (or resource rent) after all human inputs are accounted for. Services that are consumed inadvertently (regulating services) are valued in terms of avoided costs (costs that would be incurred if the service was lost).

The asset value of ecosystems was calculated as the summed net present value (NPV) of expected future flows of all ecosystem services that are generated by a particular ecosystem asset over 100 years, using a social discount rate of 4.04%. For harvested resources, this took sustainability of use into account. All values are expressed in constant 2017 prices in Ugandan shillings (UGX).

The basic spatial unit for mapping was a grid cell of 100x100 m. Ecosystem service flows and asset values were summarised for each ecosystem accounting area (EAA). Ecosystem accounts were compiled for the following EAAs:

- National (I EAA);
- Drainage basins (9 EAAs 8 major basins plus the remaining areas); and
- Districts (including cities) (146 EAAs).

Ecosystem services and benefits

Crop provisioning services

Crop provisioning services are the ecosystem contributions to the growth of cultivated plants. Because the ecosystem contribution is difficult to quantify in a single physical measure, the tonnage of crops produced is used as the physical measure. The service is valued in terms of resource rent.

Most crop production data are at national scale, apart from 2018 data by agricultural region and the 2008/9 census which summarises production at district level. The finer-scale datasets exclude coffee, tea, sugar, tobacco and cotton. Production of each crop was estimated per district using a combination of national time series data, regional or district-level data, and supplementary information on where crops are grown for those which had never been reported at district scale. Crops were mapped to farmland using the underlying land cover information on commercial versus small scale farmland as appropriate. In the case of sugar, tea, coffee, tobacco, and cotton, all use of the ecosystem service was accrued to industry. For the remaining 15 crops considered, the proportion allocated to households and industry was based on information in the Land and Soil Improvement Accounts.

Crop prices were taken from the Land and Soil Improvement Accounts for 2009 and 2018 (NEMA, 2021a), converted to constant UGX 2017 and extrapolated to 1990 and 2015. Data from the 2008 Agricultural Census was used to estimate input costs in the calculation of resource rent.

The extent of farmland increased from 35% of national area in 1990 to 44% in 2015. While only part of this is planted (estimated 80% in 2015), the values expressed per unit area pertain to the whole area. During the accounting period, there was a notable increase in the production of tobacco, tea

and sugar. Maize and rice production also increased markedly, by over 5-fold. Overall, the value of the service increased from UGX 4240 billion in 1990 to UGX 7829 billion in 2015.

Grazed biomass/Livestock provisioning services

Livestock provisioning services are the ecosystem contributions to the reared animal production. Only ruminant livestock are generally considered for this service. As for crops, the reduction of a complex set of services (fodder, shade, water etc) to a single physical measure is difficult, and a proxy measure is also difficult, given that livestock products are varied (e.g. milk, meat, hides) and difficult to reduce to a single measure such as tonnes. In this study, the stocks of animals supported are estimated and mapped for information purposes, but for accounting purposes, the service flow was quantified in physical terms as tonnes of biomass consumed by livestock per year, although noting that this is not the only aspect of the service. The monetary value is estimated as the resource rent of livestock production and does encapsulate all of the ecosystem inputs, including fodder, water, shade, etc.

Grazed biomass per hectare was highest in the northeast of the country and also high in some wetter parts of the country, such as around Mount Elgon and Rwenzori. The total value was estimated to be UGX 2866 billion in 1990 and UGX 5743 billion in 2015.

Wood provisioning services

Wood provisioning services are the ecosystem contributions to the growth of woody biomass harvested from natural and cultivated (plantation) areas for various uses including timber and energy. The wood provisioning service used was quantified in physical terms as the amount of wood harvested for timber, poles, firewood and charcoal by households or businesses, inclusive of any discarded biomass. The service was valued in terms of the resource rent. All monetary values were calculated using basic prices, as stipulated in the SNA, and thus do not include any transport costs or margins added by wholesalers or retailers.

Commercial use of wood was obtained from national statistics and mapped to the landscape in proportion to estimated available stocks of wood suitable for these purposes. Household use of wood was estimated based on spatial estimates of household demand mapped to 100m resolution, and the suitable, available stocks within walking range. The projection of future flows of this service (for asset value calculation) were adjusted based on level of estimated use in relation to the estimated sustainable yield.

Wood harvested for commercial timber production increased dramatically from 0.3 million tonnes in 1990 to 2.5 million tonnes in 2015. Over the same period, the available standing stock in land cover types suitable for timber harvesting declined by 74% due to significant conversion of forest and woodland, and to a lesser extent the formal gazettement of additional protected areas in the forested regions of Uganda. The commercial harvest of poles increased significantly from 108 000 t in 1990 to 439 000 t in 2015, while harvesting of poles by rural households was estimated to increase from 614 000 t in 1990 to 842 000 t in 2015. The harvest of wood for charcoal production increased fivefold between 1990 and 2015, but wood stocks available for charcoal harvesting declined by 55%. Firewood use by households was estimated to consume around 10 million tonnes of woody biomass in 1990, increasing to 17 million tonnes in 2015. An additional 1.8 million tonnes of woody biomass were harvested for commercial firewoood sales in 1990, increasing to 6.0 million tonnes in 2015. Overall wood harvesting was highest in North Buganda subregion (north of Kampala), where harvesting as a proprotion of available stocks was estimated to be very high. This region includes several of the districts which make the greatest contribution to Kampala's charcaol supply.

Wild fish and other natural aquatic biomass provisioning services

Wild fish provisioning services are the ecosystem contributions to the growth of these organisms that are captured in uncultivated production contexts. Fish catch data were extracted from Uganda's 2001 to 2018 Fishery Accounts. Fish prices were calculated from the physical and monetary supply and use tables in the Fishery Accounts. Sustainability adjustments were made based on the total additions to fish stock and total yield reported in the Fishery Accounts.

Wild animals, plants and other biomass provisioning services

This service is the ecosystem contributions to the growth of wild animals, plants and other biomass captured and harvested in uncultivated production contexts. This account focuses on use by households who harvest wild plant and animal resources (other than wood and fish) for own consumption or informal trade and does not include sport hunting or bioprospecting. The use is quantified based on spatial estimates of the availability of resources across the landscape, coupled with spatial estimates of the aggregate household demand for resources. All of the harvestable resources were considered fully available outside of protected areas. The assumed availability was reduced to 10% of standing stocks in national parks, 20% in other UWA protected area categories (game reserves and wildlife sanctuaries) and 50% in forest reserves. Separate estimates are made for use of wild medicines, wild fruits and vegetables, mushrooms, wild honey, bushmeat, thatch, reeds and sedges and bamboo. The supply of these harvested resources is a final ecosystem service and is valued as the equivalent market value of the harvest, less the costs of harvesting. In order to adjust for sustainability in the asset value calculation, the sustainable yield of bush meat and thatching grass was estimated to be 30% of stocks.

The service was estimated to be worth some UGX 147 393 million in 1990 and UGX 414 934 million in 2015 (in constant 2017 UGX. The increase in value of constant 2017 UGX 267 541 million over the 25-year period suggests an annual rate of increase of 4% per year from 1990 to 2015. Wild plant foods were found to be the most valuable resource harvested across the country followed by wild medicines and bushmeat. While wild plant foods were the most valuable, the increase in the value of these resources was lower than for thatching grass, reeds and sedges, and mushrooms, suggesting that these resources have become more valuable over time. This is as a result of increased numbers of people demanding these resources, as well as their increasing scarcity, which leads to real increases in price.

Water provisioning services

Water is included as a provisioning service as per the SEEA EA. The amount of water supplied from open water ecosystems (rivers, reservoirs and lakes) was quantified based on data in the Water Accounts (2015-2018), census and land cover data. Surface water abstraction was estimated to be 140 Mm³ in 1990 and 561Mm³ in 2015, worth UGX 84.5 billion and UGX 338 billion, respectively.

Global climate regulation: Carbon retention

Global climate regulation services are ecosystem contributions to reducing concentrations of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere through the removal (sequestration) from the atmosphere and retention (storage) of carbon in biomass and soils. Given the declining status of ecosystems in Uganda, this account focuses on the retention aspect. Carbon retention is valued in terms of the global social cost of carbon (i.e. avoided climate change damage costs), based on the modest estimates of Nordhaus (2017) and converted to an annual flow.

This account draws on the physical carbon accounts that were compiled for 1990 - 2015, while adding additional spatial detail to the carbon stock estimates based on changes in land cover, the biomass data collected in the Ugandan National Biomass Surveys and other improved data sources.

The initial results indicated a slight decline in total carbon retention between 1990 and 2015, despite significant losses of high biomass woody ecosystems. However, this was driven by an implausible 51% increase in wetland area between 1990 and 2015, driven by an apparent change in how wetlands were mapped in the land cover data after 1990. Given that wetlands have high carbon biomass, this discrepancy had a disproportionately large effect on carbon retention estimates. Thus, an adjustment was made to the 1990 land cover, by imposing the 2015 wetland extent over the 1990 land cover. Given that wetland extent is widely reported to have declined over time in Uganda, this approach still likely underestimates the area of wetland in 1990. The resulting carbon storage estimate for 1990 can thus be considered conservative.

Following the above adjustment, total carbon retention in Uganda decreased slightly from 2171 Megatonnes (Mt) in 1990 to 1943 Mt in 2015. The value of carbon retention is estimated to have increased from UGX 4.8 trillion in 1990 to 9.1 trillion in 2015 (constant 2017 UGX). This increase is largely as a result of the real increase in value of carbon over time. This value is recorded as accruing to government.

Soil and sediment retention services: Soil erosion control

Soil erosion control services are "the ecosystem contributions, particularly the stabilising effects of vegetation, that reduce the loss of soil (and sediment) and support use of the environment (e.g. agricultural activity, water supply). The benefits of this service include reduced impacts on reservoir storage capacity, water transport areas, urban drainage systems, water treatment costs and hydropower maintenance costs. In this account, sediment retention services are measured in terms of the avoided export of sediment to rivers and lakes relative to a no-service scenario, measured in cubic metres of sediment. The service is valued in terms of the avoided costs of constructing measures to prevent damaging sediments from reaching waterbodies where the service would be demanded.

Sediment outputs were modelled using the InVEST Sediment Delivery Ratio (SDR) model, which estimates potential annual soil loss using the Universal Soil Loss Equation (USLE), using inputs on topography, rainfall erosivity, soil erodibility and land cover, together with a factor that estimates how much of this sediment reaches a watercourse. The amount retained was estimated as the difference between sediment exports under the 1990 and 2015 land cover, and that of a bare landscape scenario. The actual use of the service is only where it saves on potential damage costs. This could be widespread but was conservatively limited to the catchment areas of natural and man-made waterbodies whose value would be impacted by a loss of storage capacity. This excluded the larger lakes (Victoria, Albert and Edward).

It was estimated that mean sediment export across Uganda increased from 10.0 t/ha/year in 1990 to 11.8 t/ha/year in 2015, reflecting the expansion of agriculture at the expense of less erosion-prone natural land cover classes. Conversely, the amount of sediment retained relative to a bare landscape declined from 201.6 t/ha/year in 1990 to 198.6 t/h/year in 2015. In other words, sediment export would have been around 20.1 times higher in 1990 and 16.8 times higher in 2015, in the total absence of vegetation cover.

Within dam and selected lake catchment areas specifically, it was estimated that the presence of vegetation reduced sediment export by some 929 million tonnes in 1990 and 1094 million tonnes in 2015. The increase in avoided sediment export from 1990 to 2015 reflects the expansion of dams in Uganda, resulting in a 10.6% increase in the area over which the sediment retention service was estimated to be demanded. Interestingly, the average amount of sediment retained by vegetation within dam and lake catchments also increased from 180.6 t/ha in 1990 to 192.2 t/ha in 2015, even though average sediment retention across Uganda overall decreased with the conversion of natural habitats to cultivation. This increase in sediment retention/ha can be explained by the construction of dams

between 1990 and 2015 in areas with high erosion potential (e.g. western Uganda), resulting in high sediment retention values in these new dam catchment areas.

The value of sediment retention was estimated to be UGX 4.21 billion in 1990 and UGX 4.96 billion in 2015 (constant 2017 UGX). The increase in the value of the service is largely due to the higher number of dams in 2015, which increased the area over which the sediment retention service was demanded.

Water quality regulation services: Nutrient retention

Water purification services are the ecosystem contributions to the restoration and maintenance of the chemical condition of surface water and groundwater bodies through the breakdown or removal of nutrients and other pollutants by ecosystem components. As a final service to raw water users, it can be measured in terms of the quantity of anthropogenically introduced pollutants removed, and is valued in terms of avoided costs, such as costs to human health or increased water treatment costs. It can also be valued as an intermediate service to the supply of other ecosystem services (e.g. fish) from downstream aquatic ecosystems. In these accounts, we estimate the final ecosystem service value of nutrient removal to raw water users. This is valued in terms of the avoided replacement costs in the form of artificial treatment wetlands.

The water quality amelioration service was estimated using the InVEST Nutrient Delivery Ratio (NDR) model. This combines measures of nutrient input across the landscape, retention capacities for the various land cover classes and the characteristics of downslope pathways to determine the mass of nutrients that is eventually exported into watercourses. In addition to the basic inputs for the seasonal water yield model, the model also required inputs on the nutrient (phosphorous) additions to each pixel in kg/ha/year. The total phosphorus retained by the natural landscape was calculated as the difference between the load of phosphorus that was exported from each cropland and urban pixel, and the load that was eventually exported to a watercourse.

It was assumed that demand for the service is limited to the catchment areas of lakes and dams. High nutrient retention is associated with natural habitats situated in areas otherwise dominated by cultivation with high levels of fertiliser use, such as natural habitats fringing Lake Victoria and wetlands in the western part of the Lake Kyoga system. Nutrient retention by these ecosystems has a direct impact on reducing nutrient pollution of these key surface water sources.

The total amount of phosphorous removed by natural ecosystem in dam and lake catchment areas increased slightly from 3.37 million tonnes in 1990 to 3.50 million tonnes in 2015. Even though the extent of natural ecosystems declined over this period, this was outweighed by the increase in the amount of phosphorous removed per hectare of remaining natural area, since the expansion of cultivated and built-up areas significantly increased the overall export of phosphorous in 2015. The service was estimated to be worth UGX 201 billion in 1990 and UGX 209 billion in 2015. Wetlands accounted for the highest share of this value in 2015. Their lower share in 1990 is likely an artefact of the fact that wetlands were underrepresented in the 1990 land cover.

Water flow regulation services

Flow regulation services are defined here as the ecosystem contributions to the regulation of the timing of surface, subsurface and groundwater flows into rivers and lakes through mediating the infiltration of rainwater, affecting the seasonal variation in flows and water levels, and hence the accessibility of water to users. The service is usually best quantified in physical terms as the amount of rainfall infiltrating into the ground. It is typically valued in terms of the cost savings in obtaining water

for use, such as reduced infrastructure costs and/or reducing the necessity to purchase water during the dry season, relative to a scenario without this service. This is a final ecosystem service to water service providers and water users that obtain their water directly from ecosystems.

The landscape capacity to regulate annual groundwater recharge was mapped using the InVEST Seasonal Water Yield (SWY) model, which takes land cover into account. To estimate the ecosystem contribution to enhancing groundwater recharge, groundwater recharge was modelled for a bare land scenario. The difference in groundwater recharge between the bare ground scenario relative to under 1990 and 2015 land cover, was then used to value the contribution of ecosystems to enhancing groundwater recharge in the two accounting years. Only the ecosystem contribution to demanded groundwater recharge was valued, based on the groundwater abstraction estimates provided in the Water Accounts. The final service flow mapped in physical terms was the thus the ecosystem contribution to demanded groundwater recharge. This was valued using a replacement cost, based on the cost of construction dams to store an equivalent amount of water to the additional recharge facilitated by ecosystems.

Total groundwater use was estimated to have increased by 2.6 times between 1990 and 2015, with households the major user of groundwater. Overall, total groundwater abstraction from the selected sectors was estimated to be 0.3% of total modelled annual recharge in 1990. This increased to 0.8% of annual recharge in 2015, reflecting the increase in groundwater abstraction and the overall decline in annual recharge resulting from land cover changes.

The ecosystem contribution to the regulation of abstracted groundwater flows was estimated to be 5.87 Mm³ in 1990, increasing to 12.05 Mm³ in 2015. The water flow regulation replacement cost was valued at UGX5668 million (constant 2017 UGX) in 1990 and at UGX11 632 million (constant 2017 UGX) in 2015. This does not include cost savings users of raw surface water, although these are expected to be relatively modest given that most surface water is drawn from large lakes (for which the service is not demanded). The highest values are associated with some of the wettest parts of the country, including the forested slopes of Mount Rwenzori and Mount Elgon as well as grassland areas higher up on these mountains. Even though forests have high evapotranspiration rates, the large reduction in runoff losses relative to bare ground is enough to compensate for this, resulting in highly positive groundwater recharge values relative to bare ground.

Experiential services: Tourism value

Ecosystems offer the opportunity for a range of experiential services that are often enjoyed simultaneously, such as recreation, education and spiritual fulfilment. The ecosystem service is the ecosystem contribution to these benefits, that are obtained through joint use of ecosystem and human inputs and is a final ecosystem service. They are typically quantified in terms of user days and valued in terms of resource rents, where markets exist, and simulated exchange value where they do not. While experiential services include both local use and tourism, this account is limited to estimating the ecosystem contribution to tourism that is recorded in the SNA. Estimation of this service involved estimating the total resource rent of attraction-based tourism expenditure from national statistics, and then disaggregating the value in proportion to the spatial pattern of geotagged photographs uploaded to the internet and their content. This involved the initial step of estimating tourist expenditure in 1990 and 2015 for Uganda as a whole, as well as the visitor numbers and expenditures in national parks in those years.

The total value of the ecosystem contribution to tourism was estimated to have grown from UGX 3 530 million in 1990 to UGX 215 923 million in 2015. In 2015, natural ecosystems made up 69% of this value. The tourism value of rural agricultural land was estimated to be UGX 48 894 million, and

urban greenspace areas were worth UGX 16 842 million in 2015, representing 23% and 8% of the total value, respectively. Among natural ecosystem types, grasslands had the highest total tourism value in 2015 but forest ecosystems had the highest per hectare value, followed by wetlands and woodlands. Farmland had the lowest per hectare tourism value of any ecosystem.

Total tourism value and the per hectare value was highest in The Lake Edward Basin, which is largely attributed to the fact that Mgahinga Gorilla NP and Bwindi Impenetrable NP are situated in this basin. The Kidepo Basin had the lowest total tourism value because of its size but had a relatively high per hectare value because of the Kidepo Valley NP situated in this basin. The per hectare value was lowest in the Aswa Basin.

Summary of findings

In physical terms, the use of provisioning services increased substantially, ranging from a 25% increase for crops to a 300% increase for water supply (Table II). This can be at least partly attributed to the fact that population doubled over this time period (i.e. increased demand). In comparison, the use of regulating services did not increase much, apart from the water flow regulation service (likely due to supply constraints). The most significant increase was that of the ecosystem contribution to tourism value. This was not expressed in physical terms, but the value increased by 6016% over the 25-year span of the accounts and is attributed to an increase in national and international demand as a result of investments in parks and tourism facilities.

In monetary terms, the value flows of all services increased. All provisioning services at least doubled in value. The percentage increases in value for water, flow regulation, sediment and nutrient retention services were the same as for physical flows, since no real price changes were recorded. The value of carbon retention more than doubled due to the increased price of carbon. Tourism value had by far the highest increase of any ecosystem service. The total monetary value of ecosystem services was 16 783 billion (UGX 2017) in 1990 and 32 057 billion in 2015 (UGX 2017); Uganda's GDP was 25 279 billion in 1990 (UGX 2017) and 101 797 billion (UGX 2017) in 2015. Hence, ecosystem services had a value equivalent to 66% to GDP in 1990 and 31% in 2015.

	Physical			Monetary (UGX billions)			
	1990	2015	% increase	1990	2015	% increase	
Crops (kt/y)	16 269	20 3 1 6	25%	4 240	7 829	85%	
Grazed biomass (kt/y)	9 069	26 760	195%	2 866	5 743	100%	
Wood (kt/y)	15 315	38 760	153%	184	3 272	1683%	
Wild fish (kt/y)	245	455	86%	0.1	0.6	503%	
Other wild resources (kt/y)	352	388	10%	147	415	182%	
Water supply (ML/y)	140 021	560 577	300%	85	338	300%	
Water flow regulation (ML/y)	5 870	12 047	105%	5.7	12	105%	
Sediment retention (million m ³ /y)	929	1 094	18%	4212	4 959	18%	
Nutrient retention (ktP/y)	3 366	3 504	4%	201	209	4%	
Carbon retention (MtC)	2 7	I 943	-11%	4 840	9 064	87%	
Tourism value (UGX millions/y)	3 530	215 923	6016%	3.5	216	6016%	
Total value	-	-	-	16 783	32 057	9 1%	
Equivalent to GDP	-	-	-	66%	31%	-	

Table II. Summary and comparison of the results at national scale for 1990 and 2015

The average monetary value of ecosystem service flows per ecosystem type per ha per year in 1990 and 2015 (expressed in constant 2017 UGX millions) is shown graphically in Figure II. All ecosystem types increased in value from 1990 to 2015, except for "Bare", largely attributable to the increase in numbers of people demanding services from them. The largest monetary value per ha, both in 1990 and 2015 comes from forests and wetlands. The largest percentage increases (per ha) between 1990 and 2015 were recorded in "Open Water", "Plantation", and "Wetland".



Figure II. Average monetary value of ecosystem service flows per ecosystem type per ha per year in 1990 and 2015. Values expressed in constant 2017 UGX millions per ha per year.

The asset account records the monetary value of opening and closing stocks of all ecosystem assets within an ecosystem accounting area and additions and reductions in those stocks and is shown at national scale in Table III. These are the net present values of projected annual flows of ecosystem service value over time, taking into account sustainability of flows as far as possible. The value of the ecosystem assets was estimated to be UGX 387.6 trillion in 1990 and UGX 682.9 trillion in 2015 (both in constant 2017 UGX; Table II). Some UGX 94.3 trillion was lost as a result of the degradation and loss of ecosystem areas, with the greatest losses being in woodland and forest. The value of losses was offset by the increases in demand for services per unit area, resulting in an overall increase in the use and value of ecosystem services. In other words, ecosystems are becoming more and more valuable to people. However, the overall asset value of ecosystems per capita declined by 17.7%. Per capita asset value decline was particularly strong in woodlands (-66%) and forests (-37%). In spite of the overall increase in area, the per capita asset value of farmland also declined from 1990 and 2015, by 11%. On the contrary, the per capita asset value of plantations and built-up areas increased drastically, reflecting the areas where the country has focused its investments.

Table III. Ecosystem monetary asset account 1990-2015. NPV calculated using an asset lifespan of 100 years and a discount rate of 4.04%. All values expressed in constant 2017 UGX billions apart from per capita value in UGX millions.

	Open water	Wetland	Grassland	Bushland	Woodland	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	Built-up	Bare	Total
Opening stock (1990)	2 064	20 403	66 270	21 544	43 297	41 580	656	191 623	140	3	387 580
Change in ecosystem condition											
Enhancement											
Degradation			-16 580	-919	-935	-113	-40	-3 829	-22	-2	-22 440
Change in ecosystem extent (ed	cosystems conversion	ons)									
Additions			315	8218			3 428	61 184	718	I	73 864
Reductions	-7	-5 298			-45 211	-21 373					-71 890
Other changes in volume of ecc	osystem assets										
Catastrophic losses											
Reappraisals	6 652	21 904	42 186	13 577	23 725	16 055	962	53 777	242	2	179 083
Revaluation	-2	26 4	8 2	3 768	10 942	19 767	3 073	60 897	339	-2	116 441
Net change in value	6 642	42 720	37 733	24 644	-11 479	14 336	7 423	172 030	I 277	0	275 058
Closing stock (2015)	8 706	63 123	104 002	46 188	31 818	55 916	8 079	363 653	4 7	3	682 905
Closing stock (2015) per capita (in million)	244	I 769	2 915	I 295	892	567	226	10 194	40	0	19 143
Net change %	322	209	57	114	-27	34	32	90	910	-6	76
Net change % per capita	97	45	-27	0.2	-66	-37	476	-11	372	-56	-18

Policy implications

The findings suggest that most types of ecosystems are not being adequately managed to keep pace with the demands on them and will not be able to provide ecosystems each additional Ugandan with the same, or more, services. Uganda needs to ensure that standards of living are increased without further degrading and depleting its natural assets. This will require substantial investments in restoration and increased protection of natural capital, investments into improving the productivity of existing farmland, and investments in education and other measures to reduce the rate of population growth.

Next steps

The Ecosystem Accounts were compiled over a period of 8 months, from engaging with government on data for the accounts, inspection of the existing data and accounts, to spatial modelling, and compilation of complex accounting tables down to the resolution of 146 districts and cities. As such, the study had to be limited in scope to achieve this. While significant progress was made in extending the previous work, there is still more to be done to complete these, and there are aspects that deserve further consideration, some of which have little precedent globally. Coverage should be extended to include services such as pollination, flood attenuation, and local recreation/other experiential use of ecosystems, as well as urban air temperature regulation and air quality regulation. Another important service to be considered is the contribution of the country's tropical high forests to regional climate regulation (particularly rainfall).

In addition, these accounts are already seven years out of date. It will be important to begin in earnest to bring them closer to the present. This is now possible with the recent completion of the Uganda Land Cover for 2021. The latest land cover data are at much higher resolution (10m) than the previous series (30m), due to the launch of new satellites in 2015. This will also allow for the incorporation of new datasets, such as the recent national livestock census.

Future work should also focus on the empirical estimation of ecosystem condition and its incorporation into the ecosystem accounts. This will allow for refined estimates of ecosystem services flows as well as asset values.

ABBREVIATIONS & ACRONYMS

AfSIS	Africa Soil Information Service
ASCC	Annualised social cost of carbon
AMC	Antecedent moisture conditions
BSU	Basic spatial unit
CBD	Convention on Biological Diversity
	Carbon dioxide
	Community wildlife management areas
	Community wildlife management alleas
	Bross domestic product
FUD CDO	Cattan Development Operation
CDO	Cotton Development Organisation
CIAT	International Center for Tropical Agriculture
CFR	Central Forest Reserve
CICES	Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services
CN	Curve number
δ	Discount rate
DICE	Dynamic Integrated model of Climate and the Economy
DRC	Democratic Republic of Congo
EA	Ecosystem asset
EAA	Ecosystem accounting area
ECT	Ecosystem condition typology
ES	Ecosystem service
ET	Ecosystem type
ET₀	Reference evapotranspiration
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FAOSTAT	FAO Statistical Databases
FEGS-CS	Final Ecosystem Goods and Services Classification System
FFWS NFT	Eamine Farly Warning System Network
FSSD	Forest Sector Support Department
GIS	Geographic information systems
GOS	Gross operating surplus
Gold	Government of Uganda
	Integrated assessment model
	Integrated assessment moder
	International Design and Engineering Education
	Integrated valuation of Ecosystem Services and Trade-ons
IFCC	Creation of the second se
	Crop evapotranspiration coefficient
	Local forest reserve
MCM	Million cubic metres
Mm	Millimetres
Mt	Megatonne
MSUT	Monetary supply and use table
MIWA	Ministry of Lourism, Wildlife and Antiquities
MWE	Ministry of Water and Environment
NCA	Natural capital accounting
NDC	Nationally-determined contributions
NDP	National Development Plan
NAADS	National Agriculture Advisory Services
NESCS	National Ecosystem Services Classification System (US)
NEMA	National Environmental Management Authority
NFA	National Forestry Authority
NP	National park

NPA	National Planning Authority
NPAEEA	National Plan of Action on Environmental Economic Accounting
NPV	Net present value
NTFP	Non-Timber Forest Product
NWSC	National Water Supply Company
MAAIF	Ministry of Agriculture, Animal Industry and Fisheries
PSUT	Physical Supply and Use Table
PNV	Potential natural vegetation
REDD+	Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation
SCC	Social cost of carbon
SDR	Sediment delivery ratio
SEEA	System of Environmental-Economic Accounting
SEEA-CF	System of Environmental-Economic Accounting - Central Framework
SEEA-EA	System of Environmental-Economic Accounting – Ecosystem Accounting
SNA	System of National Accounts
SWY	Seasonal water yield
t	Tonnes
THF	Tropical High Forest
TLU	Tropical livestock unit
UBOS	Uganda Bureau of Statistics
UGX	Ugandan Shillings
UNRA	Uganda National Roads Authority
UWA	Uganda Wildlife Authority
UN	United Nations
UNECA	United Nations Economic Commission for Africa
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNEP-WCMC	UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)
URA	Uganda Revenue Authority
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
USD	United States dollar
UWA	Uganda Wildlife Authority
WAVES	Wealth Accounting and the Valuation of Ecosystem Services
WWF	Worldwide Fund for Nature
ZARDI	Zonal Agricultural Research and Development Institute

GLOSSARY

Basic spatial unit: a geometrical construct representing a small spatial area (UN et al., 2021; para 3.72).

Biodiversity: the variability among living organisms and the ecological complexes of which they are part. This includes variation within species, the diversity of species within ecosystems and the diversity of ecosystem types in nature (Convention on Biological Diversity; www.cbd.int).

Carbon sequestration: the process of capturing and storing atmospheric carbon dioxide. Natural carbon sequestration processes can be supported through changes in land use and agricultural practices, including forest restoration and the conversion of annual cropping systems and livestock grazing land into agroforestry systems.

Catchment: an area where water is collected by the natural landscape. Precipitation that falls in a catchment runs downhill into creeks, rivers, lakes, oceans, or into built infrastructure, such as reservoirs. In this document, the terms catchment and watershed are used interchangeably.

Discount rate: the interest rate used in discounted cash flow analysis to determine the present value of future cash flows.

Ecological infrastructure: nature's equivalent of grey or engineered infrastructure. It forms and supports a network of interconnected structural elements such as catchments, rivers, riparian areas and natural corridors supporting habitats and movement of animals and plants.

Economic unit: Economic entity engaging in economic activities and in transactions with other entities (SNA, 2008; para 4.2). In ecosystem service accounts economic units are the users/beneficiaries of the ecosystem services. Economic units may be classified by sector (e.g., financial enterprisers, non-financial enterprisers, government, households and not-for-profit institutions supporting households (NPISH), or by industry based on the goods and services produced (e.g., agriculture, mining, manufacturing, health, education, etc.). In these accounts, the economic units are classified as being either industry, government, or households.

Ecosystem accounting area: the geographical territory for which an ecosystem account is compiled (UN et al., 2021; para 2.12).

Ecosystem asset: The primary spatial units for ecosystem accounting. Ecosystem assets (EAs) are contiguous spaces of a specific ecosystem type characterized by a distinct set of biotic and abiotic components and their interactions. The definition of ecosystem assets is a statistical representation of the general definition of ecosystems from the CBD (UN et al., 2021; para 3.5).

Ecosystem condition: the quality of an ecosystem measured in terms of its abiotic and biotic characteristics (UN et al., 2021; para 2.13).

Ecosystem extent: the size of an ecosystem asset (UN et al., 2021; para 2.13).

Ecosystem services: are the contributions of ecosystems to the benefits that are used in economic and other human activity. In this definition, use incorporates direct physical consumption, passive enjoyment and indirect use (UN et al., 2021; para 2.14). Benefits are the goods and services that are ultimately used and enjoyed by people and society (UN et al., 2021; para 2.15).

Ecosystem type: Each ecosystem asset is classified to an ecosystem type. An ecosystem type reflects a distinct set of abiotic and biotic components and their interactions (UN et al., 2021; para 3.6).

Gross operating surplus: Defined in the context of national accounts as the contribution of capital to production (SNA, 2008; para 20.28). It is gross output less the cost of intermediate goods and services to give gross value added, and less compensation of employees and taxes and subsidies on production and imports. It is gross because it makes no allowance for consumption of fixed capital (European Statistical System, ESS).

Land cover: The observed physical and biological cover of the Earth's surface which includes natural vegetation and abiotic (non-living) surfaces.

National Biomass Survey: A two-stage biomass inventory process that combines (i) spatial analysis to determine and stratify land use/land cover and (ii) inventory of biomass resources based on sample plots to quantify the stock of biomass in a country or region. The survey was conducted every five years between 2000 and 2015, moving to every two years thereafter.

Natural capital: the stock of renewable and non-renewable resources (e.g., plants, animals, air, water, soils, minerals) that combine to yield a flow of benefits to people.

Natural capital accounting: the process of measuring the total stocks and flows of natural resources and services in a given ecosystem or region. Accounting for such goods may occur in physical or monetary terms.

Resource rent: Resource rent (also known as economic rent) is defined as a surplus value, i.e., the difference between the price at which a resource, or the output from it, can be sold, and its respective extraction and/or production costs, including normal returns. In ecosystem accounting, the resource rent method estimates a value for an ecosystem service by taking the gross value of the final marketed good to which the ecosystem service provides an input and then deducting the cost of all other inputs, including labour, produced assets and intermediate inputs (UN et al., 2021; para 9.36).

SEEA Central Framework. A multipurpose conceptual framework for understanding the interactions between the economy and the environment. It provides concepts, definitions and classifications to support integrated accounting for physical flows (natural inputs from, and residual flows to, the environment such as water, energy, air emissions and solid waste); environmental transactions and transfers (e.g., environmental taxes, environmental subsidies and environmental protection expenditure); and individual environmental assets (e.g., mineral and energy resources, timber, fish, land, soil and water; UN et al., 2021; para 1.35).

SEEA Ecosystem accounting: A spatially-based, integrated statistical framework for organizing biophysical information about ecosystems, measuring ecosystem services, tracking changes in ecosystem extent and condition, valuing ecosystem services and assets and linking this information to measures of economic and human activity (UN et al., 2021; para 1.3).

Sustainable: managing the use and protection of natural resources in a way (or at a rate) which enables social, economic and cultural well-being while ensuring these resources are sustained for future generations and any adverse effects on the environment are minimised.

System of National Accounts (SNA): The internationally agreed standard set of recommendations on how to compile measures of economic activity in accordance with strict accounting conventions based on economic principles (SNA, 2008; para 1.1). The SNA provides a comprehensive and detailed record of the complex economic activities taking place within an economy and of the interaction between the different economic agents, and groups of agents, that takes place on markets or elsewhere (SNA, 2008; para 1.1).

I.INTRODUCTION

ECOSYSTEM ACCOUNTING

The System of Environmental-Economic Accounting (SEEA; UN, 2014a) provides a framework for accounting for all natural capital assets, including minerals, land, soil, water, energy, carbon, renewable resources (e.g. forestry, fisheries) and ecosystems, based on stocks and physical flows and the monetary values of these. It also involves recording flows of emissions and effluents, and monetary flows such as environmental protection expenditures, taxes and subsidies. The importance of this is that it allows for the development of relevant environmental indicators that can be integrated into the macroeconomic framework of the System of National Accounts - 2008 (EC et al 2009), that produces indicators such as GDP and the integration means that better indications for sustainability can be produced (European Commission, 2019), and for use in tracking progress towards international commitments and targets for sustainable development, biodiversity and addressing climate change.

The initial focus of environmental accounting was on the development of resource accounts, such as minerals and forestry, which are by now well established in many countries. The SEEA Ecosystem Accounting (SEEA-EA) methods have been in development for several years, and the physical accounting was standardized in 2021 (UN et al., 2021). Ecosystem accounting is a major element of natural capital accounting, incorporating some of the elements listed above (e.g. forestry, fisheries), but also broadening this to include the valuation of wider range of ecosystem services and linking these flows to the extent and condition of ecosystems. Ecosystems are accounted for as assets that provide ecosystem services to people (Hein *et al.* 2016). Using accounting principles, these assets (stocks) and ecosystem services (flows) are systematically accounted for in physical and monetary terms, to monitor changes over time.

Ecosystem accounting involves the compilation of five core sets of ecosystem accounts (UN et al., 2021; Figure 1.1). These do not depend on SNA accounts for their compilation and can be considered as satellite accounts of the SNA. The five ecosystem accounts are compiled sequentially, as follows:

- **Ecosystem extent accounts** record and organise data on the spatial extent of different ecosystem types to determine the trends and spatial distribution of ecosystems (termed" ecosystem assets") within an ecosystem accounting area (such as a country or river basin).
- Ecosystem condition accounts record the condition or health of ecosystems based on a set of biophysical indicators, against a reference condition (e.g. characteristics of a natural ecosystem prior to any human influence, or of a cultivated system prior to loss of soil nutrients). This influences the capacity of an ecosystem to supply ecosystem services. The SEEA provides an Ecosystem Condition Typology (ECT) for assessing the condition of abiotic and biotic ecosystem characteristics and landscape level characteristics.
- Ecosystem services flow accounts (in physical terms) record the flow of ecosystem services in physical units (e.g. m³, tonnes) and the use of these services by economic units (e.g. households, government etc.), usually in annual terms. These are captured in Physical Supply and Use Tables (PSUTs). They also allow for the recording of intermediate service

flows between ecosystem assets._1

- **Ecosystem services flow accounts (in monetary terms)** record the above in monetary terms, using a standard currency.
- **Ecosystem monetary asset accounts** record information on stocks and changes in stocks of ecosystem assets, in monetary terms. This involves estimating the present value expected future flows of ecosystem services over the long term. Changes in asset value due to ecosystem enhancement, degradation or conservation are included in this account.



Figure 1.1. The five ecosystem accounts and how they relate to each other. SOURCE: HTTPS://SEEA.UN.ORG.

Along with the five core accounts, ecosystem accounting can also include the compilation of related thematic accounts, such as land (cover, change, ownership etc.), carbon, ocean, nutrients, nature-based tourism, protected areas, water resources, and biodiversity (including species accounts).

Key concepts for the SEEA EA are:

• Ecosystem Accounting Areas (EAA) – the geographical area for which an ecosystem account is compiled (e.g. a district, drainage basin *etc.*). It serves as an accounting boundary around a set of ecosystem assets, such that the sum of the areas of the ecosystem assets is equal to the total area of the EAA.

¹ For SEEA EA there is a need to account for intermediate ecosystem services in order to fully capture the interferences and connections between assets and flows in order to develop appropriate policies for these (UN et al., 2021)

- Ecosystem Assets (EA) are the primary spatial units for ecosystem accounting. They are defined as contiguous areas of a particular ecosystem type characterised by a distinct set of biotic and abiotic components and the interactions among them. This definition serves as a statistical representation of the general definition of ecosystems from the CBD. Ecosystem assets are ultimately the ecological entities about which information is sought, and about which statistics are compiled.
- Basic spatial units (BSU) a geometrical construct which provides a fine-level data framework within which information about a range of characteristics can be incorporated. A typical example would be a grid cell. The BSU can be used in GIS to ensure consistent delineation of ecosystem assets throughout the accounting process.
- Economic units encompass the various institutional types includes in the national accounts, for example businesses, governments and households. Ecosystem services are recorded as flows between ecosystem assets and economic units. These economic units are the final use of a given ecosystem service.

POTENTIAL USEFULNESS FOR UGANDA

Ecosystem accounts help policy-makers to account for the economic value of biodiversity and ecosystem services and ensure that the benefits which are derived from ecosystems are included in their decisions, for example regarding land use planning, poverty reduction and environmental policies. It highlights changes in the environment's contribution to the economy and shows the impact that degrading ecosystems could have on economic growth.

Incorporating ecosystem values into macro-economic models and national decision-making processes helps to better manage progress towards sustainable development, as it creates a link between economy, society and the environment. The ecosystem accounts can be used in combination with traditional macroeconomic indicators to track Uganda's progress towards the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), its Strategic Program for Climate Resilience (SPCR) and Nationally Determined Contribution for climate change mitigation and adaptation under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), and its obligations for biodiversity conservation under the Convention of Biological Diversity's (CBD) Post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework (GBF). In particular, the ecosystem accounts could be used in conjunction with species distribution data to inform the location of additional reserves and contribute to Uganda's pursuit of the 30% by 2030 goals for protected area coverage, under the post-2020 GBF.

ECOSYSTEM ACCOUNTING PROGRESS IN UGANDA

The Government of Uganda has been at the forefront of establishing natural capital accounting (NCA) in Africa. Shortly after the country released its 2017 Uganda Green Growth Development Strategy, Uganda embarked on an NCA programme with the support of the World Bank as well as the United Nations Statistical Division (UNSD) and the UN Environment Programme World Conservation Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC). In collaboration with the World Bank and UNSD, Uganda launched its National Plan for Advancing Environmental-Economic Accounting (NP-AEEA) which acknowledges that economic growth is relying on benefits derived from the environment (GoU, 2019a) and aims to improve decisions relating to sustainable development and green growth.

The implementation of natural capital accounting in Uganda has been supported through the World Bank's Wealth Accounting and the Valuation of Ecosystem Services (WAVES) partnership. WAVES

aims to improve policy- and decision-makers' understanding of how the economy and ecosystems are linked and increase the use of information on natural assets and ecosystem services in national development planning, green growth strategies, and achieving the SDGs. Uganda benefited from the initial implementing countries, including Botswana, Columbia, Costa Rica, Madagascar, and the Philippines, which from the start focused on the use of natural capital accounting in government decision-making, rather than pure account production (WAVES, 2022). A global training and knowledge sharing platform was created to exchange lessons learned across implementing countries. WAVES has been putting a strong emphasis on institutional engagement, capacity building and policy dialogues across implementing countries (WAVES, 2020), encouraging partnerships on national and international levels. The aim is to mainstream the use of natural capital accounting into development and the national accounts.

The initial steps towards ecosystem accounts in Uganda have included integrated accounting for agricultural production, land and soils, wild fish and aquaculture resources, wood resources, water, and biodiversity and tourism accounts. The country has also produced ecosystem extent accounts and physical ecosystem service accounts for a selected set of ecosystem services. These various accounting studies, and the role of the WAVES programme and other capacity-building support, are briefly outlined below.

In 2018, the country received a two-year grant from the World Bank's Wealth Accounting and Valuation of Ecosystem Services (WAVES) programme to develop NCA and perform analysis relating to issues around natural capital. This led to considerable progress in the establishment of natural capital accounts, including land asset accounts (GoU, 2019b) and wood asset and forest resource accounts (GoU, 2020a)s, as well as finalization of the National Plan of Action on Environmental Economic Accounting (NPAEEA) (GoU, 2019a). These initial accounts served as a proof of concept and were aimed at policy- and decision-makers to include in future plans, such as in the National Development Plan (NDPIII).

The United Nations Statistics Division (UNSD) has also supported UBOS in establishing water accounts for 2015 to 2018 (UBOS, 2019). Water accounts were prioritised as water resources had experienced increasing pressures from agricultural, industrial and urban users. Agricultural production is mostly rain fed and the electricity sector relies largely on hydro-power generation, hence environmental changes need to be considered in economic management, particularly in industries which are strongly reliant on ecosystems. Additionally, UNEP-WCMC and other donors have supported the development of several sets of accounts in Uganda, including fishery resource accounts (NEMA, 2021b), biodiversity and tourism accounts (NEMA, 2021c) and land and soil improvement accounts (NEMA, 2021a).

The above studies fall within the NCA framework and can provide useful input information for the production of ecosystem accounts. Ecosystem accounting per se has been limited to two reports in Uganda, namely the 2017 Experimental ecosystem accounts (UNEP-WCMC & IDEEA, 2017) and the 2020 "Towards Ecosystem Accounting for Uganda" report (GoU, 2020b). The 2017 study includes ecosystem extent accounts and selected biodiversity accounts, including proxy species accounts (based on habitat extent) for key wildlife and non-timber forest product (NTFP) species. The 2020 ecosystem service accounting study (GoU, 2020b) was produced under the WAVES programme and serves as a benchmarking report that shows the progress on developing Experimental Ecosystem Accounts for forest and wetland ecosystems. It also describes the results of the first iteration for experimental ecosystem service accounts in Uganda using the Integrated Valuation of Ecosystem Services and Tradeoffs (InVEST) suite of models.

Uganda is now moving to the stage of ecosystem accounts implementation, with more comprehensive accounts designed to inform ongoing policy processes, such as their Nationally-determined contributions (NDC) under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), and their Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (REDD+) programme. In particular, it will support the component in the investment project "Investing in Forests and Protected Areas for Climate-Smart Development" that aims at increasing revenues and jobs from protected areas through targeted investments in tourism and productive forestry, as well as restoration of degraded natural forests and habitats in forest reserves. The lending project will focus on improving the management of forests, increasing revenues for sustaining forests and supporting resilient livelihoods.

This study builds on the following:

- 2017 Experimental ecosystem accounts, which summarise land cover, vegetation type diversity and representation of biomes in the subregions and in protected areas (1990-2015) (UNEP-WCMC & IDEEA, 2017);
- 2019 National land physical asset account, which summarises land cover within 7 forest landscapes, 4 Water Management Zones, 4 agroecological zones, 7 climate zones, 4 protected area types & private land, 4 regions, 11 subregions and 112 districts (1990-2015) (GoU, 2019b);
- 2019 Water accounts, which summarises the supply and use of surface, ground and rain water by 15 economy subsectors in physical quantities, at national scale (2015-2018) (UBOS, 2019);
- 2020 Wood asset and forest resources accounts, which summarise the extent and value of the 5 forest land cover types, and physical and monetary wood supply and use tables, for 4 protected area types & private land, and 4 subregions. (1990-2015) (GoU, 2020a);
- 2020 partial **Ecosystem accounts**, which summarise land cover by 8 drainage basins, wetland areas by 13 land cover types and by 4 protected area types & private land, and also provide accounts in physical terms for carbon storage, water runoff and sediment retention for 8 drainage basins (1990-2015) (GoU, 2020b);
- 2021 **Fisheries accounts**, which provide condition of Lake Victoria (2011-2018) and physical and monetary accounts for wild capture fisheries by 7 lake or river systems and for aquaculture (2001-2018) (NEMA, 2021b);
- 2021 **Biodiversity and tourism accounts**, which provide land cover, visitor numbers and tourism revenues for 12 protected areas (2011-2019) (GoU, 2021a); and
- 2021 Land and soil improvement accounts, which account for ecosystem extent (2005-2015) for 4 agricultural zones; soil nutrient inputs, uptake and losses in croplands, and crop and livestock production in physical and monetary terms (2009-2018) for 4 agricultural zones, as well as biomass and soil organic carbon by 6 amalgamated IPCC landcover classes (1990-2015) (NEMA, 2021a).

SCOPE OF THIS REPORT

The main aim of this study was to build on the above and other relevant work to develop a fuller set of national ecosystem service and asset accounts to complement the ecosystem extent accounts, following SEEA-EA guidelines.

The accounts summarise the physical and monetary value flows of ecosystem services and the ecosystem asset values for each of 10 major ecosystem types. Values are summarised across three levels of EAAs: (1) at national scale, (2) for each of the country's eight major river basins, and (3) for its current (as at 2022) 146 local administrative units (135 districts and 11 cities). The accounts cover the same time period as most of the preceding work (1990-2015).

The ecosystem accounts quantify ecosystem services from all ecosystem types including cultivated and planted areas, urban areas and man-made lakes as well as natural (or semi-natural) terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. Spatial models were developed to quantify and value the supply of ecosystem services from different ecosystem assets across the country. The spatial models were used to highlight the spatial variability in the supply and use of different ecosystem services even within a given ecosystem type. Finally, the ecosystem monetary asset accounts were created to account for changes in the value of ecosystem assets across the accounting periods.

It should be noted that the actual accounts are in the form of a spreadsheet. This report presents the context, methods and spatial results, but only replicates the accounting tables for ecosystems at national scale.

STRUCTURE OF THE REPORT

The document is structured as follows:

Chapter 2 Ecological and socio-economic context provides context by providing a brief overview of the country's topography, geography, environment and socioeconomic characteristics. The main environmental issues in the country are also outlined here.

Chapter 3 Methodological framework provides an overview of the spatial framework and ecosystem service classification framework used in this study, the ecosystem services included in the valuation, the valuation approach and the time frame and accounting framework.

Chapter 4 Ecosystem services and benefits presents an explanation of each of the ecosystem services that are accounted for in this study, followed by a brief description of the methods used for quantification and valuation (readers are referred to appendices for details), and then provides the physical and monetary accounting tables generated for each of the two time periods (1990 and 2015). The chapter also provides summary information on the accounts at District level.

Chapter 5 Summary of the accounts presents the ecosystem supply and use tables and the overall ecosystem asset value account for Uganda, along with a summary and discussion of the overall results and their policy implications.

Chapter 6 Next steps provides some recommendations for the way forward.

2. ECOLOGICAL AND SOCIO-ECONOMIC CONTEXT

THE NATURAL ENVIRONMENT

EXTENT, TOPOGRAPHY AND DRAINAGE

Uganda covers an area of 241 550 km², with waterbodies making up 17% of this area (Figure 2.1). It shares a border with Kenya to the east, the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) to the West, Tanzania to the south, Rwanda to the southwest and South Sudan to the north. The Equator traverses Uganda dividing the country between the northern and southern hemisphere. A large plateau dominates much of Uganda, which has a gradual decrease in elevation from 1500 m in the south to about 900 m in the northeast (Ingham et al., 2022).



Figure 2.1. Topography and drainage of Uganda.

Mountain ranges surround the plateau, with parts of the Albertine Rift, including The Virunga Mountains, Ruwenzori Range and Western Rift Valley, to the west, the Imatong Mountains in the north, and Mounts Elgon, Kadam, Morungole and Moroto in the east. Mount Stanley, in the Ruwenzori Range at the border between Uganda and the DRC, is the highest mountain in Uganda and the third highest in Africa with an elevation of 5109 m. Mount Elgon, a solitary extinct volcano near the Kenyan border, has a peak elevation of 4321 m. Uganda's lowest point is 621 m at Lake Albert.

Virtually all of Uganda falls within the Nile Basin, with the exception of a sliver along the country's north-eastern border which drains into Lake Turkana. Uganda has abundant water resources and many rivers and lakes, with four of the African Great Lakes situated within or across its borders. The largest of these, and second largest inland lake in the world, is Lake Victoria with an area of 69 000 km² (Nsubuga, Namutebi & Nsubuga-Ssenfuma, 2014), located across south-eastern border (Figure 2.2). About 45% of Lake Victoria falls within Uganda, with the remainder shared with Kenya and Tanzania, while the lake's drainage basin also extends into Burundi and Rwanda (MWE, 2014).



Figure 2.2. Major drainage basins, rivers and lakes of Uganda.

Five other major lakes in Uganda include Lakes Edward and George in the southwest, Albert in the west, Kyoga in the centre, and Bisina in the east (Figure 2.2). Both Edward and George are shared with the Democratic Republic of Congo. There are 149 smaller lakes across the country (Nsubuga et *al.*, 2014). These are interconnected by seven major rivers across the country. The Okot River in the east drains the north-eastern highlands southward into Lake Kyoga. The Victoria Nile begins at Lake Victoria and flows northward through Lake Kyoga until draining into Lake Albert. The Kafu River in the west flows eastward and then northward before joining the Victoria Nile. The Albert Nile flows from Lake Albert northward into South Sudan. The northern Pager River drains the northern highlands westward before joining the Achwa River and flowing northward to join the Nile in South Sudan. The channel of the Katonga River, in the south of Uganda, connects Lakes Victoria and George. However, the river typically reaches a wetland that drains back into Lake Victoria.

Although almost all of Uganda falls within the Nile Basin, the country has been divided into eight major subnational basins (Figure 2.2); Lake Victoria, Victoria Nile, Lake Kyoga, Lake Edward, Lake Albert, Aswa, Albert Nile and Kidepo. All, except Kidepo, are a part of the larger White Nile Basin. The Kidepo Basin drains into Kenya's Lake Turkana Basin. Relatively small areas along the northern and eastern border are not within the major basins (the white areas in Figure 2.2). These areas were termed balancing areas in previous natural capital accounts.

For the most part, Uganda is relatively well-endowed with water resources with high precipitation and extensive lake and wetland systems over much of the country. However, some regions are prone to water stress, particularly the semi-arid northeast of the country where most watercourses are seasonal and runoff is low, as well as drier districts in the southwest of Uganda (MWE, 2014; Nsubuga *et al.*, 2014). Conversely, flooding is a widespread issue in some areas, particularly in El Niño years, with Kampala and the Lake Victoria and Kyoga basins being some of the worst affected areas (USAID, 2021). Uganda's water resources are also affected by transboundary issues, most notably pollution and eutrophication of Lake Victoria which is driven by both local activities in Uganda and activities in other countries that fall within the lake's basin (MWE, 2014). Overall, it is estimated that 35% of Uganda's water resources originate in neighbouring countries, highlighting the vulnerability of Uganda to water availability or quality challenges arising in upstream countries (USAID, 2021). The Karmamoja region of northeast Uganda already experienced 12 droughts between 1991 and 2011,

CLIMATE

The majority of Uganda has a tropical climate, with high rainfall and two rainy seasons per year (March to May and September to December). The average total annual precipitation is 1218 mm with 41.9 mm in the driest month (January) and 159.3 mm in the wettest month (April) (Harris *et al.*, 2020). Rainfall patterns vary strongly across the country due to its varying topography and large water bodies. Areas of particularly high rainfall are associated with the Ruwenzori Range, Mount Elgon and Lake Victoria (Figure 2.3). The north-east has a more semi-arid climate and experiences only one rainy season per year and less than 500 mm of rain per year, far less than the rest of the country. This, as well as limited perennial surface water, makes this region vulnerable to water scarcity, which likely will be exasperated by climate change (USAID/SWP 2021).



Figure 2.3. Mean annual precipitation across Uganda. Data source: WorldClim (Fick & Hijmans, 2017).

Overall, Uganda has experienced a statistically significant decline in rainfall over the past 60 years, with more frequent and long-lasting drought in western, northern and north-eastern Uganda (World Bank Group, 2021). Significant uncertainty is associated with future rainfall predictions for Uganda. In general, rainfall is projected to increase in wetter areas in the southern and central Uganda with climate change, while drier areas in the north and northeast are expected to become even more dry and suffer higher risks of drought (USAID, 2021; World Bank Group, 2021). The former change could increase flood risks in already flood-prone regions of Uganda, while drying in the north and northeast will make agriculture and livestock-rearing even more challenging in these drier regions (USAID, 2021). Flooding is already a common occurrence in Uganda and experienced most in the Lake Victoria and Kyoga Basins. These events are more common in El Niño years and likely to intensify with increasing rainfall under climate change (USAID/SWP 2021).

Temperatures are moderate throughout the year with a mean annual temperature of 22.1°C, a mean minimum temperature in the coolest month (July) of 15.8°C and a mean maximum temperature in the warmest month (February) of 30.4°C (Harris *et al.*, 2020). The low-lying areas in the northwest experience the highest mean temperatures. In contrast, the peaks of the Ruwenzori Range and Mount Elgon have mean temperatures below 7°C. Temperatures in this region are predicted to increase by 1.8 to 3.7°C in the upcoming decades due to climate change. Already, a 1.3°C in average temperatures has occurred across Uganda as a whole since the 1960s (World Bank Group, 2021). The significant projected increase in high heat data could have serious negative consequences for human health, livestock and agriculture, particularly in the north of the country where temperatures are already high and future rainfall is expected to decline.



Figure 2.4. Mean annual temperatures across Uganda. Data source: : WorldClim (Fick & Hijmans, 2017)

TERRESTRIAL ECOSYSTEMS & BIODIVERSITY

Before significant human development, the dominant natural vegetation types in Uganda were dry *Combretum* wooded grassland covering about 21% of the land area, spread across the warmer and drier areas, and Lake Victoria rainforest which covered about 20% of the land area with extensive stretches around Lake Victoria and to the south and east of the country (Figure 2.5). However, by the end of the 20th century most of this forest had been cleared for agriculture (Struhsaker, 1987). This area also contained numerous wetlands and swamps lining the vast river network, which too have since been degraded or converted. Evergreen bushland occurred between areas of rainforest and formed a large expanse in the south. The low-lying north was dominated by *Vitellaria paradoxa*² (shea) wooded grasslands (12%), edaphic³ grasslands and wooded grasslands (12%), and moist *Combretum* wooded grasslands (9%). This area also encompassed small sporadic patches of palm wooded grassland. *Acacia-Commiphora* bushland, dotted with patches of dry montane forest, formed a belt in the drier highlands along the north-eastern border. The more southerly mountains were covered by Afromontane rainforest which gave way to ericaceous and alpine vegetation with increasing altitude (Figure 2.5). Bamboo could be found in a few small areas in lowland and montane vegetation across

² The scientific name of the shea tree has changed from Butyrospermum parkii,

³ Caused by soil conditions rather than by fire
Uganda. Increases in population density and agriculture mean very little intact natural vegetation, especially forest, now remains outside of protected areas.



Figure 2.5. Natural vegetation map of Uganda. Data source: (van Breugel et al., 2015)

Due to the variety of topography and habitats, Uganda has an exceptional degree of terrestrial biodiversity, ranking in the top ten most biodiverse countries. Over 50% of the bird species, 39% of the mammal species and 19% of the amphibian species found in Africa occur in Uganda (NEMA 2016). In addition, there are more endemic and globally threatened vertebrates found in the Albertine Rift than any other region in Africa (Plumptre et al., 2007). The remnants of Uganda's montane rainforest are home to 54% of the remaining mountain gorilla population (NEMA, 2016). Other iconic wildlife species include chimpanzee, elephant, lion, cheetah, leopard, buffalo, giraffe and roan antelope to name a few.

The soils in Uganda are relatively fertile. Unfortunately, due to erosion, leaching and biological degradation, soil nutrients levels have been severely depleted affecting their productivity potential.

AQUATIC ECOSYSTEMS & BIODIVERSITY

The remarkable biodiversity of Uganda's terrestrial ecosystems is mirrored by its aquatic biodiversity. The multitude of lakes, rivers and wetlands create diverse, productive habitats. Most rivers, barring the Nile, are slow flowing and swampy. Wetlands are a prominent feature in Uganda. There is substantial seasonal variation in the rates of flow of the perennial rivers and most of the smaller rivers dry up in the dry seasons. Uganda once supported over 600 species of fish, including 292 endemic

species of cichlid in Lake Victoria. Swamps and floodplains provide critical breeding and nursery habitats for many fish species (NEMA, 2016).

Unfortunately, the accumulation of untreated municipal and industrial waste and agricultural run-off into aquatic habitats, such as Lakes Victoria and Kyoga, has resulted in eutrophication, hypoxic zones, and mass fish die offs (USAID/SWP 2021). This, in combination with overharvesting and invasive alien species, has caused the extinction of about 150 species of cichlid, 100 of which were endemic, in Lake Victoria (NEMA, 2016).

Wetlands are being rapidly degraded due to urban expansion and agricultural activities, with more than 40% destroyed since 1994 (USAID/SWP 2021). As a result, important services such as flood attenuation, and water quality amelioration and habitat for biodiversity are being diminished.

POLICY ENVIRONMENT

Uganda has acknowledged the risk of overexploitation of their resources and incorporated environmental sustainability and sustainable development into their national policies and long-term strategies. Several policies, including environmental, water, wildlife and forestry policies, have been reformed to better align with the country's national development objectives and a sustainable future. Uganda is also party to a number of international agreements which aim for sustainable development and environmental protection.

BIODIVERSITY

Uganda is signatory to the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), which means that it has committed to preparing and regularly updating a National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan (NBSAP) to achieve goals and targets including those set out in the Aichi Targets for 2020, and the subsequent Post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework. Note that Aichi Biodiversity Target 2 entailed integrating biodiversity values into national and local development and poverty reduction strategies and planning processes. It also required including biodiversity in national accounting and reporting systems and in economic and spatial planning.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Uganda has committed to the United Nations Framework for the Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and regularly reports on the country's greenhouse gas emissions. Uganda also launched the Strategic Program for Climate Resilience (SPCR) which aims to incorporate climate risks into long-term policy decision-making. The SPCR programme helps Uganda mainstream climate concerns into policies and to achieve their NDCs.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS (SDGS)

In 2015, Uganda adopted the 2030 Development Agenda titled "Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development". The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)require reporting on internationally agreed upon indicators, to improve national development. Currently, around 40 indicators for nine SDGs can use SEEA information. The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development stipulated by the UN in 2015 sets out 17 SDGs with a total of 169 targets. The National Environmental Management Authority (NEMA) releases a State of the Environment report twice a year which informs the SDG reporting. However, better data is needed to improve monitoring progress. Ecosystem

accounting helps to track the progress of achieving the SDG goals as it provides a standardised framework for measuring achievements in terms of biodiversity and sustainability.

Uganda's Green Growth Development Strategy (UGGDS) provides an action plan on how to realise Uganda's Vision 2040 and the National Development Plan. The main aims of the UGGDS are to follow a low-emissions growth path, use resources efficiently, become climate resilient, use natural capital optimally, and improve food security (GoU, 2019a). Implementing the UGGDS requires a supportive institutional, governance and finance environment.

PEOPLE, ECONOMY, LAND TENURE AND ADMINISTRATION

POPULATION

Uganda's population grew from 13 million in 1980 to 17 million in 1991 and had increased to 35 million by 2014 (Figure 2.6). The country's growth rate remains high and was recorded as 3.1% in 2014. Uganda now hosts 1.5 million refugees (UNHCR & GoU, 2022), making it the third-largest refugee population in the world (UNHCR, 2022). These refugees, mostly in the west of the country, place additional demands on national resources.



Figure 2.6. Population of Uganda, 1980-2022 (Source: UBOS)

Kampala, the capital of Uganda, is the most populated city, with a population of 1.5 million people in 2022. This is followed by Nansana (365 000 people) and Kira (317 000 people; UBOS, 2016a). Despite rapid urbanisation, the population remains predominantly rural (76%) and many are poor (41.7%). While there has been an increase in life expectancy in recent years (2008-2018, UNECA 2020), malnutrition increased between 2004-2018. Rapid population growth decreased per capita food production (UNECA 2015). Overall, the density of people is highest in the southeast, around Kampala, Entebbe, Jinja and Mbale, and lowest in the relatively arid northeast (Figure 2.7).



Figure 2.7. Population density map of Uganda, in 2015 (Source: data derived from www.worldpop.org)

ECONOMY AND LIVELIHOODS

Uganda's economy is centred on its natural resources, which include fertile soils, substantial oil reserves, and mineral deposits. The majority of the rural population engage in subsistence agricultural production, with heavy reliance on the harvesting of natural resources. Agriculture is thus the main economic sector, which employs the majority of the work force. The agricultural sector is particularly reliant on the health of ecosystems, as it depends on natural services such as pest control, pollination, and soil fertility maintenance. To meet growing food demands, farmland increased by 20% - from 8 473 262 ha in 1990 to 10 530 465 ha in 2015. Uganda also has a small industrial sector. In general, economic output is constrained by its limited capacity to invest in human capital, technological and infrastructure development as well as governance issues. The country relies on donor support and concessional loans.

WATER AND ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE

As of 2017, it was estimated that 68% of Uganda's population had access to safe water sources (MWE, 2017). The United Nation's Sustainable Development Goal 6 envisions availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all (United Nations, 2005). Creating national ecosystem accounts helps to estimate the value of water-related ecosystems and can inform policies on watershed protection to safeguard future water provisioning services. Groundwater is the major source of water for the rural population (UN, 2017). This is reflected in Figure 2.8, which shows boreholes and wells are spread throughout Uganda, with the highest density of these water supply infrastructure types associated with the country's most densely populated rural areas. As of 2015, MWE data indicated that there are over 200 functional dams in Uganda. However, most of these are small earth dams which do not make a major contribution to national water supply. The highest density of dams is found in the relatively dry region around Mbarara in the southwest of Uganda, while dams are also fairly widespread in the drier northeast of the country (Figure 2.8).



Figure 2.8. Map of dam, hydropower station, borehole and well locations. (Sources: Dam, borehole and well locations from MWE dataset)

Uganda's electricity generation capacity has expanded rapidly in recent years, rising from 317 MW in 2002 to 1182 MW in 2019 (MEMD, 2019). Despite this, only 28% of the population has access to electricity, with electricity accounting for just 2% of primary energy use in Uganda in 2019, with biomass fuels accounting for the vast majority (88%) of energy consumption. According to the Electricity Regulatory Authority (ERA), hydropower accounted for around 82% of Uganda's electricity production in 2020, with the remainder made up by thermal power (8%), cogeneration (5%) and grid-connected solar (5%) (ERA, 2020). The majority of hydropower generation comes from the series of hydroelectric power stations built to harness the outflow of the Nile from Lake Victoria at Jinja. All other hydropower stations in the rest of the country are small, with generation capacities of 18 MW or less. They are generally located in high rainfall regions of Uganda, with a notable cluster of stations downstream of Mount Rwenzori (Figure 2.8). The current generation is estimated to be around 10% of the technically feasible hydropower potential in the country (Aqua Media International, 2021).

LAND TENURE AND ADMINISTRATION

LAND TENURE

According to the National Constitution, land in Uganda belongs to the citizens of Uganda and is vested to them under four land tenure systems, namely: (a) customary; (b) freehold; (c) mailo; and (d) leasehold. Land under customary tenure is a communal land system where people tend not have land titles but do mark out land that they use. This land covers over 60% of the country. Freehold and mailo land involve permanent land titles for which only Ugandan citizens are eligible (mailo land has a peculiar history and is limited to Central Uganda). Leasehold land is land leased by individuals or companies from customary, freehold or mailo owners, with leases limited to 49 - 99 years⁴. The Constitution states that the Government may regulate the use of land (NEMA, 2021a). Unfortunately, there is no map of Uganda's different land tenure systems.

PROTECTED AREAS

According to data from the World Database on Protected Areas, around 16% of Uganda falls within protected areas (UNEP-WCMC & IUCN, 2022). The protected area estate includes 11 national parks and 11 wildlife reserves, four wildlife sanctuaries, five community wildlife management areas (CWMAs). In addition, there are over 600 forest reserves (Figure 2.9). However, many forest reserves have been settled and partially or completely converted to agriculture, thus no longer effectively functioning as protected areas. The wildlife protected area estate is managed by Uganda Wildlife Authority (UWA), the central forest reserves (CFRs) are managed by the National Forestry Authority (NFA) and the local forest reserves (LFRs) by local governments and communities. These protected areas, particularly the national parks, are some of Uganda's key tourism drawcards and account for the bulk of the country's nature-based tourism value.

National parks are largely managed as no-take protected areas. However, there are provisions for limited legal access to state protected areas for natural resource harvesting purposes. Under these arrangements, the UWA allows communities limited access to parks to collect resources such as thatching grass, medicinal plants, and honey (Tolbert *et al.*, 2019). Harvesters are only granted permission following registration and authorization, and the quantities and types of resources permitted for harvesting are limited to avoid negative environmental impacts. Detailed ecosystem

⁴ www.ecolandproperty.com

accounts on district level can help with determining changes in ecosystem extent and determine levels of sustainable use.



Figure 2.9. The conservation areas of Uganda, classified as National Parks, Forest Reserves, Wildlife Reserves, Wildlife Sanctuaries, and Community Wildlife Management Areas, as of 2020 (Source: World Database of Protected Areas).

ADMINISTRATIVE DISTRICTS

Uganda has been slowly devolving its administration to smaller spatial areas over time. In 1990, there were just 33 districts. By 2015, these had been further divided into 113 districts. Subdivision of districts has continued since then, with Uganda currently divided into 135 districts plus 11 cities which are at the same administrative level (Figure 2.10). These accounts use the most recent districts, since this will be most practical for the current administration and for accounting going forward.

To facilitate the analysis of sub-national activity at broader scales, Uganda's districts are grouped into 15 subregions with similar characteristics (GoU, 2019b). For example, certain statistical data is only available at subregional level. The subregions are themselves aggregated into four regions. However,

there is no formal tier of government attached to Uganda's regions or subregions, as they are primarily statistical divisions.



Figure 2.10. The four regions and 146 districts of Uganda as at 2020 (Source: UBOS). Note that these accounts are summarised for the present districts rather than the districts as at 2015, to be of more practical value.

AGRICULTURAL ZONES ("ZARDIS")

The country is divided into ten zones (groups of districts) that are served by the Zonal Agricultural Research Development Institutes. These were used as the accounting areas in the Land and Soil Improvement accounts, which reported on four of them: Abi, Buginyanya, Mbarara and Mukono.



Figure 2.11. Areas served by the Zonal Agricultural Research Development Institutes (ZARDI), (Data Source: MAAIF 2018)

LAND COVER

The way in which human activities have altered the natural land cover has been analysed using satellite data and is presented in Uganda's Land Accounts (GoU, 2019b). These show that, by 1990, 35% of land area was under human modified landscapes, and this had grown to 45% by 2015. Natural forest, which once covered 54% of the country, was reduced to 24% by 1990 and 8% by 2015 (Figure 2.12). The national-scale land account is shown in Table 2.1 for ease of reference in this document.



Figure 2.12. Land cover maps of Uganda for 1990 and 2015. (Data source: UBOS)

National land cover stocks	Open water	Wetland	Grassland	Bushland	Woodland	Tropical high forest low stock	Tropical high forest well stock	Broad- leaved plantation	Coniferous plantation	Commercia I farmland	Small-scale farmland	Built up area	Impedi ments
Opening stock (1 Jan. 1990)	3,689,603	484,031	5,115,477	1,422,263	3,974,523	273,062	651,111	18,682	16,384	68,447	8,401,602	36,572	3,741
Additions	57,882	493,471	1,170,999	3,324,510	1,111,145	158,163	186,030	8,059	3,787	59,297	1,953,081	13,213	I,799
Reductions	66,593	1 38,960	3,492,509	738,857	2,250,920	204,673	133,210	16,896	8,673	24,417	/ 1,438,574	23,469	3,683
Net gain/reduction	(8,710)	354,512	(2,321,510)	2,585,652	(1,139,775)	(46,511)	52,820	(8,838)	(4,886)	34,881	514,506	(10,256)	(1,884)
Opening stock (1 Jan. 2000)	3,680,892	838,542	2,793,967	4,007,916	2,834,747	226,551	703,930	9,845	11,498	103,327	8,916,109	26,315	1,857
Additions	62,147	217,502	2,538,925	I,534,777	1,319,547	124,979	68,654	3,107	11,489	45,672	1,525,134	78,141	7,541
Reductions	36,550	303,002	1,269,274	2,573,989	1,376,233	1 59,835	171,626	8,166	4,246	42,369	1,593,548	7,186	1,594
Net gain/reduction	25,598	(85,500)	1,269,652	(1,039,212)	(56,686)	(34,857)	(102,972)	4,941	7,243	3,303	(68,414)	70,956	5,947
Opening stock (1 Jan 2005)	3,706,490	753,042	4,063,619	2,968,704	2,778,062	191,694	600,959	14,786	18,741	106,630	8,847,695	97,271	7,804
Additions	35,251	296,031	2,644,084	l,593,059	678,877	90,494	87,904	18,460	33,710	65,861	2,328,810	48,049	9,001
Reductions	52,373	238,623	1,639,403	2,189,972	2,008,061	161,432	123,911	12,251	8,708	37,576	1,404,221	46,870	6,191
Net gains/reduction	(17,121)	57,408	1,004,681	(596,913)	(1,329,184)	(70,938)	(36,008)	6,209	25,002	28,286	924,589	1,179	2,809
Opening stock (1 Jan 2010)	3,689,369	810,450	5,068,300	2,371,791	I,448,878	120,756	564,951	20,995	43,743	134,916	9,772,284	98,450	10,614
Additions	72,621	161,431	I,566,083	1,094,221	441,480	59,186	37,951	34,128	27,538	153,258	I,782,267	70,790	4,962
Reductions	12,408	256,400	1,537,011	1,498,778	677,407	78,078	73,778	10,886	7,795	32,324	1,279,582	33,673	7,795
Net gain/reductions	60,213	(94,970)	29,072	(404,557)	(235,927)	(18,892)	(35,827)	23,242	19,743	120,935	502,685	37,117	(2,834)
Closing stock (31 Dec. 2014)	3,749,581	715,481	5,097,372	1,967,234	1,212,951	101,864	529,124	44,237	63,486	255,850	10,274,969	135,567	7,780

Table 2.1. National physical asset accounts for land, 1990-2015, in hectares. Source: Based on GoU (2019).

3. METHODOLOGICAL FRAMEWORK

OVERVIEW

In this section, we provide a brief overview of ecosystems and ecosystem services, their valuation for accounting, the spatial framework for analysis, and how accounting tables are compiled and interpreted. The SEEA EA (UN et al., 2021) provides the overarching conceptual framework using a range of data sources and methods that area described below.

ECOSYSTEMS AND ECOSYSTEM SERVICES

ECOSYSTEMS

An ecosystem is a community of organisms interacting with one another in their non-living environment. Ecosystems can be delineated based on a higher level of biological interaction within them than between them and adjacent systems. This can be recognised at different spatial scales, the broadest of which are biomes. Within the terrestrial realm, biomes are distinguishable on broad structural characteristics, mainly the relative abundance of different plant growth forms. The SEEA EA recommends that ecosystem accounting uses biomes or the next tier of classification, which is based on functional groups. These accounts summarise ecosystem services and values at the level of biomes.

In the SEEA EA, ecosystems include not only natural types, but also man-made ecosystems such as agricultural fields, reservoirs, urban parklands, etc. Indeed, the distinction between natural and modified ecosystems is difficult, since they exist on a continuum, from those with very little or no human inputs, through various degrees of management, to those which are highly modified, and bearing very little resemblance to the natural state.

For these accounts, ten ecosystem types were delineated on the basis of the land cover data (Table 3.1).⁵ Uganda's land cover classes were considered to provide a reasonable delineation of ecosystem types. That is, the different land cover types generally reflect distinct sets of abiotic and biotic components and their interactions (UN et al., 2021). This is in line with previous ecosystem accounting work, which used land cover classes as a suitable means of delineating ecosystem types, as is often done in the Ugandan context (GoU, 2020b). The 13 land cover classes were combined into 10 ecosystem types because certain land cover divisions were not considered to represent distinct ecosystem types as per the SEEA definition. For example, well-stocked and low stocked tropical high forest were combined as they do not represent separate communities with distinct sets of biotic components and interactions, but rather the distinction is made on condition. Similarly, subsistence and commercial farmland are different conditions of farmland. A cross-walk of the original land cover classes and ecosystem types, including the area of each land cover class and ecosystem type in 1990 and 2015, is provided in the Appendix.

⁵ Some ecosystem extent accounts have used vegetation maps to delineate ecosystems, but most use land cover classes. We elected to use the latter, since this accommodates the fact that ecosystems do shift over time. For example, if a wetland area expands into a former grassland area, it would remain classified as grassland (actually degraded grassland) in a static vegetation map-based approach but would be reclassified as wetland in a land cover-based approach.

While the 10 ecosystem types were used for accounting across all services, it should be noted that the underlying modelling and mapping of services used the underlying land cover data (as a measure of condition) and the national vegetation map (van Breugel *et al.*, 2015) in estimating ecosystem capacity to deliver services. In some cases, further differentiation within ecosystem types was also made through the integration of land cover and vegetation map data. For example, vegetation map data was used in combination with land cover to map ecosystem capacity to supply different kinds of wild products, as the stocks of these resources vary within vegetation types at a sub-land cover class level.

Table 3.1. Ecosystem types used in these accounts and their derivation from the land cover data. Land cover class descriptions from Drichi (2002)

Land cover classes (13)	Ecosystem types (10)		
Open water – Lakes, rivers and ponds	Open water		
Wetlands – wetland vegetation; swamp areas, papyrus and other sedges	Wetland		
Grassland – rangelands, pastureland, open savanna; may include scattered trees shrubs, scrubs and thickets.	Grassland		
Bushland - bush, thickets, scrub (average height < 4m)	Bushland		
Woodland – trees and shrubs (average height > 4m)	Woodland		
Tropical High Forest (THF) well stocked – tall multistorey trees, closed canopy cover	Natural forest*		
Tropical High Forest (THF) low stocked – THF that has been depleted/encroached	- Natural forest"		
Coniferous Plantations and woodlots – planted coniferous trees,			
Broad-leaved Plantations and woodlots – planted deciduous trees/broadleaves ("hardwood")	Plantation forest*		
Uniform commercial farmland – mono-cropped, non-seasonal farmland usually without any trees for example tea and sugar estates	Farmland		
Subsistence farmland – mixed farmland, small holdings in use or recently used, with or without trees			
Built up area – Urban or rural built-up areas	Built-up area		
Impediments (bare rocks and soils)	Bare		

*Shortened names are used for these in these accounts for ease of presentation – "Forest" and "Plantation", respectively.

It should be noted that the classification of wetlands in the land cover data improved dramatically in 2015. This revealed that large areas were erroneously classed as grassland or other land cover types instead of wetlands in the 1990 land cover dataset. Taken at face value, the land cover data suggest that the area of wetlands in Uganda increased by 51% from 1990 to 2015, which is in direct contrast to the literature which reports widespread declines in wetland area over that period (GoU, 2016; Kayima, Mayo & Nobert, 2018; Wasswa, Kakembo & Mugagga, 2019; Kakuba & Kanyamurwa, 2021). Therefore, an adjustment was made to the 1990 land cover to include areas classified as wetlands in 2015 (unless the area had been classified as water in 1990). This is still a conservative estimate of wetland cover in 1990, but not as drastic an underestimate as would be derived from the unmodified land cover data.

ECOSYSTEM SERVICES

Ecosystem services in the ecosystem accounting context concern (i) the supply of ecosystem services to users; and (ii) the contribution of ecosystem services to benefits (i.e., the goods and services ultimately used and enjoyed by people and society) (UN et al., 2021). Ecosystem services considered

included the goods that are harvested (provisioning services), the characteristics or attributes of ecosystems that are valued for various experiential uses (cultural services) and the ecological functions that save costs in the provision of conventional economic goods and services (regulating services).

The benefits obtained from ecosystems were largely taken for granted before the concept of ecosystem services emerged in the 1980s and 1990s (Ehrlich & Mooney, 1983; Costanza *et al.*, 1997; Daily, 1997). Since then, a number of conceptual frameworks and classification systems for ecosystem services have been proposed,⁶ and the development of a standardised approach to classify and value ecosystem services remains a serious challenge (Potschin *et al.*, 2016; La Notte *et al.*, 2017; UN et al., 2021). The SEEA EA provides a reference list of ecosystem services to be considered in ecosystem accounting. These do not include minerals or abiotic services (such as wind energy or hydropower), which are not produced by extant ecosystems. However, they do include water as a provisioning service.⁷

An important aspect of understanding and selecting ecosystem services for inclusion involves understanding the difference between the **final services** that generate benefits, and **intermediate or underlying services** that support the provision of final services. The focus for national-level accounting is on final ecosystem services, all of which have a direct link with economic units. Economic units broadly consist of industry, government and households. Industry is further divided into agriculture, forestry and fisheries, water supply, trade, catering & accommodation, and other industries. Where intermediate services involve provision of services from one ecosystem to another (like a wetland providing a nursery area for a lake fishery), then it is worth accounting for these. But where they are integrally part of the same system, they are considered to be internal, and are not accounted for.

It is also important to recognise when an ecosystem service is an input to production and consumption in the SNA and when it is directly consumed without conversion into an SNA product. Accounting for the former does not increase GDP, but accounting for the latter would do so.

For this study, a list of the major types of ecosystem services.⁸ was devised based largely on SEEA-EA Table 6.3, with some modification for certain services based on the international literature and classification systems as well as our understanding of ecosystem services and the study area (Table 3.2).

⁶ The more widely cited examples include the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005), The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity (TEEB; 2010), Final Ecosystem Goods and Services Classification System (FEGS-CS, 2015), National Ecosystem Services Classification System (NESCS, 2015) and Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES, 2017).

⁷ This is somewhat controversial, since many authors would argue that water is not produced by ecosystems. Rather, the the pathways, timing and quality of flows are influenced by ecosystems, which is a regulating service that often reduces the cost of obtaining water. Inclusion of water as a provisioning service (a good) as well as the regulating services described also requires taking care to avoid double counting, and dealing with the complication that these services are separated spatially. However, since ecosystem perturbations can also reduce water availability through increased transpiration (e.g. by invasive alien plants), the inclusion of water provisioning does allow for accounting for these effects.

⁸ Note that it can be misleading to state or compare the "number" of ecosystem services included in a study, since the types of services discussed are nearly always groupings that could be subdivided in various ways.

Table 3.2. The ecosystem services in the SEEA-EA reference list, with a brief summary of each service based on the descriptions in the SEEA-EA. Services included are in bold type. For these services, an explanation is provided of how the service flow is measured in physical terms. The services marked with an asterisk were not included in this iteration of the accounts due to data or resource constraints.

Broad category	Ecosystem service	Description	Physical measure (all per ha and per year)
	Crop provisioning services	In situ ecosystem inputs to crop production.	Total harvested production (kg) is used as a proxy measure
	Aquaculture provisioning services	In situ ecosystem inputs to aquaculture production	for the various ecosystem inputs which are difficult to quantify
	Grazed biomass/Livestock provisioning services	Ecosystem contributions to the growth of grazed biomass that is an input to the growth of cultivated livestock.	Tons of grazed biomass
	Wood provisioning services	Ecosystem contributions to the growth of trees and other woody biomass in both cultivated (plantation) and uncultivated production contexts	Total output in terms of m3 per he per year
Provisioning services	Wild fish and other natural aquatic biomass provisioning services	Ecosystem contributions to the growth of fish and other aquatic biomass harvested in uncultivated production contexts	- Total output in terms of m ² per na per year
	Wild animals, plants and other biomass provisioning services	Contributions to growth of wild animals, plants and other biomass harvested in uncultivated production context (other than wood and aquatic resources).	Wild natural resources harvested from ecosystems for subsistence or small-scale production, in terms of kg or m ³
	Genetic material services*	Genes and varieties obtained and their influence on pharmaceutical sales and crop and livestock production.	Not included due to lack of information. Largely intermediate to cultivated outputs
	Water supply	Combined ecosystem contributions of water flow regulation, water purification, and other ecosystem services to the supply of water of appropriate quality to users for various uses including household consumption	Total water extracted for consumption, in Mm ³
	Global climate regulation services	Ecosystem contributions to reducing concentrations of GHG in the atmosphere	Stocks of carbon in each time period, expressed as tonnes of carbon per ha; annual additions and subtractions are not estimated but net changes are tabulated between two time periods
	Rainfall pattern regulation (at sub-continental scale) services *	Ecosystem contributions of vegetation, in particular forests, in maintaining rainfall patterns through evapotranspiration at the sub-continental scale.	Not included
Regulating services	Local (micro and meso) climate regulation services *	Regulation of ambient atmospheric conditions (including micro and mesoscale climates) through the presence of vegetation that improves the living conditions for people and supports economic production	Not included
	Air filtration services*	Ecosystem contributions to the filtering of air-borne pollutants through the deposition, uptake, fixing and storage of pollutants by ecosystem components, particularly plants, that mitigates the harmful effects of the pollutants.	Not included

Broad category	Ecosystem service	Description	Physical measure (all per ha and per year)
	Soil quality regulation services*	Ecosystem contributions to the decomposition of organic and inorganic materials and to the fertility and characteristics of soils, an intermediate service.	Not included
	Soil and sediment retention services	Reducing soil loss and sediment transportation to downstream environments (including mudslides) through holding soils in situ (by vegetative cover) or through trapping eroded sediments (by slowing down movement of water through the landscape, e.g. in a wetland).	Measured in terms of the difference in amount of sediment retained (m ³ per year) at key points between the observed land cover and a situation of bare and degraded landscape (for wetlands this means loss of holding capacity).
	Solid waste remediation services*	Ecosystem contributions to transformation of organic or inorganic substances, through the action of micro- organisms, algae, plants and animals that mitigates their harmful effects. Final or intermediate service.	Not included
	Water purification services: retention and breakdown of nutrients and other pollutants	Ecosystem contributions to the restoration and maintenance of the chemical condition of surface water and groundwater bodies through the breakdown or removal of nutrients and other pollutants by ecosystem components that mitigate the harmful effects of the pollutants on human use or health.	(Nutrients only) Measured in terms of the difference in the nutrient loads (kg per year) delivered at key points between the observed land cover situation and a situation of intensively modified and degraded landscape (for wetlands this means loss of holding capacity).
	Water flow regulation services: base flow maintenance and peak flow mitigation	Smoothing of flow over the longer duration through infiltration and storage, reducing need for storage to achieve a given yield.	Average quantity of infiltration that is demanded for groundwater use, measured in m ³ per year. Cost savings in terms of surface water supply infrastructure is expected to be small due to dependence on lakes and was not measured.
	Flood control services: river and coastal*	Smoothing of fluvial flows during storm events through interception, infiltration, storage and landscape roughness, reducing the flood peak volume, velocity and flood height in the receiving area.	Not included
	Storm mitigation*	Ecosystem contributions of vegetation including linear elements, in mitigating the impacts of wind, sand and other storms (other than water related events) on local communities. A final ecosystem service.	
	Noise attenuation*	Ecosystem contributions to the reduction in the impact of noise on people that mitigates its harmful or stressful effects. Usually a final ecosystem service.	
	Pollination services*	Pollination of crops by animals living in surrounding environments, thus contributing to productivity.	Not included separately, since farmland is too broadly delineated (being a complex landscape of cultivated and semi-natural vegetation) and much of the service is therefore internal to the ecosystem. The service is thus accounted for within the crop production inputs.
	Biological control services: pest control and disease control*	Control of crop pests by animals living in surrounding environments, thus contributing to productivity.	

Broad category	Ecosystem service	Description	Physical measure (all per ha and per year)
	Nursery population and habitat maintenance services*	Provision of critical habitat for populations that are utilised in other locations, such as fish nursery areas; wildlife breeding areas or migratory staging areas. As for the above service, this requires attributing some of the ecosystem inputs to these activities to the critical habitat areas rather than the areas in which the activities take place.	Not included
Cultural services	Experiential-related services ⁹	Experiential fulfilment associated with active or passive use, through any type of or purpose including recreation, education, scientific research, spiritual, artistic or other cultural activities (typically some combination of these).	 No appropriate physical measure. Therefore, expressed only in monetary terms, as the sum of: contribution to property value (not included) simulated exchange value of local use (not included) contribution to tourism value
Flows related to non-use values	Ecosystem and species appreciation *	Ecosystem and species appreciation concerns the wellbeing that people derive from the existence and preservation of the environment for current and future generations, irrespective of any direct or indirect use. e.g. donations	Not included, and not accommodated in the SEEA EA methods as yet.

⁹ Note that the SEEA EA reference list separates these into (i) recreation related services, (ii) visual amenity services, (ii) education, scientific and research services and (iii) spiritual, artistic and symbolic services. The authors feel that this separation is artificial as experiences and motivations for use often comprise a mixture of these, and that the breakdown should be based on user types which involve different valuation methods (Turpie et al. 2022, Turpie et al. in prep.). Therefore, we use the term "Experiential-related services" to encompass the full suite. This is only partially valued in these accounts, and the aspect valued could be classified as "recreation-related services" if the reference list is strictly followed.

VALUATION

VALUING ECOSYSTEM SERVICE FLOWS IN TERMS OF EXCHANGE VALUES

In order to be compatible with the measures used in the SNA, the ecosystem accounts express the value of ecosystem service flows in terms of "exchange values", which is the amount that is paid by the users of ecosystem services to the owners of those services, or that would be paid if a market existed (UN 2017). Note that this differs from, and is lower than, the welfare measures used in conventional valuation of ecosystem services, e.g. for use in project or policy appraisal methods such as cost-benefit analysis. In the latter, the economic value used is the sum of producer and consumer surplus, where producer surplus is the producer's net income (turnover minus all costs of production) and consumer surplus is the difference between aggregate willingness to pay and the aggregate expenditure, for a given good or service. The SNA is concerned with income, but not consumer surplus.

The SNA measures the gross output (= turnover or expenditure generated), and the direct value added (= turnover minus intermediate costs) for each sector in the economy. The latter is the net income generated to all economic actors and includes net income to the owners of the factors of production (= producer surplus), to employees (= salaries and wages) and to government (= taxes minus subsidies).

In the SNA, environment is not recognised as a sector, and many environmental inputs are not paid for, and thus not accounted for. In some cases, the benefit to which the environmental input contributes is accounted for (e.g. tourism), but in others it is not (e.g. recreation in open access green space areas). The latter production value is said to be outside of the SNA production boundary. Because it is outside the production boundary, the SNA does not impute values for transactions between ecosystems and their users. In the monetary ecosystem service accounts, ecosystem services that are used in the generation of benefits are valued as if such a transaction occurred. In some cases, this would be the equivalent of an intermediate expenditure for a sector whose output (SNA products as categorized in the Central Product Classification or CPC) is already within the SNA production boundary (e.g. inputs to agriculture). In other cases, it would be the equivalent of a final expenditure for a benefit that is outside of the SNA production boundary (e.g. use of public green open space).

It is important to note that for the cases where ecosystem services contribute to outputs that are measured in the SNA, the value assigned to ecosystems is the residual value after all costs are subtracted. Basic prices are used as far as possible, which are market prices adjusted to remove tax and subsidy distortions. Note that many goods and services used in crop and livestock production in Uganda are VAT¹⁰ exempt (URA, 2014, 2022; Kasirye, 2015), and there is little subsidisation within the primary sectors. A key limitation of this approach is that the proportion of the residual value to the overall gross output of the activity does not necessarily reflect the relative importance of ecosystem services in the generation of those outputs. It is a lower bound value. Indeed, a much larger proportion of the gross output of that sector (possibly all of it) could be lost if the environmental

 $^{^{\}rm 10}$ The Value Added Tax rate in Uganda is 18%.

input were lost. These effects can only be determined through analysis of an accounting time series or by doing a scenario analysis for varying levels of ecosystem services.

Not all ecosystem services are valued in this way. Some ecosystem services are consumed purposely, such as provisioning and cultural services, while others are used inadvertently, such as most of the regulating services. The first group are usually consumed through the joint contribution of ecosystem services and some form of man-made capital and labour inputs. For these services, the benefits derived from ecosystem services are valued in terms of the residual value (or resource rent) after all human inputs are accounted for, as described above. The second group are generally ecosystem services that could (at least in theory) be replaced by technology or infrastructure, or if lost could result in damages, and are valued in terms of net costs saved.

Based on general advice of the SNA (chapter 3), the SEEA EA (para 9.23) recommends that valuation methods are applied in the following order of preference:

- i. Methods where the price for the ecosystem service is directly observable;
- ii. Methods where the price for the ecosystem service is obtained from markets for similar goods and services;
- iii. Methods where the price for the ecosystem service is embodied in a market transaction;
- iv. Methods where the price for the ecosystem services is based on revealed expenditures (costs) for related goods and services;
- v. Methods where the price for the ecosystem service is based on expected expenditures or markets."

DETERMINING CONSTANT VALUES AND VOLUME AND PRICE EFFECTS

National accounts are compiled using both "current" and "constant" prices. Current prices are the prices that applied at the time of the transaction or balance sheet entry. These are difficult to compare across years because of inflation, especially when there is a large span of time between accounting years. In Uganda, what was purchased for a shilling in 1990 would have cost approximately 5.44 shillings in 2015.

Constant prices are expressed in terms of the prices prevailing in a specified "base year" so that one can assess the "real changes" in output after correcting for price changes. This is usually done using the Consumer Price Index or a GDP deflator. In the SNA, changes in volumes of production can therefore be estimated based on monetary data alone. Thus, the SNA separates volume and price effects to show the extent to which changes in total output value are due to changes in the amount of production versus effects of input costs and demand on prices. Note that both the volume and price effects are expressed in monetary terms.

In ecosystem services accounting, services are measured in terms of physical flows as well as monetary flows, so the changes in volume do not have to be estimated *post hoc* as is done in national accounting. Indeed, because there are some services for which markets do not exist, it tends to be more challenging to estimate changes in current prices. For example, one might estimate the replacement cost value of a regulating service in terms of an engineering construction based on some recent data on construction costs, but it is difficult to know what that cost might have been at the start of the

accounting period, other than assuming that it only changed by inflation. Thus, for all ecosystem services, it is possible to assess volume changes, but price effects cannot be computed for most non-market services. In these accounts, volume changes are described in physical terms, but we also disaggregate overall changes in value into volume and price effects to align with SNA accounting practices.

To convert the values to constant prices, we used the same base year as the most recent national accounts in Uganda. This is updated approximately every seven years to reflect a new base year and simultaneously benchmark estimates against new datasets. The most recent benchmark and rebasing¹¹ was done in October 2019, in which the base year was updated to 2017. All values in this report are therefore adjusted to constant UGX 2017 prices using an economy wide price change indicator, national inflation rates (NEMA, 2021a). Any values that were initially in USD were first converted to UGX at the prevailing exchange rate for that year, before being adjusted to the 2017 base year price¹². Changes in the UGX / USD exchange rate are expected to have had an impact on the resource prices; however, multiple sources were used for the calculation of resource prices and an average was used. It is therefore unlikely that the exchange rate would have affected the valuation substantially.

ESTIMATING ECOSYSTEM ASSET VALUES

The **asset value of ecosystems** was calculated as the net present value (NPV) of the discounted sum of expected future flows of all ecosystem services that are generated by a particular ecosystem asset over a given period of time. Some of the future flows were adjusted based on sustainability of current use (see section on sustainability adjustment).

The calculation of NPV was made using a social discount rate for Uganda of 4.04% (based on Kotchen et al. 2019), and an asset life of 100 years (UN et al., 2021). The SEEA EA suggests using an asset life of 100 years¹³ when expecting the ecosystem to be used long into the future (UN et al., 2021). In mathematical terms, the value of a single ecosystem asset V is written as:

$$V_{\tau}(EA) = \sum_{i=1}^{i=S} \sum_{j=\tau}^{j=N} \frac{ES_{\tau}^{ij}(EA_{\tau})}{(1+r_j)^{(j+1-\tau)}}$$

where ES_{τ}^{ij} is the value of ecosystem service *i* in year *j* as expected in base year τ generated by a specific ecosystem asset *EA*; *S* is the total number ecosystem services, *r* is the discount rate and N is the lifetime of the asset.

¹¹ Rebasing is the replacement of the national accounts existing constant prices with new constant prices from a new reference year.

¹² The exchange rate was 3692 Ugandan shillings to the US Dollar in 2017.

¹³ This is far longer than the 25 years used by Turpie et al. in South Africa's pilot monetary accounts, for reasons of uncertainty of longer projections. As a matter of interest, if the projected future stream of benefits were constant, then the asset value over 25 years would be 64.09% of the asset value over 100 years.

SUSTAINABILITY ADJUSTMENT

For provisioning services, the projection of future value flows included consideration of the level of sustainability of resource use. In the case of crop provisioning services, it was based on trends in productivity per unit area. In the case of harvested resources, this was based on the ratio of harvests to sustainable yields¹⁴ at the level of each pixel of the underlying BSU. If harvesting was done at a rate that was higher than the sustainable yield, then stocks were depleted over time, with corresponding effects on future harvests. Sustainability adjustments were made for the resources likely to be most sensitive to rates of exploitation: wood, fish, grass and bushmeat. Sustainable yields for each resource were based on the literature or Uganda's existing ecosystem accounts and are summarised in Table 3.3. Details are provided in the corresponding sections.

Table 3.3	Sustainable	yields	(as a	percentage	of sto	ocks)	used fo	r each	resource
-----------	-------------	--------	-------	------------	--------	-------	---------	--------	----------

Resource	Sustainable yield assumption
Roundwood (Forest)	0.5%
Roundwood (Plantations)	10%
Fuelwood (Wetland, Grassland, Bushland)	10%
Fuelwood (Woodland, Forest)	5%
Fuelwood (Plantation)	8%
Fuelwood (Farmland)	15%
Fish	26%
Grass	30%
Bushmeat	30%

No sustainability adjustment was made for calculating the contribution of regulating or cultural services to asset value. This would require incorporation of ecosystem condition trends into the analysis, whereas at this stage ecosystem condition has not been properly measured or accounted for. It should therefore be noted that the contributions of these values to asset value implicitly and optimistically assume no further degradation or loss of extent and condition of ecosystems in future.

DECOMPOSITION OF CHANGES IN ASSET VALUE

Changes in asset value at national scale were decomposed into changes that were due to ecosystem conversions (area effects), changes in the real price of services (price effects) and changes in the volume of services used (volume effects). Volume effects were then further decomposed as being the result of changes in ecosystem capacity (enhancement of degradation) or changes in demand. The area, volume and price effects were computed as follows:¹⁵

$$\begin{aligned} & \text{Area effect: } \left[\frac{1}{3}\overline{p_{0}^{i}}q_{0}^{i} + \frac{1}{6}\overline{p_{0}^{i}}q_{1}^{i} + \frac{1}{6}\overline{p_{1}^{i}}q_{0}^{i} + \frac{1}{3}\overline{p_{1}^{i}}q_{1}^{i}\right] * \left(a_{1}^{i} - a_{0}^{i}\right);\\ & \text{Volume effect: } \left[\frac{1}{3}\overline{p_{0}^{i}}a_{0}^{i} + \frac{1}{6}\overline{p_{0}^{i}}a_{1}^{i} + \frac{1}{6}\overline{p_{1}^{i}}a_{0}^{i} + \frac{1}{3}\overline{p_{1}^{i}}a_{1}^{i}\right] * \left(\overline{q_{1}^{i}} - \overline{q_{0}^{i}}\right);\\ & \text{Price effect: } \left[\frac{1}{3}a_{0}^{i}\overline{q_{0}^{i}} + \frac{1}{6}a_{0}^{i}\overline{q_{1}^{i}} + \frac{1}{6}a_{1}^{i}\overline{q_{0}^{i}} + \frac{1}{3}a_{1}^{i}\overline{q_{1}^{i}}\right] * \left(\overline{p_{1}^{i}} - \overline{p_{0}^{i}}\right).\end{aligned}$$

¹⁴ The amount of the resource that can be extracted annually without reducing the stock over time.

¹⁵ Note that these equations have been corrected from the mistyped version presented in the SEEA EA (UN et al. 2021).

Where $\overline{p_t^i}$ is the average (discounted) unit price of the *i*th ecosystem service over the asset life, $\overline{q_t^i}$ is the average volume per unit area of the *i*th ecosystem service supplied, a_t^i is the area of the ecosystem supplying the service, t = 0 is the opening time period (1990) and t = 1 is the closing time period (2015). For the subnational accounting areas, the changes in asset value were decomposed into area versus price or volume effects.

SPATIAL FRAMEWORK

The process of constructing ecosystem accounts involves compiling and organising data on land cover, land use and ecosystem extent into a spatial framework that allows for comparison of several different spatial datasets over the accounting period. This spatial framework is supported through defining a basic spatial unit (BSU) that is internally homogenous in terms of its biophysical properties and provides a consistent fine-level data framework within which data about various characteristics can be incorporated (UN et al., 2021). For these accounts, the basic spatial unit is a 100x100 m cell, aligned and snapped to the country's national land cover datasets.

Ecosystem assets can be defined as distinct, contiguous areas covered by a specific ecosystem type (e.g. grassland, wetland, estuary, forest). Ecosystem types, on the other hand, are aggregations of individual ecosystem assets representing a specific type of ecosystem, including non-contiguous areas (e.g. the total area of grassland). The difference between ecosystem assets and types is represented in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1. Diagram representing the relationship between the basic spatial unit (BSU – underlying grid), ecosystem assets (EAs – contiguous areas, e.g. EA1), ecosystem types (ETs – collection of EAs of similar ecosystem type, e.g. ET3) and the ecosystem accounting area (EAA – area of interest in bold outline). Source: Based on UN (2017)

ECOSYSTEM ACCOUNTING AREAS

These ecosystem service and asset accounts were conducted at three scales of ecosystem accounting areas:

- National (I EAA)
- Drainage basins (9 EAAs 8 major basins plus the remaining areas)

• Districts (including cities) (146 EAAs)

In order to summarise the service flows for each of these areas, it was necessary to map the ecosystem services at a relatively high level of resolution. This meant that all data needed to be disaggregated to at least the District scale. As far as possible, all ecosystem service flows were mapped to the BSU (I ha resolution) so that they could be summarised at district scale.

ACCOUNTING TABLES

For each of the above EAAs, the supply and use of each major category of ecosystem services is summarised per biome in physical and monetary terms for 1990 and 2015, and the asset account records the change in asset value of each ecosystem type within that EAA.

The supply and use tables ideally only account for ecosystem services which are used. In the case of some regulating services, accounting only for the service used is easier to achieve in monetary than physical terms because of the spatio-dynamic complexity of the service, and thus for certain services the physical accounts have reported on the service *capacity*, irrespective of whether it is demanded. For certain cultural services, only the monetary accounts are provided, since physical measures were not available. These deviations are explained in more detail under the relevant sections of Chapter 4.

The supply of each type of ecosystem service is summarised for each broad ecosystem type (biome), and the use is summarised for different economic actors (agriculture, forestry and fisheries, water supply, trade, catering & accommodation, other industries, government, households). As required in accounting tables, the sum of supply must equal the sum of use. The supply tables denote origin of the utilised services and should not be confused with ecosystem capacity to supply a particular service (which may be different from the utilised amount). For wild biomass, the amount used would also include illegal use and amounts exceeding sustainable yield. The supply and use tables also have the ability to account for intermediate ecosystem services (i.e. ecosystem service flows from one ecosystem type to another that help support the functioning of that ecosystem type), but intermediate flows are not developed in this report.

The ecosystem monetary asset account records the monetary value of opening and closing stocks of all ecosystem assets within an ecosystem accounting area and any additions or reductions in these stocks. These values can be thought of as comparable with the value of produced assets.

According to the SEEA EA (UN et al., 2021) ecosystem services which are not used by economic units that are resident in the ecosystem accounting area are defined as exports. Exports of biomass and related products are recorded in the standard economic accounting tables, not as exports in the ecosystem service flow account. Transactions which involve processing, transportation or sale of biomass and their products are not the focus of ecosystem accounting.

4. ECOSYSTEM SERVICES AND BENEFITS

CROP PROVISIONING SERVICES

OVERVIEW

Crop provisioning services are the ecosystem contributions to the growth of cultivated plants. In these accounts, crop production takes place in human-modified ecosystems termed "farmland", which comprises the areas classified in the land cover as commercial farmland and small-scale farmland. The ecosystem contribution includes the substrate and provision and retention of nutrients and soil moisture. Because this complex contribution is difficult to quantify in a single physical measure, the tonnage of crops produced is used as the physical measure.

The service is valued as the gross output less the man-made capital and labour inputs, and less inputs from surrounding ecosystems, such as pollination services and biological control services, for which the service values should accrue to those ecosystems (Turpie et al. 2022). However, in this study, because farmland as delineated includes both planted areas and the natural or semi-natural areas in between, pollination and pest control services, which typically are supplied from natural ecosystems within about 2 km of vegetable and fruit crops, are likely to be supplied largely from within what has been delineated as the farmland ecosystem type and were not calculated separately. Future studies could investigate this further, using a higher-resolution delineation of farmland.

DATA AND METHODS

DATA SOURCES

In order to generate district-level estimates of production for each crop for 1990 and 2015, the study drew on the following data sources:

- 1990 production statistics at national scale from FAOSTAT (FAO, 2022a)
- 2008/2009 Agricultural Census (UBOS, 2010) at district level
- 2018 Annual Agriculture Survey (UBOS, 2020a) at the scale of Zonal Agricultural Research and Development Institute (ZARDI) areas.
- National-level crop production figures for 2015 in the Statistical Abstract (UBOS, 2020b)

The UBOS reports generally have limited information on cash crops. Both the UBOS Agricultural Census (UBOS, 2010) and Agriculture Survey (UBOS, 2020a) did not include tea, sugar, tobacco and cotton, while coffee was only included in the latter report. These crops (aside from coffee) were also excluded from the Land and Soil Improvement Accounts (giving crop production in 2009, 2018; NEMA, 2021b). National-level production for some of these cash crops in 2015 (tea, cotton, tobacco) is provided in the Statistical Abstract (UBOS, 2020b). Finally, for cash crops excluded from the Statistical Abstract (tobacco and sugar), production data was obtained from FAOSTAT for both 2015 and 1990 (FAO, 2022a). Downscaling national production of these crops required information on which districts each crop is grown in. Information on tea growing districts was obtained from (CIAT, 2011) and the National Agriculture Advisory Services (NAADS) website. The latter lists several districts to which tea growing has expanded recently. It was thus assumed that these districts produced tea in 2015 but not 1990. Sugar growing districts were obtained from an assessment of all sugar manufacturing companies in Uganda and the areas from which they harvest. Tobacco growing districts were identified based on the overlap with tobacco growing livelihood zones in the map of Ugandan livelihood zones

produced by the Famine Early Warning System Network (FEWS NET, 2010), as well as information from the African Tobacco Industry Monitoring report (Wanyonyi *et al.*, 2020). Districts growing cotton were estimated from the map produced by the Cotton Development Organisation (CDO, n.d.)

ESTIMATING PRODUCTION IN 1990 AND 2015 AND DOWNSCALING TO DISTRICT LEVEL

To estimate district-level production in 1990 for crops included in the 2008/2009 census (UBOS, 2010), the 2008/2009 production was adjusted based on the difference in farmland area from 1990 to 2010 (the closest year for which land cover data were available). This was done at district level, using the district boundaries as at 2008/9. Finally, a uniform correction factor was applied to the district-level data to align the total estimated production of each crop with 1990 production reported by FAOSTAT (FAO, 2022a). Yield per hectare of farmland for each crop was then calculated and mapped at district level by dividing estimated production by total farmland area.¹⁶ of each district in 1990.

For commercial crops not included in the agricultural census (tea, sugar, cotton, tobacco), a simpler method had to be used as only national-level production data was obtained. Various sources of information were used to identify districts where each of these crops are grown. The total area of farmland within these districts was summed to obtain a total potential growing area for these crops. It was assumed that sugar and tea are grown largely or exclusively in areas classified as commercial farmland in the land cover data. The 1990 national production estimates for each crop were then disaggregated by multiplying the proportional contribution of each district by the total potential area over which each crop could be grown. Yield per hectare of farmland for each crop could then calculated and mapped at district level by dividing estimated production by total farmland area (cotton and tobacco) or total commercial farmland area (tea and sugar) of each district in 1990.

To estimate district-level crop production in 2015 of crops included in the UBOS surveys, subregional production reported in the 2018 Agricultural Survey (UBOS, 2020a) was first adjusted back to 2015 based on the change in farmland area between 2015 and 2017 (the closest land cover data to 2018). To downscale subregional production to district level, the proportional contribution of each district to subregional production of each crop was calculated from the 2008/2009 agricultural census data. This was then multiplied by the 2015 subregional production estimates to obtain district-level production estimates of each crop. Lastly, a uniform correction factor then applied to align the total national production of each crop with national production for 2015 reported in the Statistical Abstract (UBOS, 2020b). Yield per hectare of farmland for each crop was then calculated and mapped at district level by dividing estimated production by total farmland area of each district in 2015.

For commercial crops not included in the UBOS surveys, the same method was used as for 1990 based on estimating the total farmland area in the districts in which each crop is grown, with tea and sugar again limited to commercial farmland. This was then used to downscale the national-scale production estimates for 2015 from either the Statistical Abstract (UBOS, 2020b) (tea and cotton) or FAOSTAT (sugar and tobacco).

¹⁶ In the absence of a breakdown of production between commercial and small-scale farmland in the source data, production was spread evenly across total farmland area (i.e. commercial plus small-scale farmland in the land cover).

ESTIMATION OF USE

Use was allocated to households or industry, where household use refers to production for subsistence use including some informal trade, and where industry refers to commercial production by farming enterprises. The proportion of production allocate to household use was obtained from the Land and Soil Improvement Accounts for Uganda (NEMA, 2021a) for most crops. For crops which were not included in the Land and Soil Improvement Accounts, such as sugar, tea, coffee, tobacco, and cotton, it was assumed that all use was commercial.

VALUATION

Crop prices for 2009 and 2018 were taken from the Land and Soil Improvement Accounts (NEMA, 2021a). These were coarse estimates, with the same price per unit across all users and districts in each time period. When expressed in constant UGX 2017, this suggested an annual increase for all crops of 0.89%. This trend was used to estimate crop prices for 1990 and 2015.

Resource rents were calculated based on the value of output and the total production costs for the different crop types according to Kraybill and Kidoido (2009). Average costs of labour include the costs of hired labour as well as the costs of material input, including seeds, fertilizers, chemicals, mechanized and draft power. A resource rent was calculated for and applied to each crop type for the country average farmer and for enterprise production with higher input technologies (Kraybill & Kidoido, 2009). Resource rents were higher for larger scale producers than smaller scale farmers and varied across crops. Average resource rent for small-scale farmers was 0.48 and 0.56 for larger scale producers.

RESULTS

In 2015, roughly 44% of Uganda's surface area comprised farmland (small-scale and commercial), up from 35% of national area in 1990. Spatial variation in the total production of crops in 2015, expressed in terms of tonnes per hectare of farmland, is shown in Figure 4.1.

It should be noted that not all farmland is under active crop production in any given year, as the land cover type includes fallow areas, pastures and unutilised areas between fields. In other words, the planted area is often significantly lower than the farmland area as per the land cover. In 2015, it was estimated that total planted area (based on agricultural census data) was around 80% of the total farmland area in Uganda. Since detailed spatial data on planted area are not available, the service was attributed to all farmland area as per the land cover. This means that the average output per hectare of farmland will often be lower than the average output of areas under production in that year. Notably, this is not the case in parts of Uganda where land is intensively used and two crops are grown per year (e.g. around Mount Elgon), as the planted area exceeded farmland area in some districts. In sum, the value of the crop production service thus varies markedly within the farmland land cover type, and the spatial locations of areas generating the most output might change from year to year depending on the intensity of land use.

Estimates of the total supply of crop provisioning services (expressed in terms of tonnes of crop output supported) and value for 1990 and 2015 are provided in Table 4.1, by crop. During the accounting period, there was a notable increase in the production of tobacco, tea and sugar. This is mostly the effect of Uganda's opening up for trade over this period. Maize and rice production also increased markedly, by over 5-fold. Overall, the aggregate value of crop provisioning services increased by 85% from 1990 to 2015. However, both monetary and physical supply of crops per capita decreased between 1990 and 2015. Average per capita physical supply of crop provisioning services declined by 42% and average per capita monetary value of the crop provisioning services declined by 14% between 1990 and 2015.



Figure 4.1. Variation in crop production across Uganda in 2015, in total tonnes/ha/year.

		Economi	c units		Ecosystems										
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Physical supply 1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Maize (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	602	0	0	602
Finger millet (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	560	0	0	560
Sorghum (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	360	0	0	360
Rice (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	54	0	0	54
Beans (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	396	0	0	396
Field peas (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	14	0	0	14
Cow peas (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	39	0	0	39
Pigeon peas (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	51	0	0	51
Groundnuts (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	158	0	0	158
Sim sim (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	62	0	0	62
Soybean (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	37	0	0	37
All bananas (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7 842	0	0	7 842
Cassava (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3 420	0	0	3 420
Sweet potato (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	I 693	0	0	I 693
Irish potato (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	224	0	0	224
Sugar (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	610	0	0	610
Tea (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7	0	0	7
Coffee (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	129	0	0	129
Tobacco (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	3
Cotton (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8	0	0	8
Total	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	16 269	0	0	16 269
Physical use 1990															
Maize (kt/y)	424	0	178	602	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Finger millet (kt/y)	135	0	425	560	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sorghum (kt/y)	13	0	347	360	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rice (kt/y)	51	0	3	54	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Beans (kt/y)	81	0	315	396	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Field peas (kt/y)	0	0	14	14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cow peas (kt/y)	0	0	39	39	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Pigeon peas (kt/y)	0	0	51	51	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Groundnuts (kt/y)	61	0	97	158	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sim sim (kt/y)		0	61	62	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Soybean (kt/y)	0	0	37	37	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
All bananas (kt/y)	539	0	7 303	7 842	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cassava (kt/y)	277	0	3 43	3 420	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sweet potato (kt/y)	181	0	1512	1 693	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Irish potato (kt/y)	78	0	146	224	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Sugar (kt/y)	610	0	0	610	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Tea (kt/y)	7	0	0	7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coffee (kt/y)	129	0	0	129	-	-		-		-	-	-	-	-	-
Tobacco (kt/y)	3	0	0	3	-	-		-		-	-	-	-	-	-
Cotton (kt/y)	8	0	0	8	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Total	302	0	14 967	16 269	-	-		-		-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.1 Physical supply and use of crop provisioning services in 1990, in thousands of tonnes per year.

		Economi	ic units		Ecosystems										
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Physical supply 2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Maize (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2813	0	0	2813
Finger millet (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	236	0	0	236
Sorghum (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	411	0	0	411
Rice (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	238	0	0	238
Beans (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1 080	0	0	1 080
Field peas (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13	0	0	13
Cow peas (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13	0	0	13
Pigeon peas (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13	0	0	13
Groundnuts (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	296	0	0	296
Sim sim (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	44	0	0	44
Soybean (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	28	0	0	28
All bananas (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4 623	0	0	4 623
Cassava (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2 727	0	0	2 727
Sweet potato (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2 045	0	0	2 045
Irish potato (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	173	0	0	173
Sugar (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5 225	0	0	5 225
Tea (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	59	0	0	59
Coffee (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	229	0	0	229
Tobacco (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	32	0	0	32
Cotton (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	17	0	0	17
Total	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20 3 1 6	0	0	20 3 1 6
Physical use 2015															
Maize (kt/y)	1 980	0	833	2813	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-
Finger millet (kt/y)	57	0	180	236	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sorghum (kt/y)	15	0	396	411	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rice (kt/y)	225	0	13	238	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Beans (kt/y)	221	0	858	1 080	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Field peas (kt/y)	0	0	13	13	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cow peas (kt/y)	0	0	13	13	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Pigeon peas (kt/y)	0	0	13	13	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Groundnuts (kt/y)	115	0	181	296	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sim sim (kt/y)		0	43	44	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Soybean (kt/y)	0	0	28	28	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
All bananas (kt/y)	318	0	4 306	4 623	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cassava (kt/y)	221	0	2 506	2 727	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sweet potato (kt/y)	218	0	1 827	2 045	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Irish potato (kt/y)	60	0	113	173		-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-		-
Sugar (kt/y)	5 225	0	0	5 225	_				-			-			-
Tea (kt/y)	59	0	0	59	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-
Coffee (kt/y)	229	0	0	229											
Tobacco (kt/y)	32	0	0	32									-		
Cotton (kt/y)	17	0	0	17									-		
Total	1 425	0	18 601	20.214	-	_	-		-	-	-		-	-	-
IUtal	1 0 2 5	U	10 071	20 310	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.2 Physical supply and use of crop provisioning services in 2015, in thousands of tonnes per year.

		Economi	c units						E	cosystems					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Maize	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	4
Finger millet	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	96	0	0	96
Sorghum	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	41	0	0	41
Rice	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	33	0	0	33
Beans	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	175	0	0	175
Field peas	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	5
Cow peas	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	14	0	0	14
Pigeon peas	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	17	0	0	17
Groundnuts	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	5
Sim sim	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	31	0	0	31
Soybean	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	12	0	0	12
All bananas	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	69	0	0	69
Cassava	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	287	0	0	I 287
Sweet potato	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	218	0	0	218
Irish potato	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	79	0	0	79
Sugar	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	323	0	0	323
Теа	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	
Coffee	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	64	0	0	64
Tobacco	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	4
Cotton	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	
Total	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4 240	0	0	4 240
Monetary use 1990															
Maize	99	0	42	4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Finger millet	23	0	73	96	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sorghum	2	0	40	41	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rice	31	0	2	33	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Beans	36	0	139	175	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Field peas	0	0	5	5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cow peas	0	0	14	14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Pigeon peas	0	0	17	17	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Groundnuts	2	0	3	5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sim sim	0	0	30	31	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Soybean	0	0	12	12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
All bananas	116	0	1 575	1 4 9 1	_		_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	110	•	1 37 3	1 0 / 1	-	-									
Cassava	104	0	1 183	1 287	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cassava Sweet potato	104	0	I 183 195	1 287	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cassava Sweet potato Irish potato	104 23 28	0 0 0	I 183 195 52	1 287 218 79	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cassava Sweet potato Irish potato Sugar	104 23 28 323	0 0 0 0	I 183 I 183 I 195 52 0	1 287 218 79 323	-	-			-						-
Cassava Sweet potato Irish potato Sugar Tea	104 23 28 323 1	0 0 0 0 0	1 183 195 52 0	1 287 218 79 323	-	- - - - - -	-		-						-
Cassava Sweet potato Irish potato Sugar Tea Coffee	104 23 28 323 1 64	0 0 0 0 0 0	1 183 195 52 0 0	1 287 218 79 323 1 64		- - - - - - -		- - - - -	- - - - -	- - - - -	- - - - -	- - - - -			- - - - -
Cassava Sweet potato Irish potato Sugar Tea Coffee Tobacco	104 23 28 323 1 64 4	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 183 195 52 0 0 0	1 287 218 79 323 1 64 4		- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	- - - - - - - -				- - - - - -			- - - - - -	- - - - - - -
Cassava Sweet potato Irish potato Sugar Tea Coffee Tobacco Cotton	104 23 28 323 1 64 4	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 183 195 52 0 0 0 0	1 287 218 79 323 1 64 4						- - - - - - - -	- - - - - - -	- - - - - -			- - - - - - - - - - - -

Table 4.3 Monetary supply and use of crop provisioning services in 1990. Values are in constant 2017 UGX (billions).

		Economi	c units						E	cosystems					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Maize	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	821	0	0	821
Finger millet	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	50	0	0	50
Sorghum	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	58	0	0	58
Rice	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	180	0	0	180
Beans	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	595	0	0	595
Field peas	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	6
Cow peas	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	6
Pigeon peas	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	6
Groundnuts	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	12	0	0	12
Sim sim	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	27	0	0	27
Soybean	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	11	0	0	11
All bananas	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	243	0	0	I 243
Cassava	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	28	0	0	1 281
Sweet potato	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	329	0	0	329
Irish potato	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	76	0	0	76
Sugar	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2 921	0	0	2 921
Tea	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	0	10
Coffee	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	143	0	0	143
Tobacco	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	49	0	0	49
Cotton	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	3
Total	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7 829	0	0	7 829
Monetary use 2015															
Maize	578	0	243	821	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Finger millet	12	0	38	50	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sorghum	2	0	56	58	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rice	171	0	10	180	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Beans	122	0	473	595	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Field peas	0	0	6	6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cow peas	0	0	6	6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Pigeon peas	0	0	6	6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Groundnuts	5	0	8	12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sim sim	0	0	27	27	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Soybean	0	0	11	11	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
All bananas	85	0	58	1 243	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cassava	104	0	77	1 281	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sweet potato	35	0	294	329	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Irish potato	27	0	50	76	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sugar	2 921	0	0	2 921	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Теа	10	0	0	10	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coffee	143	0	0	143	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Tobacco	49	0	0	49	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cotton	3	0	0	3	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	4 267	0	3 562	7 829	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.4 Monetary supply and use of crop provisioning services in 2015, values in constant 2017 UGX (billions)

GRAZED BIOMASS/LIVESTOCK PROVISIONING SERVICES¹⁷

OVERVIEW

The ecosystem contribution to reared animal production is mainly in the form of natural fodder production and natural water sources, but may also include factors such as shade, etc. As for crops, the reduction of a complex set of services to a single physical measure is difficult. Some authors use the biomass of fodder consumed (termed "grazed biomass" in the SEEA EA) as a means to quantify the service in physical terms. However, this may be overly simplistic, as it is the combination of water availability and grazing resources as well as other factors that determine use and the value of the service. It is also possible to use livestock production as a proxy (much in the same way as done for crops, above), but this does not capture the variety of livestock products sold, such as milk and hides as well as meat, which all form part of the value of livestock production in the SNA. A better proxy, and one that is readily understood by policy makers, might be to quantify the service as the amount of livestock supported by the ecosystem. However, but this is a stock, so it is difficult to reconcile with a flow account.

In this study, the stocks of animals supported are estimated and mapped for information purposes, but for the accounts, the service flow was quantified in physical terms as tonnes of biomass consumed per year, although noting that this is not the only aspect of the service. The monetary value is estimated as the resource rent of livestock production and does encapsulate all of the ecosystem inputs, including fodder, water, shade, etc.

DATA AND METHODS

DATA SOURCES

No comprehensive livestock data exist for the two accounting years. The most recent district-level livestock population data were from the 2008 Livestock Census (MAAIF and UBOS, 2009). The 2018 Annual Agricultural Survey (UBOS, 2020a) provided the closest available estimates livestock production to 2015 at subnational (ZARDI) level. These were then aligned to the national livestock population totals in 2015 as reported by the Statistical Abstract (UBOS, 2020b). Only national-level livestock population estimates could be obtained for 1990, based on 1991 estimates in the 2008 census (MAAIF and UBOS, 2009) for goats and sheep. No 1991 estimate was given for cattle, hence FAO data was used instead. Livestock numbers from the Soil and Land Improvement Accounts (NEMA, 2021a) were not used due an inexplicably high reported increase in sheep numbers between 2009 and 2018 (1188%) and the fact that livestock numbers in the accounts were generally much lower than numbers reported in the original survey source data (MAAIF and UBOS, 2009; UBOS, 2020a).

¹⁷ Note that the SEEA EA currently gives two options to describe the ecosystem contributions to livestock production. The first is "grazed biomass" and the second is "livestock provisioning services". The difference is subtle, and the guidance for this service needs revision. The term "grazed" is a poor choice, since many livestock are browsers. Although we use the biomass consumed as a physical measure in the absence of a better measure that combines all the aspects of the services, we use the term "livestock provisioning services", since the full contribution of ecosystems is valued (including substrate, shade etc).

ESTIMATION AND MAPPING OF REARED ANIMALS AND GRAZED BIOMASS

As with crops, data from the 2008 census data (MAAIF and UBOS, 2009) was the only data point providing livestock numbers at a district level. To estimate livestock numbers in 1990, the 2008 district-level population estimates were projected backwards, based on trends in the national population size of cattle, goats and sheep between1990 and 2008. Since no subnational breakdown of livestock numbers between 1990 and 2008 could be obtained, a uniform back-casting factor was applied across all districts. To estimate 2015 livestock numbers at district-level, livestock numbers per ZARDI were first extracted from the 2018 agricultural survey (UBOS, 2020a) and adjusted by correction factors so that the national population of each livestock type matched the 2015 total population (UBOS, 2020b). The estimated 2015 livestock population per ZARDI was then divided by the total population per ZARDI from the 2008 census, to obtain projection factors for each ZARDI. Finally, these factors were then applied to the 2008 district-level livestock numbers, based on which ZARDI each district fell into.

Livestock numbers were converted to tropical livestock units (TLU; I TLU = live weight of 250 kg), which have been a standard measure of livestock biomass in tropical countries since the 1950s (Rothman-Ostrow et al 2020). Cattle are assumed to be 0.7 TLU/head while sheep and goats are 0.1 TLU/head. Annual grazed biomass consumption was then estimated using a standard conversion factor of 2.28 t of biomass per TLU per year, equivalent to a daily consumption of 0.025% of animal mass (Amsalu & Addisu, 2014; FAO, 2018a). This assumes that all fodder is grazed directly from ecosystems, which in this case includes farmland. Indeed, livestock may make some use of cultivated fodder, but the latter is not accounted for under crops. Given that the cost of fodder production has not been accounted for as input, this may lead to a slight overestimation of value for the service.

To map the district-level livestock estimates back to ecosystems, several rules were used. Firstly, it was assumed that only certain land cover types are suitable for livestock, namely woodland, bushland, grassland, farmland and wetland. For wetland, it was assumed that only 10% of wetland area is used for grazing, as wetlands in the land cover are mostly papyrus swamps where grazing would only be possible on the margins. In addition to being limited to certain land cover types, it was also conservatively assumed that livestock are excluded from protected areas, although some encroachment is likely. For mapping purposes, livestock numbers per district were divided by suitable area per district, producing a map of livestock density/ha, which was then converted to TLUs/ha and grazed biomass/ha.

VALUATION

The service was valued in terms of resource rents from the offtake of livestock. Farm gate prices for 1990 and 2015 were estimated based on the values and quantities provided in the Land and Soil Improvement Accounts 2009-2018 and are reported in UGX 2017 constant prices. According to the Land and Soil Improvement Accounts, the real price of livestock decreased by 1.3% yearly between 2009 and 2018. Resource rents were calculated by adjusting the market price for the costs of input for livestock production, including practicing controlled mating, paying for feed and water, using vaccines, using anti-parasites, and applying curative treatments. Average annual costs for inputs for livestock production paid by agricultural households was given in the Annual Agricultural Survey 2018 and used to estimate the resource rent on a national level. Cost of inputs are differentiated for cattle farming and small ruminants but not between sheep and goats. The same resource rent proportion (0.439) is applied for both sheep and goats. The resource rent proportion for cattle farming is 0.907.

RESULTS

A map of the grazed biomass production service in 2015 is shown in Figure 4.2, showing estimated quantity of grazed biomass per hectare. The highest quantities used are generally found in Karamoja in the northeast of the country. This is the driest part of Uganda where crop cultivation remains limited and pastoralism is still a dominant livelihood activity (FAO, 2018b). Grazed biomass per hectare was also estimated to be high in some wetter parts of the country, such as around Mount Elgon and Rwenzori. Even though households typically own small numbers of livestock in such areas, the higher absolute numbers of people here result in higher numbers of livestock (Benson & Mugarura, 2010). There were also some notable differences in livestock populations between the 2009 and 2018 datasets, which underlie some of the spatial patterns seen in Figure 4.2. For example, the cattle population in Serere ZARDI reported in the 2018 survey (UBOS, 2020a) is just 34% of the population in the 2008 census (MAAIF and UBOS, 2009), resulting in relatively low estimated grazed biomass values for 2015 in this ZARDI (Figure 4.2). Grazed biomass per ecosystem type is summarised in Table 4.6 and Table 4.7.

The estimated offtake of livestock from different ecosystems is summarised in Table 4.5. The total value of livestock provisioning services was estimated to be UGX 2866 billion in 1990 (Table 4.8) and UGX 5743 billion in 2015 (Table 4.9; all expressed in constant 2017 UGX).

	Wetland	Grassland	Bushland	Woodland	Farmland	TOTAL
1990						
Cattle (1000s)	16.9	I 483.8	513.1	587.4	2 402.1	5 003.4
Goats (1000s)	13.0	I 027.7	340.2	463.1	2 161.4	4 005.3
Sheep (1000s)	1.3	270.6	129.6	78.5	265.5	745.5
Total TLUs (1000s)	13.3	68.5	406. I	465.3	I 924.2	3 977.5
2015						
Cattle (1000s)	53.0	4 401.1	I 670.5	609.1	7 297.1	14 030.8
Goats (1000s)	60.2	4 448.6	1710.5	605.3	8 487.1	15 311.8
Sheep (1000s)	5.7	791.8	581.4	159.1	I 304.0	3 841.9
Total TLUs (1000s)	43.7	3 704.8	1 398.5	502.8	6 087.1	11 736.9

Table 4.5. Livestock offtake by ecosystem type for 1990 and 2015, in terms of actual numbers of cattle, goats and sheep, and total numbers in standardised tropical livestock units.



Figure 4.2. Variation in the amount of natural biomass consumed by livestock across Uganda in 2015, in t/ha/year.
		Ecor	nomy						E	cosystem					
Physical supply 1990		GOV	нн	Total	Water	Wetland	Grass	Bush	Wood	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	Built-	Bare	Total
Thysical supply 1770		001		TOtal	Water	VVCualiu	lanu	lanu	ianu	TUTESC	Tantation	Tarmanu	up	Dare	Totai
Grazed biomass (cattle)	-	-	-	-	0	27	2 368	819	937	0	0	3 834	0	0	7 985
Grazed biomass (goats)	-	-	-	-	0	3	234	78	106	0	0	493	0	0	913
Grazed biomass (sheep)	-	-	-	-	0	0	62	30	18	0	0	61	0	0	170
Total	-	-	-	-	0	30	2 664	926	1 061	0	0	4 387	0	0	9 069
Physical use 1990															
Grazed biomass (cattle)	639	0	7 347	7 985	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grazed biomass (goats)	73	0	840	913	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grazed biomass (sheep)	14	0	156	170	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	725	0	8 343	9 069	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.6 Physical supply and use of grazed biomass provisioning services in 1990

Table 4.7 Physical supply and use of grazed biomass provisioning services in 2015

		Econo	my						Ed	osystem					
							Grass	Bush	Wood	-	_		Built-	_	-
Physical supply 2015	IND	GOV	нн	l otal	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	l otal
Grazed biomass (cattle)	-	-	-	-	0	85	7 024	2 666	972	0	0	11 646	0	0	22 393
Grazed biomass (goats)	-	-	-	-	0	14	1014	390	138	0	0	I 935	0	0	3 491
Grazed biomass (sheep)	-	-	-	-	0	I	409	133	36	0	0	297	0	0	876
Total	-	-	-	-	0	100	8 447	3 189	46	0	0	13 879	0	0	26 760
Physical use 2015															
Grazed biomass (cattle)	79	0	20 602	22 393	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grazed biomass (goats)	279	0	3 212	3 491	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grazed biomass (sheep)	70	0	806	876	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	2 4	0	24 619	26 760	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

		Econo	omy						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Cattle	-	-	-	-	0	10	849	294	336	0	0	I 375	0	0	2 863
Goats	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	I	0	0	2
Sheep	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total	-	-	-	-	0	10	850	294	336	0	0	I 376	0	0	2 866
Monetary use 1990															
Cattle	229	0	2 634	2 863	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Goats	0	0	2	2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sheep	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	229	0	2 636	2 866	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.8 Monetary supply and use of grazed biomass provisioning services in 1990, values in constant 2017 UGX (billions)

Table 4.9 Monetary supply and use of grazed biomass provisioning services in 2015, values in constant 2017 UGX (billions)

		Econo	omy						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Cattle	-	-	-	-	0	22	I 799	683	249	0	0	2 983	0	0	5 736
Goats	-	-	-	-	0	0	I	I	0	0	0	3	0	0	5
Sheep	-	-	-	-	0	0	I	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	I
Total	-	-	-	-	0	22	1 801	684	249	0	0	2 987	0	0	5 743
Monetary use 2015															
Cattle	459	0	5 277	5 736	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Goats	0	0	5	5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sheep	0	0	I	I	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	459	0	5 283	5 743	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

AQUACULTURE PROVISIONING SERVICES

OVERVIEW OF THE SERVICE

Aquaculture provisioning services are the ecosystem contributions to the growth of animals and plants in aquaculture facilities (UN et al., 2021). Uganda has a growing aquaculture sector, which includes both pond and floating cage production systems (NEMA, 2021b). For the purposes of ecosystem service accounting, the focus here is limited to cage production systems in waterbodies, as it was unclear how values would be assigned to ecosystems for pond aquaculture since the ponds are generally too small to show up as water in the land cover data and are thus subsumed within terrestrial ecosystem types. In contrast, cage aquaculture operations are largely confined to a smaller number of locations within large waterbodies. The lack of spatial information on aquaculture pond locations does not present a problem for accounting at national level, as the value of all aquaculture could simply be added to the overall value of open water. However, it is an issue for accounting at basin and districtlevel, as the absence of any map of aquaculture ponds means that there is no way of spreading the value across basins or districts. For the purposes of this report, pond aquaculture could have been accounted for at national-level only. However, this would result in an undesirable discrepancy between the value of the service in the national-level accounts and the total value of the service across the basin and district-level accounts. Improved information on the location of aquaculture ponds would thus be needed to facilitate sub-national accounting for this service.

DATA AND METHODS

Cage aquaculture is still a relatively nascent industry in Uganda, with the first cages only being installed in 2006 (Adeleke *et al.*, 2020). The main operations are on Lake Victoria, according to the Fishery Accounts (NEMA, 2021b). However, there are also some cage operations on Lake Kyoga (Mbowa, Odokonyero & Munyaho, 2017) which are not mapped in the Fishery Accounts . Unfortunately, the Fishery Accounts do not indicate the breakdown of aquaculture production between cage and pond systems, only giving an overall production estimate for all aquaculture production. Since no breakdown of production was given in the Fishery Accounts, information on the contribution of cage systems to total aquaculture production was sought from other sources, as described below.

RESULTS

Total aquaculture production in 2015 was estimated to be 117 600 t in 2015 (NEMA, 2021b), up from just 52 t in 1990 (FAO, 2022b). Since no breakdown of production into pond and cage systems was given in the accounts, an attempt was made to gather this infromation from other sources. However, data on the contribution of cage aquaculture to overall production was limited and even contradictory, which may be a reflection of the emerging status of the industry. For example, one report gives an annual production figure for cage aquaculture of just 1349 t (Mbowa *et al.*, 2017), only 1% of overall annual aquaculture production as reported in the Fishery Accounts (NEMA, 2021b). However, another study of the aquaculture sector stated that farmed fish production in Uganda is almost exclusively from cages (Larive International and Asigma, 2022), suggesting a much higher contribution of cage systems to overall aquaculture production. In general, there seems to be a high level of uncertainty in aquaculture production statistics as a whole in Uganda, with many experts stating the production figures are grossly-overestimated while others argue figures are under-estimated (Bolman, van Duijn & Rutaisire, 2018). Given the scarcity of reliable information on the size of the cage aquaculture industry in Uganda, a final value for the aquaculture provisioning service was not estimated in this study.

WOOD PROVISIONING SERVICES

OVERVIEW

Wood provisioning services are the ecosystem contributions to the growth of woody biomass harvested from natural and cultivated (plantation) areas for various uses including timber and energy. The wood provisioning service used was quantified in physical terms as the amount of wood harvested for timber, poles, firewood and charcoal by households or businesses, inclusive of any discarded biomass. The service was valued in terms of the resource rent. All monetary values were calculated using producer prices, as stipulated in the SNA, and thus do not include any transport costs or margins added by wholesalers or retailers.

DATA AND METHODS

Data for this account were taken from the Wood Accounts (GoU, 2020a), the Statistical Abstracts (UBOS, 2018), the national censuses, and the National Charcoal Survey (Mugo *et al.*, 2016). While the Wood Accounts provide aggregate estimates of the production of timber, poles, firewood and charcoal at national scale, additional information was used to provide spatially disaggregated estimates to account for ecosystem services down to the district level. A literature review was first undertaken to source information as well as to help with interpretation of results.

Mapping the wood provisioning service was done by overlaying mapped estimates of commercial and household use. Commercial use was estimated by spreading the reported production figures in proportion to estimated stocks in areas available for commercial exploitation. Household use was estimated by first mapping the demand for resources, and then estimating use with a model that considered spatial variation in both demand and available stocks. Commercial and household use was mapped separately for firewood, charcoal (in terms of wood inputs), poles and timber, and the eight physical layers and eight monetary layers were then combined to estimate the total wood volumes used and their value, respectively.

LITERATURE REVIEW ON WOOD RESOURCES USE IN UGANDA

To model the wood provisioning service, a review of published literature, census data, Uganda's wood and forest resource accounts (GoU, 2020a) and other government reports relating to the use of woody resources in Uganda was conducted (e.g., MoWE, 2016). This information was then used to design and parametrise the models used to estimate and map the wood provisioning service. Some of the key information gathered from these studies is summarised below.

A major component of the wood provisioning service in Uganda is still used for subsistence purposes, thus making a crucial contribution to livelihoods. Most Ugandan households (rural and urban) still rely on wood fuel as their main source of energy, while most rural households still rely on locally-sourced poles and timber for construction (UBOS, 2018). Additionally, there is some commercial use of the wood provisioning service to produce poles and timber by industry. Overall, it was previously

estimated by UBOS that some 48.581 million tonnes of woody biomass, was produced in 2015.¹⁸, with a value of UGX876.789 billion (UBOS, 2016b). Of this, the vast majority (92.4%) of harvested woody biomass was used for fuel (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3. Final wood products, expressed as a percentage of total harvested woody biomass in 2016/17 (Source: UBOS 2018).

Both rural and urban households also use sawn timber for door and window frames and furniture. For example, around Mount Elgon, a study in the 1990s found that 86.5% of households used timber for construction, but this was mainly bought, with only 3% of households being involved in harvesting the timber (Scott, 1998). Hence, wood provisioning services to create and supply timber is used by industry, not households. The source of wood has gradually shifted from indigenous species harvested from natural forests, to wood grown in plantations and woodlots. Hardwoods have become scarce, and this is now largely imported from neighbouring countries such as the DRC. Some 80% of timber harvested in 2015 was illegal (i.e. cut without a licence, use of banned chain saws, and tax evasion (MVVE, 2016).

Uganda has a timber deficit, with demand exceeding supply. The most common species for timber in Uganda are *Maesopsis eminii*, *Melicia excelsa*, *Albizia coriaria*, *Chrysophyllum albidum*, *Lovoa trichiliodes*, *Funtumia elastica*, *Entandophragma angolense*, and *Podocarpus latifolius*. Demand for pine (*Pinus caribaea*, *Pinus patula*) has also increased in recent years. The sawn wood market was estimated to be 369 000m³ in 2015 (Turyahabwe et al., 2016). Most timber used domestically is for construction (80%) and furniture (10%). In the past, the main sources were government-owned forest plantations and natural forests in the Central Forest Reserves (CFRs) and Local Forest Reserves (LFRs). However, due to overexploitation, the trade relies increasingly on supply from private lands, which is poorly regulated. Timber supply is derived from woodland, forest and plantations. While the extent of plantations increased by 234% between 1990 and 2015, forest extent decreased by 35% and woodland extent by 66%. Tonnes per hectare derived from woodland increased by 2008% between 1990 and 2015, while

¹⁸ Note that the Wood Accounts (GoU, 2020a) used the same source data, but multiplied the charcoal value by 8 to estimate wood weight. However, that adjustment had already been made. This was verified through reference to the 2015 National Charcoal Survey, which estimated a dry weight of 2.1 million tonnes of charcoal was produced in 2015 (Mugo et *al.*, 2016). This corresponds well to the Statistical Abstracts which report a roundwood weight of about 12 million tonnes (UBOS, 2020b). Thus, it was concluded that multiplying the latter by 8 again was in error.

it increased by 937% for forests and 2923% for plantations. The increase in supply of timber per hectare of woodland and forest is concerning given the decline in the extent of these ecosystems.

By 2005, the supply of timber from natural forests was already declining, with more than 30% of tropical high forest being degraded. Pit sawing provided 90% of the sawn timber on the local market. The local timber market was estimated to be 240 000m³ (equivalent to 800 000 m³ of logs per year), which was twice the national sustainable allowable cut (Odokonyero, 2005). Despite a ban on timber exports, Kenya was the main market for Ugandan hardwoods, with exports dominated by mvule and mahogany.

Poles are widely used as a construction material, for building houses and for uses like fencing. In 2016/17, 28% of households in Uganda lived in dwellings with walls constructed from poles and mud, ranging from 1.6% in Kampala to 78.3% in Karamoja subregion (UBOS, 2018). In another Karamoja study, all respondents reported using wood for fencing (Egadu, Mucunguzi & Obua, 2007).

Uganda's high dependence on fuelwood is a result of the low level of electrification as well as the higher price of alternative energy sources like paraffin, kerosene, and electricity (where available). Firewood is the main energy source in rural areas, but due to scarcity in urban areas and higher incomes, most urban households depend on charcoal. In 2016/17, some 80.8% of rural households used firewood for cooking and 15.5% used charcoal, whereas in urban areas, 22.3% used firewood and 66.4% used charcoal (UBOS, 2018). Indeed, the State of Uganda's Forestry Report states that approximately 70% of charcoal is consumed in urban centres, with only 30% being consumed in rural areas (MWE, 2016). The supply and use tables show that the majority of wood provisioning services are used by households, with most of the use (66%) coming from firewood. Wood provisioning services are also used by industries to produce charcoal (16% of wood provisioning services) (Table 4.12; Table 4.13). Estimates for annual per capita fuelwood demand vary from 409 kg/year to 675 kg/year (Kayanja & Byarugaba, 2001; Walter, 2001; Drigo et al., 2013; Egeru, 2014; Gianvenuti & Vyamana, 2018). According to the Uganda National Household Surveys, households spent a total of UGX 13.967 billion and UGX 98.699 billion on firewood and charcoal, respectively, in 1996/7, and a total of UGX 310.44 billion and UGX 98.699 billion on firewood and charcoal, respectively, in 2009/10.

While rural households tend to source their own firewood, charcoal is a lucrative industry and is produced commercially for transport and sale to urban areas (MWE, 2016). This may be undertaken by local rural people, with some of the charcoal produced for their own accounts and some of it supplied to others, or by commercial harvesters travelling from other regions. In the ecosystem accounts use tables, charcoal production is therefore assigned to industry, not households. According to the National Charcoal Survey, of the over 100 tree and shrub species used, the major species are *Acacia hockii, Ficus natalensis, Albizia coriaria, Eucalyptus grandis, Combretum molle, Maesopsis eminii, Mangifera indica* and *Milicia excels* (Mugo *et al.*, 2016). There have been serious concerns about the sustainability of fuelwood harvesting since the 1980s. By then, firewood had already become scarce around a number of urban centres, with peri-urban households starting to resort to the use of crop residues. With growing urbanisation, the amount of wood provisioning services used for charcoal production has also increased, with detrimental impacts on forest and woodland ecosystems, including on slow-growing, indigenous hardwood trees (Naughton-Treves, Kammen & Chapman, 2007). For example, forest extent declined from 970 372 ha in 1990 to 631 005 ha in 2015 – a decline of 35% over 25 years.

ESTIMATION AND MAPPING OF USE BY COMMERCIAL BUSINESSES

Commercial harvests of timber, poles, charcoal and firewood in 2015 were estimated using the quantities reported in the Statistical Abstracts, expressed in terms of tonnes of roundwood. It is not explicitly stated whether these estimates include any illegal harvesting, and if so what proportion of the production figure this is thought to account for. In the case of charcoal, the breakdown of charcoal production per subregion was obtained from the National Charcoal Survey (Mugo et al., 2016). The national or subregional production was then mapped to the landscape in proportion to the availability of stocks (again taking land tenure into account). In the case of charcoal, the subregions used by Mugo et al. (2016) for reporting production had been modified somewhat from the normal subregion boundaries (for example, Acholi and Lango were reported together as Mid-Northern subregion). This required a custom subregion GIS layer to be produced for mapping charcoal use, based on the list of districts reported to be in each subregion as per Mugo et al. (2016). The 1990 national harvested quantities were estimated based on the Wood Accounts (with calculation errors corrected). In the absence of further information, it was assumed that the proportional breakdown of national charcoal production by subregion did not change between 1990 and 2015.

ESTIMATION AND MAPPING OF USE BY HOUSEHOLDS

Household harvests of woody resources were estimated in two steps: the mapping of woody resource stocks, and estimation of the level of use of these stocks. The stocks of woody resources were mapped based on estimates from the National Biomass Surveys. Biomass in small scale farmland, plantations, forests, woodland, bush and grassland habitats for each district was taken from the 2005 National Biomass Survey (NFA, 2009). Estimates for wetlands, built-up areas and commercial farmland were based on national averages from the 2002 National Biomass Survey (Drichi, 2002), as biomass estimates for these land cover types were not given in the 2005 survey.

The ecosystems to which stocks were mapped varied by resource. Firewood was mapped to all habitat types with woody biomass values in the Biomass Surveys, except for built-up areas and commercial farmland. Even though there may be woody plants present, it was assumed that biomass is not harvested for firewood from these land cover types. Charcoal stocks were limited to broad-leaved plantations, forest, woodland, bushland and small-scale farmland. It was assumed that grassland lacked sufficient tree cover for charcoal harvesting while coniferous (softwood) plantations were assumed to be unsuitable due to the preference for hardwood species in charcoal production (Naughton-Treves et al., 2007). This is supported by the National Charcoal Survey, which reported that Eucalyptus are used for charcoal production, but no pine or other coniferous species were reported (Mugo et al., 2016). Timber and commercial pole stocks were limited to habitats dominated by large trees (i.e. plantations, forests and woodland), as it was assumed other land cover types do not have sufficiently large trees for timber and commercial pole production. However, it was assumed that poles for rural household use can also be harvested from bushland and woody vegetation on small-scale farmland. This was firstly because smaller trees can be utilised to supply poles for household use. Secondly, if it was assumed that bushland and small-scale farmland contain no harvestable stocks for rural pole use, then a large portion of rural households would have no pole stocks within their harvesting radius, particularly in areas dominated by farmland and bushland. However, census data indicates that there is still a level of pole use by rural households in such areas.

Stock estimates for each resource were overlaid by land tenure, which was used to moderate the availability of wood resources for harvest. For example, woody resources in national parks were not considered accessible, while only a percentage of stocks in forest reserves were available for harvesting. The use of the resources was then mapped to the most likely source areas at a spatial scale that could be summarised by ecosystem for each of the EEAs (national, basins and districts). This was done separately for commercial and household use, as described below.

Rural household demand for firewood and poles was estimated at district level based on the proportion of households using these resources from census data, and the average demands per household from the Statistical Abstracts (UBOS, 2018). The demand was mapped to 100 m resolution based on spatial population data. The source areas of these resources were then mapped based using the spatial model developed by Turpie et al. (2021). The model assumes that households collect resources from their surrounds, based on distance and availability of the resource.

VALUATION OF SERVICE FLOWS

Unit prices for timber and poles were calculated from the Wood Accounts and Statistical Abstracts. However, in the case of firewood and charcoal, these were very different from the prices in the literature, including in the comprehensive study by Mugo *et al.* (2016). The latter study also provided detailed cost estimates which were used to derive the resource rent as 73% of market price for commercial actors. Resource rents for household use were assumed to be 95% of market price.

SUSTAINABILITY ADJUSTMENT FOR ASSET VALUATION

Limited information was found on sustainable wood yields. For timber harvesting, which is limited to trees with a large diameter at breast height (around 50 cm or more), a sustainable yield of I m³/ha/year is quoted in studies of natural forests in Uganda (Odokonyero, 2005; Nabonga, Namaalwa & Sssenyonjo, 2010). This amounts to around 0.5% of standing biomass. This figure was thus used as the sustainable yield for timber and commercially harvested poles from forest and woodland (Table 4.10). The sustainable timber yield from plantations was substantially higher, since plantation species have much faster growth rates. Based on local information, a timber rotation of around 15 years was assumed for Ugandan plantations (World Bank, 2020a, 2022; FAO, 2021). Additionally, it was estimated by World Bank (2020b) that transmission poles could be harvested after around eight years of growth, equivalent to 45% of the final timber harvest. Based on these assumptions, it was estimated that the sustainable annual yield of timber and commercial poles from plantations was around 10% of standing stocks.

Resource	Sustainable yield percentage of stocks
Roundwood (Forest)	0.5%
Roundwood (Plantations)	10%
Fuelwood (Wetland, Grassland, Bushland)	10%
Fuelwood (Woodland, Forest)	5%
Fuelwood (Plantation)	8%
Fuelwood (Farmland)	15%

Table 4.10. Sustainable yields (as a percentage of stocks) used for each resource.

Different sustainable yields were used for the harvesting of fuelwood (which includes commercial and household firewood as well as charcoal) and household (*i.e.* smaller) poles, as these can utilise a much broader range of size classes than commercially viable timber, including small trees and bushes which tend to have higher growth rates than very large mature trees. For natural ecosystems and farmland, sustainable yields for fuelwood and household pole harvesting were based on the mean annual increment (MAI) measurements for these ecosystems in Uganda's National Biomass Studies, ranging from 5% of standing stock in forest and woodland to 15% in farmland (Table 4.10). Even though plantations have higher MAIs, it was assumed they were managed largely for timber production. According to World Bank (2020b), 2% of stocks can be harvested each year without compromising the final timber harvest. Additional firewood can be harvested during thinning every three years, while

poles for household construction can be harvested after five years. These thinning events yield wood equivalent to 61% of the final timber harvest (World Bank, 2020a). Based on these assumptions, it was estimated that the sustainable harvest of fuelwood and household poles from plantations is around 8% of standing biomass. In 1990, timber harvesting was sustainable across all harvested areas. However, by 2015 timber harvesting was sustainable in only 27% of the timber producing area. Fuelwood was sustainably harvested in 78% of the harvested area in 1990, while it was sustainable in only 26% in 2015.

RESULTS

WOOD FOR TIMBER

Wood harvested for commercial timber production increased dramatically from 0.3 million tonnes in 1990 to 2.5 million tonnes in 2015 (GoU, 2020a; UBOS, 2020b). Over the same period, the available standing stock in land cover types suitable for timber harvesting declined by 74% due to significant conversion of forest and woodland, and to a lesser extent the formal gazettement of additional protected areas in the forested regions of Uganda. By 2015, most contiguous blocks of vegetation which could still support timber harvesting were limited to the intact larger forest reserves, due to the patchy distribution of forests, woodlands and plantations elsewhere (Figure 4.4). These include Budongo, Bugoma, Kasyoha-Kitomi and Mabira Central Forest Reserves. Outside of protected areas, the most notable regions that retain some timber stocks include woodland patches between Arua and Gulu and the Kafu River Valley southwest of Lake Kyoga. Notably, both these areas were also estimated to be experiencing severe charcoal harvesting pressures (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.4. Estimated variation in the annual harvest of timber across Uganda in 2015, in tonnes/ha/year.

POLES

Harvesting of poles by rural households was estimated to increase from 614 000 t in 1990 to 842 000 t in 2015 (Table 4.12; Table 4.13). While the 1990 estimate may seem high given that the rural population was much lower, it can be explained by the fact that the proportion of rural households using traditional construction materials was estimated to be much higher in 1990, based on the extrapolation of available census data. In contrast, commercial harvesting of poles increased significantly from 108 000 t in 1990 to 439 000 t in 2015 (Table 4.12; Table 4.13). The combined total harvesting of poles is shown in Figure 4.5. Harvesting was estimated to be particularly high around Mount Elgon, due to a combination of high rural population densities and relatively high proportions of households using traditional construction materials. Harvesting was also estimated to be high for Mabira and several other forest reserves in the west of the country, due to a combination of high rural population demand and high utilisable stocks of timber. The latter means that these forest reserves also had high estimates for commercial pole harvesting, given the national-level commercial demand was spread in proportion to available biomass stocks.



Figure 4.5. Estimated variation in the annual harvesting of wood resources for pole production for household and commercial use across Uganda in 2015, in tonnes/ha/year.

FIREWOOD

Some 1.8 million tonnes of woody biomass were harvested for commercial firewoood sales in 1990, increasing to 6.0 million tonnes in 2015 (Table 4.12; Table 4.13). In addition, rural households collected an estimated 10 million tonnes of firewood in 1990, increasing to 17 million tonnes in 2015 (Table 4.12; Table 4.13). The latter figure is significantly lower than the 25.6 million tonnes of household firewood consumption in 2015 reported in the Statistical Abstract (UBOS, 2020b), but slightly higher than the 14.8 million tonnes of firewood consumption estimated from the surveys conducted by Mugo et al., (2016). Meanwhile, the 1990 estimate is relatively close to the reported firewood consumption of 11.7 million tonnes in the Wood Accounts (GoU, 2020a).

Total harvesting of firewood (household and commercial) in 2015 is shown spatially in Figure 4.6, and largely reflects rural population density. Values are mostly high in the east of Uganda between Kampala and Mount Elgon, and in the southwest. Harvesting of firewood is in the more sparsely populated north and northeast of Uganda. Notably, harvesting is high in the immediate surroundings of several protected areas, including Mount Elgon, Rwenzori and Bwindi Impenentrable National Parks, indicating significant pressure on wood resources in these regions.



Figure 4.6. Estimated variation in the annual harvesting of firewood for household and commercial use across Uganda in 2015, in tonnes/ha/year.

WOOD USED FOR CHARCOAL PRODUCTION

Data in the Wood Accounts and the Statistical Abstracts indicate a fivefold increase in the amount of woody biomass harvested to produce charcoal, from 2.4 million tin 1990 to 12.0 million t in 2015 (GoU, 2020a; UBOS, 2020b). This large increase reflects both overall population growth and increasing urbanisation. Given widespread concern that charcoal harvesting is contributing significantly to deforestation, a comparison between charcoal demand at subregion level (Mugo et al., 2016; UBOS, 2020b) and the wood stocks estimated to be available, after adjustment for land tenure, was made Table 4.11. This shows that while charcoal use increased fivefold between 1990 and 2015, wood stocks available for charcoal harvesting declined by 55%. This is due to the conversion of high biomass woody habitats to cultivation and built-up areas, and to a smaller extent by the formal designation of additional protected areas between 1990 and 2015. As a result of the increase in demand and decline in supply, use of wood for charcoal increased from 0.8% of available stocks in 1990 to 8.7% of available stocks in 2015. Harvesting levels are particularly concerning for Central II (North Buganda) subregion, where wood consumption for charcoal was estimated to be 22.4% of available standing stocks. This well exceeds the annual biomass increments estimated in the 2002 Biomass Survey (Drichi, 2002), which found that annual biomass growth is generally less than 10% of standing stock for natural vegetation types. This highlights that charcoal demand alone is significantly depleting wood stocks in parts of Uganda, before accounting for firewood harvesting and other pressures on woody resources.

Subregion	Wood use 1990 ('000 t)	Wood use 2015 ('000 t)	Available stock 1990 ('000 t)	Available stock 2015 ('000 t)	% of available stock used 1990	% of available stock used 2015
Central I	109	546	24 856	13 618	0.4%	4.0%
Central II	I 059	5 285	44 820	23 586	2.4%	22.4%
East-Central	4	20	8 704	6 265	0.0%	0.3%
Eastern	31	157	7 913	8 045	0.4%	1.9%
Mid-Northern	601	3 000	43 746	20 332	1.4%	14.8%
North-East	23	114	9 858	6 552	0.2%	1.7%
West-Nile	254	I 267	20 561	10 708	1.2%	11.8%
Mid-Western	271	1 354	123 563	35 337	0.2%	3.8%
South-Western	44	219	23 712	13 806	0.2%	1.6%
Total	2 396	11 962	307 733	138 249	8.7%	0.8%

Table 4.11. Comparison of wood used for charcoal production (Mugo et *al.*, 2016; GoU, 2020a; UBOS, 2020b) and available wood stocks in suitable land cover types, after adjusting for land tenure

A map showing estimated wood harvesting for charcoal is shown in Figure 4.7. Harvesting was estimated to be highest in Centeral II (North Buganda) subregion (north of Kampala), which is where harvesting as a proprotion of available stocks was estimated to be very high (Table 4.11). This region includes several of the districts which make the greatest contribution to Kampala's charcaol supply, including Nakasongola and Nakaseke which alone are estimated to provide 32% of the charcoal supplied to Kampala (Mugo *et al.*, 2016). Harvesting of wood for charcoal was also estimated to be relatively high over the north and northwest of Uganda. Savanna vegetation in these areas also contributes to to charcoal use in Kampala, as well as supplying charcoal to local urban centres such as Gulu (Mugo *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 4.7. Estimated variation in the annual use of wood resources for charcoal production across Uganda in 2015, in tonnes/ha/year.

OVERALL USE OF WOODY BIOMASS PROVISIONING SERVICES

In total, it was estimated that 15.3 million tonnes of woody biomass were harvested across Uganda in 1990, increasing to 38.8 million tonnes in 2015, representing a 154% increase in wood harvesting. A map of the total amount of wood harvested for both commercial and subsistence purposes is shown in Figure 4.8. This represents the sum of all harvested wood inputs to the various major wood products in Uganda (firewood, charcoal, poles and timber). The supply and use of woody biomass provisioning services is summarised in Table 4.12 to Table 4.15.



Figure 4.8. Total biomass of wood harvested across Uganda in 2015

		Econo	omy						E	cosystem					
Physical supply				-			Grass	Bush	Wood	-			Built-	_	-
1990	IND	GOV	нн	l otal	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	l otal
Wood for timber															
(kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	106	215	2	0	0	0	324
Poles (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	28	111	160	23	400	0	0	722
Wood for charcoal															
(kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	64	I 029	883	7	413	0	0	2 396
Firewood (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	24	I 434	364	821	2 577	307	5 346	0	0	11 873
Total	-	-	-	-	0	24	I 434	455	3 067	3 835	339	6 160	0	0	15 315
Physical use 1990															
Wood for timber															
(kt/y)	324	0	0	324	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Poles (kt/y)	108	0	614	722	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wood for charcoal															
(kt/y)	2 396	0	0	2 396	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Firewood (kt/y)	I 787	0	10 086	11 873	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	4 6 1 5	0	10 700	15 315	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.12. Physical supply and use table for wood resources (in kilo tonnes (kt) = 1000 tonnes) for 1990.

		Econo	my						Ed	cosystem					
		601		T (1			Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		T ()
Physical supply 2015	IND	GOV	нн	I otal	water	vvetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	I otal
Wood for timber (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	768	45	233	0	0	0	2 453
Poles (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	88	205	339	91	560	0	0	I 282
Wood for charcoal															
(kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	367	2 575	2 602	245	5 172	0	0	11 962
Firewood (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	81	2 678	I 689	I 733	3 000	185	12 698	0	0	23 063
Total	-	-	-	-	0	81	2 678	3 44	5 281	7 392	I 755	18 429	0	0	38 760
Physical use 2015															
Wood for timber (kt/y)	2 453	0	0	2 453	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Poles (kt/y)	439	0	843	I 282	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wood for charcoal															
(kt/y)	11 962	0	0	11 962	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Firewood (kt/y)	6 020	0	17 043	23 063	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	20 874	0	17 887	38 760	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.13. Physical supply and use table for wood resources (in kilo tonnes (kt) = 1000 tonnes) for 2015.

		Econo	my						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply	IND	GOV	нн	Total	Water	Wetland	Grass land	Bush Iand	Wood land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	Built- up	Bare	Total
Wood for timber	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	П	22	0	0	0	0	34
Poles	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	2	7	10	1	24	0	0	44
Wood for charcoal	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	I	16	13	0	6	0	0	37
Firewood	-	-	-	-	0	0	8	2	П	15	2	31	0	0	69
Total	-	-	-	-	0	0	8	5	44	61	4	62	0	0	184
Monetary use 1990															
Wood for timber	34	0	0	34	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Poles	7	0	37	44	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wood for charcoal	37	0	0	37	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Firewood	10	0	59	69	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	87	0	96	184	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.14. Monetary supply and use table for wood resources for 1990; values in constant 2017 UGX (billions).

		Econo	my						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Wood for timber	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	403	760	122	0	0	0	I 285
Poles	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	27	63	104	28	172	0	0	393
Wood for charcoal	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	105	198	200	19	397	0	0	918
Firewood	-	-	-	-	0	2	78	49	51	88	35	372	0	0	676
Total	-	-	-	-	0	2	78	181	714	52	204	941	0	0	3 272
Monetary use 2015															
Wood for timber	I 285	0	0	I 285	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Poles	135	0	259	393	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wood for charcoal	918	0	0	918	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Firewood	176	0	499	676	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	2514	0	758	3 272	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.15. Monetary supply and use table for wood resources for 2015; values in constant 2017 UGX (billions)

WILD FISH AND OTHER NATURAL AQUATIC BIOMASS PROVISIONING SERVICES

OVERVIEW

Wild fish and other natural aquatic biomass provisioning services are the ecosystem contributions to the growth of these organisms that are captured in uncultivated production contexts. Fish make an important contribution to domestic protein consumption in Uganda, while the fishery sub-sector is the second largest foreign exchange earner for Uganda's economy, after coffee (Mbowa *et al.*, 2017). Uganda's extensive waterbody, wetland and perennial river systems support a significant wild capture fishery production industry.

DATA AND METHODS

ESTIMATION OF FISH CATCHES

Information on fish catches by waterbody are available from 2001 to 2018 in the Fishery Accounts (NEMA, 2021b). These present total fish catch across six lake and river systems with a seventh category for "other waterbodies". An estimate of fish catches for 1990 was obtained from FAO data (FAO, 2022b). The FAO estimates were generally similar to or identical to the catch estimates in the Fishery Accounts, suggesting that the two datasets are comparable. However, no breakdown of catches by waterbody is provided in the FAO data. It was also noted that for several years summation of the catch values by waterbody did not align with the reported catch total in the Fishery Accounts (NEMA, 2021b). In such cases, it was assumed that the catches per waterbody were correct, and that the error occurred with the summation step.

To estimate catch per waterbody in 1990, the mean proportional contribution of each waterbody to total fish catches between 2001 and 2015 was estimated from the data in the Fishery Accounts (NEMA, 2021b). These proportions were then applied to the total catch figure for 1990 from the FAO data to disaggregate national production down to the various waterbodies. To map 2015 and 1990 fish catches back to the landscape, the extent of each of the six lake and river systems was delineated in ArcGIS, based on the maps in the Fishery Accounts, and the total catch in each spread across total open water area as per the land cover. To spatialise catches in the "other waterbodies" grouping, the total area of open water outside of the six named lake and river systems was estimated, and catches then spread across this total area.

VALUATION OF SERVICE FLOWS

Fish prices were calculated from the physical and monetary supply and use tables in the Fishery Accounts (NEMA, 2021b). Resource rents were assumed to be 43% of market price based on revenue and cost data published for all waterbodies in 2015 in the Fishery Accounts (NEMA, 2021b).

SUSTAINABILITY ADJUSTMENT FOR ASSET VALUATION

In order to account for sustainability in the calculation of asset value, information about sustainable fish yields was taken from the 2021 Fisheries Resources Accounts for Uganda which show fish assets accounts for Lake Victoria in 2015/2016, including the opening stock (1 116 905 tonnes) for 2015 and the total additions to stock in 2015 and 2016 (a total addition of 289 132 tonnes over two years or 144 566 annually), which suggests a sustainable yield of roughly 13%. In the absence of further information it was assumed that the level sustainability was similar for all the lakes and across time.

RESULTS

Total capture fish production almost doubled from 245 000 t in 1990 to 455 000 t in 2015 (Table 4.16). Most of this was ascribed to industry (around 80%) while households accounted for around 20% of the catch (NEMA, 2021b). Lake Victoria contributed the largest share of capture fishery production. However, in terms of fish catches per open water area, Lake Albert and Lake Wamala were estimated to be the most productive lake systems.

Total monetary value of the service (in constant 2017 UGX billions) was estimated to be 0.1 and increased to 0.59 constant 2017 UGX billions in 2015 (Table 4.19 and Table 4.20).

The reported fish catch from Lake Victoria in 2015 (238 630 tonnes) was much higher than the estimated sustainable yield (ca. 145 000 tonnes).

Table 4.16. Wild capture fish production across the seven lake and river systems used in the fishery accounts

Waterbody/river system	1990 (t)	2015 (t)	
Lake Edward, George and Kazinga Channel	3 303	6 350	
Lake Victoria	122 122	238 630	
Lake Albert	78 037	149 040	
Lake Kyoga	24 751	41 770	
Lake Wamala	8 004	4 90	
Albert Nile	2 972	5 20	
Other waterbodies	6 035	9 770	
Total	245 223	454 870	

Table 4.17. Physical supply and use table for wild fish provisioning services, for 1990

		Econor	my						E	cosystem					
Physical supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Fish (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	245	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	245
Physical use 1990															
Fish (kt/y)	197	0	48	245	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.18. Physical supply and use table for wild fish provisioning services, for 2015

		Econor	ny		Ecosystem										
Physical supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Fish (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	455	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	455
Physical use 2015															
Fish (kt/y)	365	0	90	455	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.19. Monetary supply and use table for wild fish provisioning services, for 1990; values in constant 2017 UGX (millions)

		Econor	ny		Ecosystem										
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Fish	-	-	-	-	98.3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	98.3
Monetary use 1990															
Fish	79.0	0	19.4	98.3	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.20. Monetary supply and use table for wild fish provisioning services, for 2015; values in constant 2017 UGX (millions)

		Econo	my		Ecosystem										
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Fish	-	-	-	-	593	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	593
Monetary use 2015															
Fish	476	0	117	593	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

WILD ANIMALS, PLANTS AND OTHER BIOMASS PROVISIONING SERVICES

OVERVIEW

This service is the ecosystem contributions to the growth of wild animals, plants and other biomass captured and harvested in uncultivated production contexts (UN *et al.*, 2021). This account focuses on use by households who harvest wild plant and animal resources (other than wood and fish) for own consumption or informal trade and does not include sport hunting or bioprospecting. The use is quantified based on spatial estimates of the availability of resources across the landscape, coupled with spatial estimates of the aggregate household demand for resources. The supply of these harvested resources is a final ecosystem service and is valued as the equivalent market value of the harvest, less the costs of harvesting.

The capacity of the landscape to supply different types of wild resources is related to vegetation type and condition, availability of water and other factors. However, a number of other factors determine their use and value, and these vary in space and time. The accessibility of wild resources is determined by regulations such as land tenure and harvesting rights, by social norms and informal agreements, by geographic features such as topography and rivers, and man-made features such as roads. The demand for wild resources is influenced by the socio-economic circumstances of households and the prices of alternatives (MWE, 2016). Due to data constraints, few, if any, studies have modelled these factors comprehensively. For these accounts, estimates of capacity, accessibility, demand and use are made for seven groups of resources, as follows (Table 4.21).

Purpose	Group
Nutrition and health	Wild medicines
	Wild fruits and vegetables
	Mushrooms
	Wild honey
	Bushmeat (birds, reptiles and mammals)
Raw materials	Thatching grass/materials
	Reeds and sedges
	Bamboo

Table 4.21. Groupings of wild resources (other than woody and fishery resources)

Note that these accounts estimate the use of wild plant and animal resources for subsistence purposes or small-scale trade. The illegal commercial trade of high-value endangered or other species and products, which carry high social costs that counter the illicit gains, is not accounted for.

DATA AND METHODS

DATA SOURCES

Data were collated on the demand for different resources by households, the stocks and yields of these resources in the different habitat types of the study area, and the spatial distribution and characteristics of households in the study area. Very little of the harvesting of wild natural resources

is monitored in Uganda. Therefore, this estimation was based on ecological and socio-economic studies that have taken place in Uganda and in other areas with similar contexts. Available information on system yields, quantities harvested, harvesting costs and market prices for different resource types were obtained from the literature, using information from the study area as far as possible. Where data for Uganda were limited, then information from comparable socio-ecological systems in the broader region was used.

ESTIMATION OF RESOURCE STOCKS AVAILABLE FOR HARVEST

Spatial variation in resource stocks and yields per unit area were estimated based on information from the literature for ecosystem types corresponding to the different natural land cover classes of the Ugandan Land Cover series, in conjunction with information on vegetation types or species distributions, where appropriate. The land cover provides the most suitable primary data for the assessment, since it is based on satellite imagery of vegetation structure at the time of the account, whereas the vegetation map is a static description of the distribution of floral communities before the influence of man and in some areas bears little relationship to the vegetation present at the time period under study. However, combining land cover and vegetation types in 1990 and 2015 while adding further detail to the land cover categories. For example, bamboo stocks were mapped based on where forest and woodland land cover types overlapped with areas classified as bamboo in the vegetation map.

Numerous literature estimates were used for estimating natural resource stocks for different land cover/vegetation types as follows: wild medicines (Turpie et al., 2007); wild plant foods (Campbell, 1987; Chapman, Wrangham & Chapman, 1994; Nkuutu et al., 2000; Okia et al., 2008; Buyinza, Senjonga & Lusiba, 2010; Assefa & Abebe, 2011; Lovett, 2013; Naughton, Lovett & Mihelcic, 2015); mushrooms (Engola et al., 2007; de-Miguel et al., 2014; Degreef et al., 2016), wild honey (Schneider & Blyther, 1988; Jaffé et al., 2010; Vaudo et al., 2012; Ribeiro et al., 2019) ; bushmeat (Coe, Cumming & Phillipson, 1976; Barnes & Lahm, 1997; Monadjem, 1997; Chapman & Lambert, 2000; Plumptre & Cox, 2006; Kaschula & Shackleton, 2009; Treves et al., 2009; Plumptre et al., 2010; Wanyama et al., 2014), thatching grass (Bourlière & Hadley, 1970; Shackleton, 1990; Wronski, 2003; Mworia, Kinyamario & John, 2008; Verdoodt et al., 2009; Kyoshabire, Kizza & Rollanda, 2018); reeds and sedges (Thompson, Shewry & Woolhouse, 1979; Jones MB & Muthuri FM, 1997; Saunders, Jones & Kansiime, 2007) and bamboo (Bitariho & Mosango, 2005; Shiferaw, Kelbessa & Soromessa, 2011; Bitariho & Ssali, 2013). In the case of bushmeat, stock estimates per habitat also varied by protected area status, reflecting the fact that large wildlife are mostly limited to protected areas. Stock estimates for bushmeat in national parks drew on estimates for animal biomass conducted in strict protected areas. Stock estimates in other protected areas were lowered somewhat, drawing on the aerial surveys of Kidepo Valley (Wanyama et al., 2014) which compared wildlife densities in the national park and the surrounding Karenga Community Wildlife Area. Outside of protected areas, bushmeat stock estimates drew on estimates of small mammal and bird biomass in unprotected environments (Monadjem, 1997; Kaschula & Shackleton, 2009).

ESTIMATION AND MAPPING OF USE

All of the harvestable resources were considered fully available outside of protected areas. The assumed availability was reduced to 10% of standing stocks in national parks, 20% in other UWA protected area categories (game reserves and wildlife sanctuaries) and 50% in forest reserves. While the national parks have historically had a no-take policy for resources, most have experienced some level of unsanctioned resource extraction. Over time, various protected areas have introduced arrangements to allow controlled access to certain resources, particularly where parks are adjacent

to rural communities. More recently, resource harvesting agreements have also been introduced. However, there is no systematic data collection on legal or illegal resource harvesting in protected areas. Slightly higher availability was assumed for game reserves and wildlife sanctuaries than for national parks, based on the assumption that enforcement of harvesting restrictions is weaker. Finally, forest reserves were estimated to have the highest stock availability of the various PA categories, since a portion of forest reserves is formally set aside as buffer zones for resource harvesting (Howard et *al.*, 2000; Jjagwe, Kakembo & Bernard, 2021).

The quantities of resources harvested by subsistence and small-scale users from terrestrial and freshwater habitats was estimated based on the estimated household demand and available stocks in the landscape. Quantities demanded were estimated at the census district level, based on household survey data and census data on numbers and characteristics of households. Percentages of households using different types of resources was taken from the literature. Average demand for resources per household was estimated by multiplying the percentage of households per district using a resource with the average harvest of a resource per year per household per district.

Population data, urbanisation levels, household sizes and the proportion of houses with thatched roofs were available at district level from the 2014 census data and were used to estimate demand for resources in 2015. Population data for 1991 was taken from the 2014 census which broke population down from 1991 to 2014 by new districts. However, the 1991 census data were less detailed, providing only population numbers by district, and so the 2014 data were adjusted to estimate household numbers and characteristics in 1990 at the district level. Subregional data on urbanisation levels for 2014 and 1991 and on average household size for 2002 and 2014 were used to estimate the 1990 district level estimates, based on an extrapolation of trends.

The quantity of wild resources harvested for subsistence use was estimated based on the minimum of the estimated demand and the estimated available stocks of resources within approximately 6 km of the demand source, using the GIS-based method of Turpie et al. (2021*a,b*, 2022 in prep).

VALUATION OF SERVICE FLOWS

As per SEEA-EA guidelines, the estimated total amount of resources extracted was valued, irrespective of whether the estimated level of harvesting was sustainable or permitted. Total revenue was taken to be the market value of the resources harvested, irrespective of whether they were consumed or sold, using average prices obtained from the literature (Table 4.22). Based on estimations from Turpie et al. (1999), the resource rent of harvesting bush meat and honey was assumed to be 65%; resource rents for collected raw materials was 85%, and wild foods and medicines were assumed to have a resource rent of 95%.

Resource	Unit	Value per unit, 2017 UGX
Wild medicines	kg	7 282
Wild fruits and vegetables	kg	684
Mushrooms	kg	3 706
Wild honey	litre	3 891
Bushmeat	kg	4 705
Thatching grass	kg	178
Reeds and sedges	kg	178
Bamboo	stem	2 165

Table 4.22. Values used for natural resources harvested for 2015 resources, values are constant 2017 UGX

SUSTAINABLITY ADJUSTMENT IN ASSET VALUATION

Sustainability of the estimated harvest levels was estimated for bush meat and thatching grass only. The sustainable yield of bush meat was estimated to be 30% of the stock, based on studies from Ling & Milner-Gulland (2006) and Barychka *et al.* (2020). The sustainable yield of thatching grass was also estimated to be 30% (McKean, 2003). The sustainable yields of medicinal and food plants and honey were unknown and should be considered in future editions of the accounts. In the case of mushrooms and reeds and sedges, the sustainable yields were not known but harvests were expected to be relatively sustainable due to the growth patterns of these resources.

RESULTS

Brief descriptions of the use of the different types of resources are provided below, along with maps of the estimated harvested quantities in 2015 (Figure 4.9-Figure 4.16). Only the maps for 2015 are shown. The estimated harvests of wild plant foods, medicines, and bushmeat were high across most of the country, while those of thatching grass, bamboo, reeds and sedges were more localised because of limited ranges and habitats in which they are found.

WILD MEDICINES

At the national level, it is estimated that about 80% of Uganda's population uses traditional plant-based medicines (Kanabahita, 2001). This is particularly important in areas where access to modern medicine is generally lacking. Nevertheless, many people regard traditional plant medicines to be more effective than modern ones (Twinamatsiko *et al.*, 2014). While some medicines are mainly collected by traditional healers, there are other medicines that are commonly collected by households. This may underlie high variability in estimates of proportions of households harvesting medicinal plants across the region, from as low as 16% around Bwindi National Park (Harrison *et al.*, 2015) to 33% around Volcanoes (Nahayo, Ekise & Niyigena, 2013) and 49% around Kibale (Hartter, 2010) National Parks. In Nkasongola District, 54% of households indicated they obtain medicines from savanna woodlands (Kalema, 2010). Around Mount Elgon, 88% of households adjacent to the forest edge used plant medicines, while 78% of households further away from the forest were users (Scott, 1998). Based on available information, the estimated quantities of wild medicines used from different parts of the landscape are shown in Figure 4.9.



Figure 4.9. Estimated variation in the annual medicinal plant use across Uganda in 2015, in kg/ha/year.

WILD PLANT FOODS AND MUSHROOMS

Collection of wild fruits, vegetables, and mushrooms is a commonly mentioned activity for rural households across Uganda. This is particularly important for poorer households, and during periods of famine and drought, when they may provide an emergency food source, particularly in the drier parts of the country (Stites et al., 2007; Arensen, 2015). Important food species in the savanna areas of the country include the widely distributed desert date *Balanites aegyptiaca* and tamarind *Tamarindus indica*. As it bears both edible leaves and fruits and tolerates annual rainfall as low as 400 mm, *B. aegyptiaca* is a particularly important species to communities in the more arid parts of the country (Hall, 1992; Egeru, Okia & de Leeuw, 2014; Arensen, 2015). The African shea tree *Vitellaria paradoxica* is another important species in some parts of Uganda (Naughton et al., 2015). Shea fruits can be eaten directly, while the kernels are dried to make shea butter, which is prized as an edible oil, cooking fat, soap, cosmetics, and medicine (Booth & Wickens, 1988; Naughton et al., 2015). A substantial global demand for shea products in the cosmetic, pharmaceutical, and confectionary industries has also emerged, indicating the commercial potential of the species (Elias & Carney, 2007; Lovett, 2013). Mushrooms are also reportedly widely consumed where they are available.

availability and rates of household consumption, the estimated quantities of wild plant foods and mushrooms obtained across the landscape are shown in Figure 4.10 and Figure 4.11 respectively.



Figure 4.10. Estimated variation in the annual wild plant food use across Uganda in 2015, in kg/ha/year.



Figure 4.11. Estimated variation in the annual mushroom use across Uganda in 2015, in kg/ha/year.

WILD HONEY

Honey harvesting is a commonly reported activity across the country (e.g. Ayoo, Opio & Kakisa, 2013; Burns, Bekele & Akabwai, 2013; Egeru *et al.*, 2014; Visser *et al.*, 2017), with estimates of household participation ranging from 5-25% (Ndayambaje, 2002; Hatfield & Malleret-King, 2007; Rwamahe, 2008; Harrison *et al.*, 2015). Some protected areas in western areas of the country permit beekeeping, such as Bwindi and Mgahinga National Parks, where individuals with permits are legally allowed to harvest honey from designated multi-use zones (Harrison *et al.*, 2015; Bitariho, Sheil & Eilu, 2016). Honey sales have been found to provide significant supplementary income to beekeeping households around Bwindi National Park (Bitariho *et al.*, 2016). Based on available information, the estimated quantities of wild honey used from different parts of the landscape are shown in Figure 4.12.



Figure 4.12. Estimated variation in the annual wild honey use across Uganda in 2015, in litres/ha/year.

BUSHMEAT

Bushmeat hunting is also a common livelihood activity, providing an important source of protein to poor rural households who cannot afford meat from domestic animals, and a potentially valuable income source to households that sell it (Tumusiime *et al.*, 2010; Harrison, 2013; Twinamatsiko *et al.*, 2014). Kayanja & Byarugaba (2001) noted that bushmeat harvesting in Uganda is "significant, but largely unrecorded," which remains generally true today. Estimates of household involvement in bushmeat consumption are highly variable. The illegal nature of bushmeat is likely a contributing factor of this variability, leading to under-reporting of consumption and hunting. Cultural differences, varying availability of bushmeat species, and different levels of law enforcement effectiveness are likely to also underlie the variation in bushmeat consumption estimates. Around Murchison Falls National Park and Kafu Basin areas of western Uganda the proportion of households using bushmeat was fairly low, at 32% and 12% respectively, and it was generally not consumed often by these households (Olupot, McNeilage & Plumptre, 2009). About two-thirds of meat caught in these areas was sold by hunters. Around Mount Elgon in Uganda, similarly moderate consumption of bushmeat was reported by Scott

(1998), where 33% of households adjacent to the forest and 22% of households further away from the forest, consumed bushmeat. About 26% of households around Bwindi National Park (Harrison et al., 2015) reported consuming bushmeat. While data on consumption levels are scarce, some studies report declines in availability of bushmeat due to excessive hunting (Stites *et al.*, 2007). Based on available information, the estimated quantities of wild medicines used from different parts of the landscape are shown in Figure 4.13.

Total bushmeat stock (not including endangered species) was estimated to be 64 035 tonnes in 1990 and 58 787 tonnes in 2015. The harvesting of bushmeat was estimated to be sustainable in only 36% of harvested areas in 1990 and 32% of harvested areas in 2015.



Figure 4.13. Estimated variation in the annual bushmeat use across Uganda in 2015, in kg/ha/year.

THATCHING GRASS

The use of thatch varies depending on access to the resource. For example, it is not widely used in some forested districts (UBOS, 2018). The use of grass thatch is higher in the northern and eastern parts of the country, where usage of grass thatch is upwards of 80% of households (UBOS, 2018). The use of thatch is lower in the southern and western parts of the country (UBOS, 2018). Based on available information, the estimated quantities of thatching grass used from different parts of the landscape are shown in Figure 4.14.

The total stock of thatching grass was estimated to be 2 954 850 tonnes in 1990 and 2 446 484 tonnes in 2015. Harvesting of thatching grass was estimated to be sustainable in almost all harvested areas (99% in 1990 and 98% in 2015).



Figure 4.14. Estimated variation in the annual thatching grass use across Uganda in 2015, in kg/ha/year.

REEDS & SEDGES

As with thatching grass, the use of reeds and sedges (e.g., papyrus) varies depending on access to the resource. Where it is available, reeds and sedges are harvested for use in making sleeping mats and in constructing temporary fencing, walls or doors. This is an important resource along the shores of Lake Victoria, Lake Kyogo and in the northwest parts of the country along the Albert Nile. Based on available information, the estimated quantities of reeds and sedges used from different parts of the landscape are shown in Figure 4.15.



Figure 4.15. Estimated variation in the annual reed and sedges use across Uganda in 2015, in kg/ha/year.

ВАМВОО

Localized populations of African mountain bamboo Yushania alpina occur in high-altitude forest areas of Uganda (Nzigidahera, 2006; van der Hoek et al., 2019). The species is prized for a range of uses including handicrafts, furniture, rope, poles, and firewood (Bitariho & Mosango, 2005; Zhao et al., 2018). Sale of bamboo products is a primary livelihood for some individuals, with an average annual income of about US\$30 reported for bamboo harvesters using Echuya Forest Reserve in Uganda (Kalanzi et al., 2017). Stocks of bamboo in protected areas like Bwindi and Mgahinga National Parks

provide a source of rhizomes, which can be legally collected for on-farm planting by authorized community members (Bitariho & Mosango, 2005). Bamboo is of localized but high importance in the Mount Elgon region. Stems are harvested for a range of purposes, including construction, stakes for growing crops like beans and bananas, and for weaving into granaries and baskets (Scott, 1998). The shoots are also eaten, but the area's Bagisu are the only known ethnic group in Africa that regularly consumes bamboo. Bamboo on Mount Elgon is used to meet a large demand for shoots across Mbale District in Uganda (Scott, 1998). The importance of bamboo is reflected by the fact that 95% of households near the forest edge harvest shoots for eating and stems for construction. Due to the large demand for bamboo in the region, selling of shoots and stems also provides an important income source to many households living close to the Mount Elgon forests (Scott, 1998). Based on available information, the estimated quantities of bamboo used from different parts of the landscape are shown in Figure 4.16.



Figure 4.16. Estimated variation in the annual bamboo use across Uganda in 2015, in kg/ha/year.

OVERALL SUMMARY OF HARVESTS AND VALUE

The overall estimated use and value for 1990 and 2015 are summarised in Table 4.23 to Table 4.26. Provisioning of wild resources was estimated to be worth some UGX 147 393 million in 1990 and UGX 414 934 million in 2015 (in constant 2017 UGX; Table 4.25; Table 4.26). The value of provisioning of wild resources from forests and woodlands aligns well with an earlier estimate of the national value of NTFPs from woodlands and forests at UGX69 144 million/y (Bush, Nampindo & Aguti, 2004), as reported in the 2015 State of Uganda's Forestry Report (see MoWE, 2016). Note that the Bush et al. (2004) estimate was limited to forest and woodland only, and it also considered a narrower suite of NTFPs than those shown above. It is thus not surprising that a significantly value was estimated for NTFP harvesting in the present study. The increase in value of constant 2017 UGX 267 541 million over the 25-year period suggests an annual rate of increase of 4% per year from 1990 to 2015. Wild plant foods were found to be the most valuable resource harvested across the country followed by wild medicines and bushmeat. While wild plant foods were the most valuable, the increase in the value of these resources was lower than for thatching grass, reeds and sedges, and mushrooms, suggesting that these resources have become more valuable over time. This is as a result of increased numbers of people demanding these resources, as well as their increasing scarcity, which leads to real increases in price.

		Econo	omy						Ed	cosystem					
	1115	601/					Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		—
Physical supply 1990	IND	GOV	НН	l otal	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	l otal
Medicinal plants (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	483	4 160	I 278	3 991	2319	0	6 891	0	0	19 122
Wild plant foods (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	2 437	47 630	18 131	49 3 1 6	20 826	251	113 163	0	0	251 755
Mushrooms (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	2 390	378	I 355	843	69	3 261	0	0	8 296
Honey (kl/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	920	227	698	373	7	384	0	0	2 609
Bushmeat (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	347	4 256	930	2 694	I 285	14	3 499	0	0	13 026
Grass (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	579	13 265	2 145	6 293	0	0	10 563	0	0	32 844
Reeds (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	18 359	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	18 359
Bamboo ('000 stems/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	506	970	0	0	0	0	I 476
Physical use 1990															
Medicinal plants (t/y)	0	0	19 122	19 122	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wild plant foods (t/y)	0	0	251 755	251 755	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mushrooms (t/y)	0	0	8 296	8 296	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Honey (kl/y)	0	0	2 609	2 609	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bushmeat (t/y)	0	0	13 026	13 026	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grass (t/y)	0	0	32 844	32 844	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Reeds (t/y)	0	0	18 359	18 359	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bamboo ('000 stems/y)	0	0	I 476	I 476	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.23. Physical supply and use table for wild resources for 1990.
		Econo	omy						E	cosystem					
		601		T ()			Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		T ()
Physical supply 2015	IND	GOV	НН	l otal	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	l otal
Medicinal plants (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	I 150	3 234	3 599	2012	I 254	0	10 568	0	0	21816
Wild plant foods (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	4 879	35 266	41 289	22 396	9 796	713	156 272	0	0	270 61 1
Mushrooms (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	I 807	I 297	761	514	165	4 563	0	0	9 108
Honey (kl/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	921	546	263	146	26	491	0	0	2 393
Bushmeat (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	600	3 489	2 210	920	618	50	4 436	0	0	12 324
Grass (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	I 475	13 415	8 297	3 050	0	0	20 129	0	0	46 366
Reeds (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	20 526	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20 526
Bamboo ('000 stems/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	391	778	0	0	0	0	69
Physical use 2015															
Medicinal plants (t/y)	0	0	21816	21816	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wild plant foods (t/y)	0	0	270 61 1	270 611	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mushrooms (t/y)	0	0	9 1 0 8	9 108	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Honey (kl/y)	0	0	2 393	2 393	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bushmeat (t/y)	0	0	12 324	12 324	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grass (t/y)	0	0	46 366	46 366	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Reeds (t/y)	0	0	20 526	20 526	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bamboo ('000 stems/y)	0	0	69	69	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.24. Physical supply and use table for wild resources for 2015.

		Econo	omy						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
1990	IND	GOV	нн	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Medicinal plants	-	-	-	-	0	I 288	11 103	3 412	10 653	6 188	0	18 391	0	0	51 035
Wild plant foods	-	-	-	-	0	611	11 945	4 547	12 368	5 223	63	28 379	0	0	63 136
Mushrooms	-	-	-	-	0	0	3 247	513	I 840	1 145	93	4 429	0	0	11 268
Honey	-	-	-	-	0	0	898	221	681	364	7	375	0	0	2 546
Bushmeat	-	-	-	-	0	410	5 021	I 097	3 179	5 6	17	4 128	0	0	15 367
Grass	-	-	-	-	0	34	775	125	368	0	0	618	0	0	I 920
Reeds	-	-	-	-	0	I 073	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	I 073
Bamboo	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	359	688	0	0	0	0	I 047
Total	-	-	-	-	0	3 417	32 989	9915	29 447	15 124	180	56 321	0	0	147 393
Monetary use 1990															
Medicinal plants	0	0	51 035	51 035	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wild plant foods	0	0	63 36	63 136	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mushrooms	0	0	268	11 268	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Honey	0	0	2 546	2 546	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bushmeat	0	0	15 367	15 367	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grass	0	0	I 920	I 920	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Reeds	0	0	I 073	I 073	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bamboo	0	0	I 047	I 047	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	0	0	147 393	147 393	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.25. Monetary supply and use table for wild resources for 1990; values in constant 2017 UGX (millions)

		Econo	omy						Ed	osystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Medicinal plants	-	-	-	-	0	7 954	22 377	24 897	13 922	8 672	0	73 108	0	0	150 929
Wild plant foods	-	-	-	-	0	3 172	22 925	26 840	14 558	6 368	463	101 586	0	0	175 912
Mushrooms	-	-	-	-	0	0	6 362	4 568	2 680	1810	580	16 065	0	0	32 065
Honey	-	-	-	-	0	0	2 328	38	666	369	66	241	0	0	6 052
Bushmeat	-	-	-	-	0	I 833	10 671	6 760	2 815	89	153	13 565	0	0	37 688
Grass	-	-	-	-	0	224	2 033	I 257	462	0	0	3 050	0	0	7 026
Reeds	-	-	-	-	0	3 1 1 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3 110
Bamboo	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	719	43	0	0	0	0	2 5
Total	-	-	-	-	0	16 293	66 695	65 703	35 824	20 542	262	208 616	0	0	414 934
Monetary use 2015															
Medicinal plants	0	0	150 929	150 929	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wild plant foods	0	0	175 912	175 912	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mushrooms	0	0	32 065	32 065	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Honey	0	0	6 052	6 052	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bushmeat	0	0	37 688	37 688	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grass	0	0	7 026	7 026	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Reeds	0	0	3 0	3 1 1 0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bamboo	0	0	2 5	2 5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	0	0	414 934	414 934	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.26. Monetary supply and use table for wild resources for 2015; values in constant 2017 UGX (millions)

WATER SUPPLY

OVERVIEW

The water supply service reflects the combined ecosystem contributions of water flow regulation, water purification and other ecosystem services to the supply of water of appropriate quality to various users (UN et al., 2021). The SEEA EA allows for the supply of water *per* se to be recorded as a provisioning service. In this case, the water itself is valued, rather than the cost-savings in its provision due to moderation of the timing of flows, for example. In line with the SEEA, the contributions of ecosystems to water purification (through removal of excess nutrients) and to the regulation of groundwater recharge are valued separately as regulating services. In this section, the focus is on the provision of surface water to various users in Uganda. The final service is thus attributed solely to open water ecosystems.

DATA AND METHODS

Data on surface water use by different actors was obtained from the Water Accounts (UBOS, 2019) for 2015-2018. This was used in conjunction with census and land use data to estimate surface water abstraction in 1990 and 2015 within each drainage basin. In doing so, some modifications were made to the drainage basins layer used for accounting. For example, Kampala District straddles the Lake Victoria, Victoria Nile and Lake Kyoga basins. However, Lake Victoria is the main source of water for the city. For the purposes of estimating water use per drainage basin, the boundary of the Like Victoria basin was thus adjusted to include all of Kampala District. Modification was also made to the so-called "balancing area" basin, *i.e.* the boundary areas of Uganda which do not fall within the eight major drainage basins mapped by MWE. Since the balancing area extends across several disparate border regions of the country, it would be unrealistic to treat it as a single unit for estimating water demand. Hence, the balancing area was split into four different segments for mapping demand, one in the northwest corner of Uganda, two along the eastern boundary of Uganda, and one in the southeast corner of Uganda.

The Water Accounts include precipitation falling directly on to the landscape in their estimates of water use by the various sectors, based on summation of meteorological rainfall data. Direct use of precipitation in fact accounts for 99.97% of estimated water use in the accounts. However, only surface water abstraction is considered here since rainfall inputs to crop production are incorporated in crop provisioning services. Unfortunately, numerous errors were encountered in the physical use tables in UBOS (2019), including the table for 2015. This necessitated comparison with the 2017 physical use table (UBOS, 2021) to obtain water use estimates for certain sectors, which were projected back to 2015 as data allowed.

Estimates of water use by the various sectors are only given at national scale in the Water Accounts, requiring the use of various proxies to disaggregate use to the drainage basin level. The assumptions used for spatial disaggregation and projection back to 1990 are outlined in Table 4.27.

User group	Estimating 2015 use	Estimating 1990 use
Agriculture (Irrigation)	Spread across total area of commercial farmland in 2015	Total use estimated as a proportion of 2015 use based on the change in commercial farmland area between 1990 and 2015. Total use then spread across commercial farmland in 1990.
Agriculture (Livestock)	Spread in proportion to the numbers of TLUs in each basin as a percentage of the total 2015 population	Spread in proportion to the numbers of TLUs in each basin as a percentage of the total 1990 population
Agriculture (Forestry)	Spread in proportion to the total plantation area in each basin as a percentage of the national plantation area in 2015	Spread in proportion to the total plantation area in each basin as a percentage of the national plantation area in 1990
Agriculture (Fisheries)	Spread in proportion to the number of functional dams/ponds per basin in 2015, assuming that at least some of these are used for aquaculture production	Total water abstraction reduced in proportion to the difference in aquaculture production in 2015 and 1990. Abstraction then spread in proportion to the number of functional dams/ponds per basin in 1990
Crude oil and mining	Spread in proportion to the number of active mining leases per drainage basin as of 2015	Assumed to be 10% of 2015 use based on the near tenfold increase in number of mining licenses issued between 1999 and 2010 Based on MEMD data reported in the Uganda Mining Sector Profile)
Manufacturing, construction, accommodation, public administration, education, health and "other"	Assumed these largely take place in built- up areas, so use was spread across total built-up area in 2015	Total use estimated as a proportion of 2015 use based on the change in built-up area between 1990 and 2015. Total use then spread across built-up area in 1990
Households receiving distributed water from NWSC or other suppliers of distributed water	Assumed households receiving distributed water are largely urban. Urban population in 2014 estimated from census (UBOS, 2016a). Overlay of WorldPop population density and built- up area used to estimate proportion of Uganda's urban population in each basin. These proportions were then applied to the total use of distributed water by households, to estimate use per basin.	Total demand for 1990 estimated based on the change in Uganda's urban population between 1991 and 2014 from census data. Overlay of WorldPop population density data for 2000 (no earlier data available) and built-up area in 1990 used to estimate proportion of total 1990 urban population in each basin. As for 2015, these proportions were then applied to estimate basin-level demand from total estimated distributed household water use for 1990.
Household water abstracted for own use	Assumed households abstracting their own water are largely non-urban. Non- urban population estimated by subtracting the estimated urban population (as above) from the total population per basin in 2015. This was then used to calculate the proportional contribution of each basin to Uganda's non-urban population in 2015. These proportions were applied to the total abstraction for own use in Uganda to estimate use per basin.	Total household abstraction for own use in 1990 estimated from the change in population size between 1990 and 2015. Non-urban population in 1990 estimated by subtracting the estimated urban population (as above) from the total population per basin in 2015. As for 2015, these proportions were then applied to estimate basin-level demand from total estimated household abstraction for own use in 1990.
Water for sewerage and waste management	Assumed that demand for water in sewerage and waste management comes largely from urban areas, so use was spread across total built-up area in 2015	based on the change in built-up area between 1990 and 2015. Total use then spread across built-up area in 1990

Table 4.27. Methods used for spatial assignment of national-level water use data to drainage basins and adjustment of values from 2015 to 1990

The physical use tables divide water abstracted for "own use" in each sector by source *i.e.* surface water or groundwater. This refers to water abstracted directly by users in each industry or sector, as opposed to water that is distributed to the sector by water service providers. The latter is also reported, split into groundwater and surface water based on the proportional contributions of

groundwater and surface water to water used in "supply and distribution". The amount of water distributed to sectors is lower than the amount of water abstracted by the "Water Supply; Sewerage and Waste Management Activities Sector". It was thus assumed that the remaining portion of water, after subtracting the amount distributed for supply, corresponds to the amount of water abstracted for sewerage and waste management. Notably, water used by households is not split by source in the accounts. For households abstracting water for own use, it was assumed that 12.5% of this comes from surface water and the remainder from groundwater. This is based on UBOS household survey data, which reported that 25% of rural households used unimproved drinking water sources in 2016/2017, which includes unprotected wells and springs, rivers and lakes, vendors and water tankers. In the absence of additional information, it was assumed that half of the water in the "unimproved" source category comes from surface water sources.

MAPPING THE SOURCE AREAS OF WATER USED

It was assumed that the final ecosystem service of surface water supply is provided only by open water ecosystems. The total area of open water for each drainage basin in 1990 and 2015 was thus obtained from the land cover data. To allow surface water supply to be downscaled to district level, total surface water abstraction in each drainage basin was divided by total surface water area, in order to estimate abstraction/ha of open water. This approach is relatively simplistic, as it assumes all areas of open water contribute equally to meeting the basin-level demand. More detailed sub-national information on water abstraction would be required to achieve a more nuanced method. The resolution of the land cover data is another major limitation, as small dams/ponds and most rivers are not picked up as open water. This means that value excess is attributed to the larger waterbodies and few rivers that are actually mapped in the land cover data. More detailed information on both the use and supply (land cover) side of the water supply service would be required to improve the spatial accuracy of the mapping.

VALUATION

Water supply services to water service providers was valued in terms of resource rents, taking into account the variation in revenues accruing from different user types. Water prices for the different user types (apart from agriculture) were available from the National Water & Sewerage Corporation (NWSC)'s tariff guide for 2022 and converted to UGX 2017 values. Prices were available for domestic water users, institutions, and commercial and industrial entities. To price agricultural water, the average price for domestic and industrial water users was applied. Prices used are shown below (Table 4.28). In 2020, a technical and financial review of the NWSC by the Public-Private Infrastructure Advisory Facility (PPIAF) which is administered by the World Bank showed that NWSC's operating margin is around 20% on average (PPIAF, 2022). We used this percentage for the resource rent calculations. Water supply to households that collected their own water was valued in terms of the price of distributed water, as a replacement cost.

Water user	Price per m ³ (UGX)
Domestic	3102
Institutions	3139
Commercial	3350
Agriculture	3002
Industrial	2902

Table 4.28. Water prices (per m³) per water user group in constant UGX 2017.

RESULTS

Total surface water abstraction by relevant sectors was estimated to be 560 585 thousand m³ in 2015 (UBOS, 2019, 2021). Using the back-projection approaches described above, surface water abstraction in 1990 was estimated to be 140 023 thousand m³, or a quarter of the 2015 estimate. The major reasons for the much lower estimated surface water abstraction in 1990 include the much smaller commercial farmland area (resulting in lower demand for water in irrigation), the negligible size of the aquaculture industry at the time (resulting in very low abstraction by fisheries) and the much smaller number of domestic urban consumers (resulting in lower demand from urban households).

Sector	1990 (m³ 000's)	2015 (m ³ 000's)
Agriculture (Irrigation)	104 263	390 559
Agriculture (Livestock)	3 970	7 4
Agriculture (Forestry)	986	3 295
Agriculture (Fisheries)	36 629	16
Crude oil and Mining	180	I 804
Manufacturing (Food and Beverages)	2 622	9 858
Manufacturing (Other)	2 216	8 332
Construction	I 993	7 494
Accommodation	321	I 207
Public Administration	4 446	16 719
Education	201	757
Health	367	I 380
Other	I 189	4 470
Urban households	756	52 287
Other households	4 209	9 238
Sewage and waste management	I 287	4 841
Total	140 023	560 585

Table 4.29. Surface water abstraction (in thousands of m³) by various sectors based on Uganda's Water Accounts (UBOS, 2019; 2021), with back-projection to 1990.

Table 4.30. Physical supply and use table of the water supply ecosystem service, for 19	90
---	----

		Econo	my		Ecosystem										
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Physical supply 1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Water (ML)	-	-	-	-	140 021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	140 021
Physical use 1990															
Water (ML)	117 754	6 302	15 965	140 021	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.31. Physical supply and use table of the water supply ecosystem service, for 2015

		Econo	my		Ecosystem										
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Physical supply 2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Water (ML)	-	-	-	-	560 577	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	560 577
Physical use 2015															
Water (ML)	475 358	23 696	61 524	560 577	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.32. Monetary supply and use table of the water supply ecosystem service, for 1990; values in constant 2017 UGX billions

		Econor	my						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Water	-	-	-	-	84.5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	84.5
Monetary use 1990															
Water	70.7	4.0	9.9	84.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.33. Monetary supply and use table of the water supply ecosystem service, for 2015; values in constant 2017 UGX billions

		Econo	my		Ecosystem										
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Water	-	-	-	-	338	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	338
Monetary use 2015															
Water	285	14.9	38.2	338	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

GLOBAL CLIMATE REGULATION: CARBON RETENTION

OVERVIEW

Global climate regulation services are ecosystem contributions to reducing concentrations of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere through the removal (sequestration) from the atmosphere and retention (storage) of carbon in biomass and soils (UN *et al.*, 2021). Carbon accumulates in vegetation biomass through plant growth, and also accumulates in soils and peat as a result of the production of leaf litter and partially decayed biomass. Certain ecosystem types, such as forests and wetlands, can hold very high quantities of carbon. Conversely, when vegetation is disturbed or removed, CO₂ is released into the atmosphere, contributing to global climate change. Indeed, the loss of forests is responsible for about 12–17% of the world's greenhouse gas emissions (Nakakaawa, Vedeld & Aune, 2011). It has been estimated that the carbon stocks in Uganda decreased by some 850 million tons between 2006 and 2010 as a result of the conversion of forested land to other land uses (Zhang et al., 2017). Where ecosystems are in decline, such as is the case in Uganda, the SEEA EA advises that the focus of the measurement should be placed on carbon retention. Carbon retention is valued in terms of the global social cost of carbon.

DATA AND METHODS

QUANTIFICATION IN PHYSICAL TERMS

This account draws on the physical carbon accounts that were compiled for 1990 – 2015 by GoU (2020b), while adding additional spatial detail to the carbon stock estimates as well as using supplementary data sources. These were based on changes in land cover, and the data collected in the Ugandan National Biomass Surveys (Drichi, 2002; NFA, 2009; GoU, 2021b), and values given in Willcock *et al.* (2012).

The total carbon retention was calculated using estimates of aboveground, belowground, soil and dead organic matter stocks. Aboveground carbon estimates were based on aboveground woody biomass (eg. stems and branches). Estimates of mean aboveground biomass (AGB) in small scale farmland, plantations, forests, woodland, bushland and grassland ecosystem types were calculated at district level, using information taken from the 2005 National Biomass Survey, which contains comprehensive information on the biomass of different land cover types across Uganda. (NFA, 2009). In the absence of such detailed national-level data for 1990 and 2015, this approach assumes that *average* biomass per hectare of each ecosystem type is comparable across years. Changes in carbon stocks between years thus result from changes in the extent of each ecosystem at district level. Aboveground biomass estimates for wetlands, built-up areas and large-scale farmland were based on national averages from the 2002 National Biomass Survey (Drichi, 2002), as these were excluded from the 2005 survey. This still represents a more detailed approach than previous ecosystem accounting in Uganda, which used a single national mean for average biomass in all land cover types (GoU, 2020b).

Belowground biomass (BGB) (eg. Roots) was calculated from AGB according to the root-shoot ratios for comparable ecosystem types as reported in the IPCC guidelines (IPCC, 2006, 2019), ranging from 0.27 for farmland to 1.58 in grassland. This is again more detailed than earlier accounting work, which simply used a relatively low root-shoot ratio of 0.24 for all land cover types (GoU, 2020b). Above and belowground biomass were converted to tonnes of carbon using a 50% conversion factor (IPCC, 2006).

Estimates of carbon stored in dead organic matter (e.g. leaf litter) for each habitat were based on the values used in GoU (2020b), which were originally derived from Willcock *et al.* (2012). Lacking further information, the same national level averages for each land cover type as reported in GoU (2020b) were used in the current study.

Soil organic carbon (SOC) stocks were derived from the Global Soil Organic Carbon (GSOC) Map (FAO & ITPS, 2018), which provides SOC estimates for the topsoil layer (0 – 30 cm depth). Mean SOC for each land cover type were calculated at district level in ArcGIS. This approach was considered to provide more accurate and spatially disaggregated estimates than the single estimates per land cover class used by GoU (2020b), again derived from Willcock *et al* 2012). For example, small-scale farmland was estimated to have one of the highest values for SOC/ha in GoU (2020b), second only to THF well stocked. In contrast, the GSOC map showed high variation in SOC stocks in farmland, ranging from moderately high values in certain wetter parts of the country to low SOC stocks in dry regions, with SOC in farmland generally lower than in neighbouring natural habitats. An exception was made for wetlands, which were estimated to have very high SOC stocks in previous work (Willcock *et al.*, 2012; GoU, 2020b), based on case studies of papyrus swamps in East Africa (Jones MB & Muthuri FM, 1997). This localised phenomenon was not fully captured in the GSOC map, hence the use of the alternative estimate.

Mean carbon stocks per land cover were then mapped down to district-level in ArcGIS, based on the stock estimates for the four different carbon pools (AGB, BGB, SOC and dead organic matter) which were calculated as described above. Estimated carbon storage by ecosystem type is shown in Table 4.34. Forest was estimated to have the highest carbon storage per hectare, followed by wetlands, due to organic rich wetland soils. Excluding water and bare areas (mostly bare rock hence no soil carbon estimate), farmland was estimated to have the lowest carbon storage per hectare. Built-up areas had comparatively higher carbon storage values due to the presence of urban trees.

Ecosystem	Mean AGB (tC/ha)	Mean BGB (tC/ha)	Deadwood and litter (tC/ha)	Mean SOC (tC/ha)	Total Carbon (tC/ha)
Open Water	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Wetland	0.2	0.3	5.7	148.2	154.5
Grassland	3.2	5.1	0.8	55.8	65.0
Bushland	4.6	1.8	15.0	54.4	75.8
Woodland	16.1	4.5	21.1	59.7	101.4
Forest	111.6	59.4	12.8	73.6	257.3
Plantation	49.3	18.2	5.3	57.0	129.9
Farmland	2.1	0.6	0.3	54.7	57.6
Built-up	11.8	4.6	0.0	50.3	66.7
Bare	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Table 4.34. Mean carbon storage per hectare in aboveground biomass (AGB), belowground biomass (BGB), deadwood and litter, and Soil Organic Carbon (SOC) by ecosystem type. Sources: Drichi, 2002; IPCC, 2006; NFA, 2009; FAO & ITPS, 2018; GoU, 2020b.

VALUATION IN MONETARY TERMS

There are at least three possible ways of estimating the value of carbon sequestered or retained:

- i. the market value of that carbon revealed in the trade of carbon credits;
- ii. the marginal abatement cost of carbon, which is the avoided costs incurred in meeting carbon reduction targets through changes in technology; or
- iii. the avoided damages by the contribution of that carbon to climate change, termed the "social cost of carbon" (SCC).

Market prices can be used in the accounts, where carbon credits have been sold in return for adopting cleaner technologies or securing carbon in ecosystems. However, since carbon storage and sequestration is still largely a public good and markets are not fully developed, this will result in an undervaluation of the ecosystem services.

The marginal cost of abatement (the cost of implementing technology changes to reduce emissions from industry and other sources) is an estimate of the costs avoided for countries that have to meet emissions reductions targets. This is one of the preferred methods for valuing carbon in project and policy analysis in the North. For example, one might want to compare the value of restoring a degraded forest in terms of carbon gains with what would otherwise have to be spent to reduce carbon emissions by the same amount. The value is calculated by estimating the value of each next most affordable means of reducing carbon up to the point at which the target is met. The cost per unit reduction at that point is the marginal abatement cost used. For example, in the United Kingdom, this value is between £124 and £373 per tonne of CO_2 emitted in 2022 (and rising over time).¹⁹.

The social cost of carbon is based on estimates of the total cost to society of each extra tonne of CO_2 emitted, based on estimates of the total cost of climate change impacts. The SCC is the discounted present value of the cumulative impact of one additional ton of carbon dioxide emitted into the atmosphere today over its residence time in the atmosphere (Watkiss *et al.* 2005). The calculation is typically done over a time frame of 100 years. The value is typically estimated in terms of reductions in GDP, which is a directly compatible measure for ecosystem accounting. Estimates of SCC vary depending on the choice of climate models, the approach to valuing damages and the discount rate used and range from about US\$10 to over US\$1000/tCO₂. By 2008, there were at least 232 published estimates of SCC, the average of which was about US\$33/tCO₂ (Tol 2008). In an effort to refine these estimates, the more recent literature has also tended to broaden the types of damage costs considered, increasing the estimates of SCC.

It should be noted that the damage costs per tCO_2 also increase in real terms over time, as populations and per capita incomes grow, and thus it is strictly correct to see the estimate being specified in terms of the year of emission. For example, using the Dynamic Integrated model of Climate and the Economy (DICE) model, Nordhaus (2017) provided updated estimates of the SCC for a ton of CO₂ emitted in 2015 (US\$31.25/tCO₂ in 2010 US\$) and also for CO₂ emissions in a range of future years. These values increased at a real growth rate of 3% per year. The SCC estimate should therefore correspond to the year of the account, as carbon retained in the environment will increase in real value over time.

More recent studies have also attempted to disaggregate these global SCC estimates to regional or country level. For example, Nordhaus (2017) provided an updated estimate of global SCC as

¹⁹ Valuation of greenhouse gas emissions: for policy appraisal and evaluation - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

US $31/tCO_2$ and estimated that 3% of this would be borne in Africa. Ricke *et al.* (2018) estimated the global SCC as US $417/tCO_2$, and disaggregated this to country-level, with the estimated cost to Uganda being US $80.84/tCO_2$.

For this account, carbon retention was valued in terms of the annualised global SCC, based on the modest estimates of Nordhaus (2017). The SCC estimates were adjusted at a rate of 3% per year to derive prices for 1990 and 2015, which in 2010 US\$ were 2015 = 31.25, 1990 = 14.93. However, for the supply and use tables, values must be determined for the year in question. Thus, the annualised social cost of carbon (ASCC) was then estimated as:

$$ASCC = \frac{(\delta * SCC)}{(1 - (1 + \delta)^{-t})}$$

where δ is the discount rate, and t is the time period of the SCC calculation in years. For this study, it was assumed t = 100 years, and a social rate of discount of 4.06% was used.

RESULTS

After making the adjustment to the 1990 land cover described above, it was estimated that total carbon retention in Uganda decreased from 2171 Megatonnes (Mt) in 1990 to 1943 Mt in 2015 (Table 4.35; Table 4.36), representing a loss of 10.5% of the carbon stored in the country over this period. Given the reported trends in the extent of high biomass habitats in Uganda (such as forest, woodland and wetlands), this appears to be a much more credible result than the initial estimate of a 0.2% decline in carbon storage before the adjustment to the wetland area in 1990 had been made. The carbon estimates need to be further improved by incorporating measures of ecosystem health, particularly for wetlands, which could have a major effect on how much carbon is actually stored.

The spatial variation in ecosystem carbon is shown in Figure 4.17. Areas with the highest carbon retention values correspond with forest and wetland ecosystems. In many areas, there is a visible blockiness to the map associated with district boundaries. This is due to the different biomass per hectare estimates at district level derived from the National Biomass Survey (Drichi, 2002; NFA, 2009)

The value of carbon retention is estimated to have increased from UGX 4.8 trillion in 1990 to 9.1 trillion in 2015 (constant 2017 UGX; Table 4.37; Table 4.38). This increase is partly due to the slight overall increase in carbon stocks, but is largely as a result of the real increase in value of carbon over time. The value of this service is recorded as accruing to government, as they can participate voluntarily in the international carbon markets and sell carbon credits.



Figure 4.17. Carbon stored in above ground biomass, below ground biomass, soil and dead organic matter across Uganda in 2015, in tonnes/ha/year.

Table 4.35. Physical supply and use table of carbon retention, for 1990

		Econo	my						E	cosystem					
Physical supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Carbon retention (Mt)	-	-	-	-	0	346	505	124	369	293	4	527	2	0	2 171
Physical use 1990															
Carbon retention (Mt)	0	2 171	0	2 7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.36. Physical supply and use table of carbon retention, for 2015

		Econo	ny						E	cosystem					
Physical supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Carbon retention (Mt)	-	-	-	-	0	524	321	147	122	195	15	611	9	0	1 943
Physical use 2015															
Carbon retention (Mt)	0	1 943	0	I 943	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.37. Monetary supply and use table for carbon retention, for 1990; values in constant 2017 UGX billions

		Econor	ny						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Carbon retention	-	-	-	-	0	772	26	276	824	653	10	175	5	0	4 840
Monetary use 1990															
Carbon retention	0	4 840	0	4 840	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.38. Monetary supply and use table for carbon retention, for 2015; values in constant 2017 UGX billions

		Econor	my						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Carbon retention	-	-	-	-	0	2 445	I 499	686	567	908	68	2 850	41	0	9 064
Monetary use 2015															
Carbon retention	0	9 064	0	9 064	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

SOIL AND SEDIMENT RETENTION SERVICES: SOIL EROSION CONTROL

OVERVIEW

Soil erosion control services are "the ecosystem contributions, particularly the stabilising effects of vegetation, that reduce the loss of soil (and sediment) and support use of the environment (e.g. agricultural activity, water supply)" (UN et al. 2021).

Agricultural expansion, encroachment into natural wetlands and the removal of natural vegetation result in elevated levels of erosion and subsequent increases in sediment loads being carried downstream. These sediments are then deposited in downstream rivers, lakes and reservoirs, reducing their depth and storage capacity. Elevated loads of suspended sediments also contribute to water quality problems and increase wear and tear on hydropower generation structures (Pimentel et al., 1995). The extent to which sediments end up in river systems is determined by several factors including soils, rainfall patterns (amount and intensity), slope and the type and amount of vegetative cover. Vegetative cover prevents erosion by stabilizing soil and by intercepting rainfall, thereby reducing its erosivity. This is particularly valuable where soils are highly erodible. Vegetated areas, especially wetlands, may also capture the sediments that are eroded from agricultural and degraded lands and transported in surface flows, preventing them from entering streams and rivers (Gathagu, Sang & Maina, 2018). While some level of sedimentation of reservoirs is expected under natural conditions and planned for, elevated catchment erosion either incurs dredging costs or shortens the projected lifespan of reservoirs and related infrastructure. Globally, anthropogenic sedimentation has been estimated to account for about 37% of the annual costs of reservoirs (i.e. \$21 billion) in terms of replacement costs (Basson, 2010). In urban contexts, elevated sediment loads also have to be removed from sewerage systems, storm water drainage systems and harbours.

In this account, sediment retention services are measured in terms of the avoided export of sediment to rivers and lakes relative to a no-service scenario, measured in cubic metres of sediment. The service is usually valued using the avoided costs or replacement cost approach. In this account, sediment retention services are valued in terms of the avoided costs of constructing measures to prevent damaging sediments from reaching waterbodies where the service would be demanded.

DATA AND METHODS

PHYSICAL MODELLING OF SEDIMENT RETENTION

Sediment outputs were modelled using the InVEST Sediment Delivery Ratio (SDR) model. The model first estimates potential annual soil loss from each 100 m pixel using the Universal Soil Loss Equation (USLE) (Wischmeier & Smith, 1978), which requires information on topography, rainfall erosivity, soil erodibility and land cover. Rainfall erosivity was mapped using the global layer produced by Panagos et *al.* (2017). Soil property data (sand, silt, clay and organic matter content obtained from the Africa Soil Information Service (AfSIS) (Hengl *et al.*, 2015). Soil erodibility was calculated from these various soil properties through the same equations used in the soil erosion risk assessment of Uganda by Karamage *et al.* (2017). Cover management and support practice factors for the different land cover classes were based on prior InVEST modelling work (GoU, 2020b) with some modifications. Potential soil loss from each pixel is then multiplied by the SDR which has a value between 0 and 1. The SDR estimates the proportion of eroded soil from each pixel which actually ends up reaching a watercourse, after accounting for downslope deposition. The SDR is also calculated on a per pixel level and varies as a function of the intervening topography and land cover between a given pixel and the nearest

watercourse. The model thus incorporates both the ability of vegetation cover to reduce erosion in the first place, as well as the ability of vegetation to capture and retain sediment eroded upslope.

Sediment export was firstly modelled for existing land cover in 1990 and 2015. To estimate the sediment retention service provided by ecosystems, sediment export from a bare landscape was then modelled by adjusting the cover management factors for all land cover classes (excluding built-up areas) to reflect the total absence of vegetation cover. Built-up areas were not modified in the bare scenario, as the change in sediment export with the removal of built infrastructure was not considered relevant for ecosystem accounting purposes. The amount of sediment retained by ecosystems was then calculated by subtracting modelled sediment export in 1990 and 2015 from sediment export in the bare landscape scenario.

MAPPING OF THE DEMANDED SERVICE

To identify where the service was demanded, dam locations were obtained from the MWE. Since some dams appeared to be missing from the dataset, additional dam locations were added through reference to satellite imagery, WWF HydroLAKES and GIS data on the location of hydropower stations in Uganda. In addition to dams, it was considered that sedimentation could present a threat to smaller and/or shallower lakes. Avoided sedimentation was thus also valued for most natural waterbodies. Lakes Victoria, Albert and Edward were excluded, as it was assumed that the greater size and depth of these lakes would result in a negligible influence of sedimentation on storage capacity. The catchment areas for dams and selected lakes were delineated using the InVEST DelineateIT tool.

VALUATION

The value of the soil and sediment retention service within the dam and lake catchment areas was estimated using the replacement cost of lost storage capacity through measures such as raising the dam wall, constructing a substitute dam at a new site to recover the lost capacity or constructing check dams to prevent sediment entering the dam or lake. This was done by estimating the amount of storage that would have to be constructed to prevent a similar amount of sediment from reaching downstream aquatic environments, using an average capital replacement cost of UGX 4532 per m³ (UGX 2017, Mekonnen *et al.*, 2015). The modelled mass of sediment was converted to volume using a sediment bulk density of 1.35 t/m³ (Rooseboom 1992, Haarhoff & Cassa 2009). The sediment retention service of each pixel was then valued based on the amount of avoided sediment export on each pixel.

Soil retained in farmland is also of value to farmers, as the loss of soil would lead to reduced production. However, the value of this soil is already captured in the ecosystem contribution to crop production, so is not valued here to avoid double counting.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

It was estimated that mean sediment export across Uganda increased from 10.0 t/ha/year in 1990 to 11.8 t/ha/year in 2015, reflecting the expansion of agriculture at the expense of less erosion-prone natural land cover classes. Conversely, the amount of sediment retained relative to a bare landscape declined from 201.6 t/ha/year in 1990 to 198.6 t/h/year in 2015. In other words, sediment export would have been around 20.1 times higher in 1990 and 16.8 times higher in 2015, in the total absence of vegetation cover. A map of sediment retention (tons/ha/y) in 2015 is shown in Figure 4.18. Sediment retention is generally highest in steep and/or high rainfall areas which have the highest potential soil erosion risk, meaning sediment export would be very high in the absence of vegetation cover.

Within dam and selected lake catchment areas specifically, it was estimated that the presence of vegetation reduced sediment export by some 1254 million tonnes in 1990 and 1477 million tonnes in 2015. The increase in avoided sediment export from 1990 to 2015 reflects an increase in the use of the service, not the change in overall service capacity, which would have decreased. Over this period, the number of dams in Uganda increased, resulting in a 10.6% increase in the area over which the sediment retention service was demanded. Interestingly, the average amount of sediment retained by vegetation within dam and lake catchments also increased from 180.6 t/ha in 1990 to 192.2 t/ha in 2015, even though average sediment retention across Uganda overall decreased with the conversion of natural habitats to cultivation. This increase in sediment retention/ha can be explained by the construction of dams between 1990 and 2015 in areas with high erosion potential (e.g. western Uganda), resulting in high sediment retention values in these new dam catchment areas.



Figure 4.18. Estimated average sediment retention across Uganda in 2015, relative to a barren catchment, in tonnes/ha/year.

The value of sediment retention by natural vegetation and cultivated land was estimated to be UGX 4.21 billion in 1990 and UGX 4.96 billion in 2015 (constant 2017 UGX; Table 4.41; Table 4.42). The

increase in the value of the service is largely due to the higher number of dams in 2015, which increased the area over which the sediment retention service was demanded.

Table 4.39. Physical supply and use table of sediment retention services, for 1990

		Econo	my						Ec	osystem					
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Physical supply 1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Sediment retention (million m^3/y)	-	-	-	-	0	5	143	62	113	210	2	395	0	0	929
Physical use 1990															
Sediment retention (million m ³ /y)	929	0	0	929	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.40. Physical supply and use table of sediment retention services, for 2015

		Econo	my						Ed	osystem					
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Physical supply 2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Sediment retention (million m^3/y)	-	-	-	-	0	8	175	78	87	214	9	522	0	0	I 094
Physical use 2015															
Sediment retention (million m ³ /y)	1 094	0	0	1 094	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.41. Monetary supply and use table of sediment retention services, for 1990; values in constant 2017 UGX (billions)

		Econo	my						E	cosystem					
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Monetary supply 1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Sediment retention	-	-	-	-	0	22	648	280	514	951	9	I 789	0	0	4 212
Monetary use 1990															
Sediment retention	4212	0	0	4212	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.42. Monetary supply and use table of sediment retention services, for 2015; values in constant 2017 UGX (billions)

		Econo	omy						E	cosystem					
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Monetary supply 2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Sediment retention	-	-	-	-	0	37	794	355	396	968	43	2 366	0	0	4 959
Monetary use 2015															
Sediment retention	4 959	0	0	4 959	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

WATER QUALITY REGULATION: NUTRIENT RETENTION

OVERVIEW

Water quality regulation services are "the ecosystem contributions to the restoration and maintenance of the chemical condition of surface water and groundwater bodies through the breakdown or removal of nutrients and other pollutants by ecosystem components that mitigate the harmful effects of the pollutants on human use or health" (UN et al., 2021). As a final service to raw water users, it can be measured in terms of the quantity of anthropogenically introduced pollutants removed, and is valued in terms of avoided costs, such as costs to human health or increased water treatment costs. It can also be valued as an intermediate service to the supply of other ecosystem services (e.g. fish) from downstream aquatic ecosystems. In these accounts, we estimate the final ecosystem service value of nutrient removal to raw water users.

Water purification is closely related to the sediment retention service, in that suspended sediments are an element of water quality, and nutrients such as phosphorous which attach to sediments can be prevented from reaching downstream ecosystems as a result of sediment retention. This section focuses on the retention of nutrients.

While there is a natural level of nutrient deposition and transport (e.g. from the atmosphere and nitrogen fixation - Nkonya et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2014) that helps to sustain healthy ecosystems, it is the anthropogenic increase in this level that can lead to damages. These anthropogenic additions, typically from waste water and the application of manure and fertilizers to farmland (Odada et al., 2004), result in the eutrophication of downstream water bodies. Increased phosphorus is typically the problem in freshwater systems, where this nutrient is naturally limiting. The increase in nutrients leads to higher abundance of phytoplankton, and ultimately the development of toxic algal blooms. This reduces the ecological value and productivity of river, wetland and lake systems. Where this occurs in raw water sources for water treatment works, it requires increased use of chemical flocculants such as aluminium phosphate ("alum"), dredging of settlement ponds and backwashing of filters with treated water, all of which also increase labour and energy requirements.

Natural ecosystems can intercept and remove some of the additional nutrients in the landscape introduced by human activities before they enter downstream water bodies, limiting the damages caused. Wetlands are generally regarded as the most efficient natural system for removing pollutants (Turpie et al., 2016), but forests and other terrestrial vegetation types also have the capacity for water quality amelioration, particularly in the buffer zones between agricultural landscapes and river systems, removing a high percentage of sediments and nutrients from surface and subsurface flows (Mayer et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2010; Sweeney & Newbold, 2014).

DATA AND METHODS

PHYSICAL MODELLING

The water quality amelioration service was estimated using the InVEST Nutrient Delivery Ratio (NDR) model. This combines measures of nutrient input across the landscape, retention capacities for the various land cover classes and the characteristics of downslope pathways to determine the mass of nutrients that is eventually exported into watercourses. In addition to the basic inputs for the seasonal water yield model, the model also required inputs on the nutrient (phosphorous) additions to each pixel in kg/ha/year. Only cropland and urban ecosystems were attributed phosphorus inputs to emulate anthropogenic additions to the landscape. Atmospheric deposition and other natural additions that

might occur were omitted. Nutrient loads for farmlands were estimated using fertilizer application data from the Annual Agricultural Survey (UBOS, 2020c) and MAAIF report on fertilizer consumption and fertilizer use by crop in Uganda (Godfrey & Dickens, 2015), and crop residue data from the Land and Soil Improvement Accounts for Uganda (NEMA, 2021a). The use of fertilizer varies both between commercial and small-scale agriculture and across Uganda, thus farmland was reclassified by farmland type (commercial or small-scale) and ZARDI and allocated a specific nutrient load value in line with the available data. Nutrient loads for urban areas were estimated based on available literature relevant to Uganda or areas with conditions that most closely matched those in Uganda (Bagstad *et al.*, 2020; Sharp *et al.*, 2020; Turpie *et al.*, 2021). In contrast to farmland, these load values were kept constant across the country, in the absence of sufficient local data to justify variation by area (Leh et al., 2013; Bagstad et al., 2020). Each pixel's land cover specific nutrient load value was then modified to account for local runoff potential. A runoff proxy raster was acquired from the seasonal water yield module of InVEST.

Estimation of nutrient retention capacities required a nutrient retention coefficient to be assigned to each landcover class, which varied between 0 (no retention) and 1 (complete nutrient retention). Natural vegetation types generally have higher nutrient retention efficiencies than cultivated land, while urban areas have very low nutrient retention. These values were estimated based on literature relevant to Uganda or areas with conditions that most closely matched those in Uganda (Bagstad *et al.*, 2020; Sharp *et al.*, 2020; Turpie *et al.*, 2021) The next step in the model incorporated characteristics of the downslope pathway for each pixel to emulate the movement of the nutrients across the landscape to determine the final annual export, or nutrient delivery, into watercourses. This involved calculation of the nutrient delivery ratio (NDR), which is a function of a) the phosphorous retention efficiency of downslope pixels and b) an index of hydrological connectivity based on topography.

The total phosphorus retained by the natural landscape was calculated as the difference between the load of phosphorus that was exported from each cropland and urban pixel, and the load that was eventually exported to a watercourse. Three measures were applied to ensure this retention service was attributed to the appropriate pixels of natural landcover. Firstly, all retention calculations were performed at the level of each of the 2016 level-12 hydrobasins across Uganda (Lehner & Grill, 2013). Secondly, only natural pixels at elevations below the maximum cropland and urban pixels were considered. These conditions ensured natural pixels could only retain phosphorous loads from urban and cropland pixels that were upslope within the same watercourse. Thirdly, the total retained phosphorus was spread across the natural pixels according to the retention efficiency of their respective landcover class. The total annual retained phosphorous was limited to 77 kg per ha, based on studies of the removal rate of papyrus-dominate wetlands around Lake Victoria (Kansiime & Nalubega, 1999).

ESTIMATED DEMAND AND VALUATION

It was assumed that demand for the service is limited to the catchment areas of lakes and dams as the main sources of water supply. Catchment areas for lakes and dams in 1990 and 2015 were thus delineated using the InVEST DelineateIT tool. The nutrient retention rasters for 1990 and 2015 were then clipped to the extent of these catchment areas.

Water quality purification in dam and lake catchment areas was valued by estimating the cost of treatment wetlands, which provides an approximation of the replacement cost if no purification were being performed by natural ecosystems. For this study, the costs were based on a recent study which investigated the feasibility of constructing a treatment wetland on the former Nakivubo wetland area, among other investments (Turpie *et al.*, 2016), which used estimates of costs and nutrient uptake rates

from a review other such projects. This suggested that using treatment wetlands to address nutrient pollution would cost approximately USD 15.68 per kgP/y.

RESULTS

The spatial variation in nutrient retention by natural ecosystems is shown in Figure 4.19 Areas performing the water quality purification service (*i.e.* with a phosphorous retention value greater than zero) represent natural ecosystems located downstream of farmland and/or built-up areas. High nutrient retention is associated with natural habitats situated in areas otherwise dominated by cultivation with high levels of fertiliser use, such as natural habitats fringing Lake Victoria and wetlands in the western part of the Lake Kyoga system. Nutrient retention by these ecosystems has a direct impact on reducing nutrient pollution of these key surface water sources.

The total amount of phosphorous removed by natural ecosystem in dam and lake catchment areas increased slightly from 3.37 million t in 1990 to 3.50 million t in 2015 (Table 4.43; Table 4.44). Even though the extent of natural ecosystems declined over this period, this was outweighed by the increase in the amount of phosphorous removed per hectare of remaining natural area, since the expansion of cultivated and built-up areas significantly increased the overall export of phosphorous in 2015.

The service was estimated to be worth UGX 201 billion in 1990 and UGX 209 billion in 2015 (Table 4.45; Table 4.46. Wetlands accounted for the highest share of this value in 2015. Their lower share in 1990 is likely an artefact of the fact that wetlands were underrepresented in the 1990 land cover.



Figure 4.19. Estimated spatial variation in the uptake of anthropogenically-generated phosphorous by ecosystems in 2015, in kg/ha/year.

Table 4.43. Physical supply and use table of phosphorus retention, for 1990

		Econon	ny						Ec	osystem					
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Physical supply 1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Phosphorus (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	543	1 1 1 0	381	663	582	87	0	0	0	3 366
Physical use 1990															
Phosphorus (kt/y)	3 366	0	0	3 366	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.44. Physical supply and use table of phosphorus retention, for 2015

		Econom	ıy						Ec	osystem					
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Physical supply 2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Phosphorus (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	1 103	557	864	258	468	254	0	0	0	3 504
Physical use 2015															
Phosphorus (kt/y)	3 504	0	0	3 504	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.45. Monetary supply and use table of phosphorus retention, for 1990; values in constant 2017 UGX (billions)

		Econor	ny						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Water quality	-	-	-	-	0	32	66	23	40	35	5	0	0	0	201
Monetary use 1990															
Water quality	201	0	0	201	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.46. Monetary supply and use table of phosphorus retention, for 2015; values in constant 2017 UGX (billions)

		Econo	my						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Water quality	-	-	-	-	0	66	33	52	15	28	15	0	0	0	209
Monetary use 2015															
Water quality	209	0	0	209	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

WATER FLOW REGULATION SERVICES

OVERVIEW

Water flow regulation services are defined here as the ecosystem contributions to the regulation of the timing of surface, subsurface and groundwater flows into rivers and lakes through mediating the infiltration of rainwater, affecting the seasonal variation in flows and water levels, and hence the accessibility of water to users²⁰. Note that while the underlying processes for this service may also contribute to flood control, the latter is recorded as a separate service. The service is usually best quantified in physical terms as the amount of rainfall infiltrating into the ground. It is typically valued in terms of the cost savings in obtaining water for use, such as reduced infrastructure costs and/or reducing the necessity to purchase water during the dry season, relative to a scenario without this service. This is a final ecosystem service to water service providers and water users that obtain their water directly from ecosystems.

During rainfall events, some water soaks into the ground, while the balance runs off the surface ('quickflow'). Some of the former is lost due to evaporation from the soil or evapotranspiration by plants. Of the remainder (the 'net infiltration'), some emerges at springs to join streams and rivers ('baseflows'), while some replenishes groundwater or aquifers ('groundwater recharge'). The balance between quickflow and infiltration varies considerably across the landscape and is mediated to some extent by ecosystems. Vegetation slows down surface flows and facilitates the infiltration of rainfall into the ground, reducing the proportion of rainfall that runs off the surface during rainfall events. In this way, ecosystems can reduce seasonal variation in flows relative to the seasonal variation in rainfall. This can affect the cost of surface or groundwater supply by water utilities and/or the cost of collecting water (for households not supplied by infrastructure). In general, the more variable the runoff, the larger the built storage capacity required to meet water demands during low flow seasons (for small dams) or drier years (for large dams, Guswa et al. 2017; Vogel et al. 1999, 2007). Small dams and runof-river users are particularly sensitive to seasonal variation in flow. The ecosystem capacity for the service depends on a range of contextual factors such as slope, geology, rainfall pattern, evaporation, evapotranspiration, groundwater depth, etc.

Water supply systems are engineered to the way in which surface and groundwater flows vary across the landscape, as can be seen from the variation in how water is collected. However, if land use or climate changes lead to a decrease in infiltration, this can result in increased quickflow, leading to a reduction in dry season flows, and/or the availability of groundwater and increased costs of storing and extracting water (in addition to increased risk of flood damages). Given that groundwater is the main source of water for rural households in Uganda, as well as the fact that built water storage infrastructure is very limited, the focus here is on the regulation of groundwater recharge by ecosystems, rather than the seasonal moderation of river flows.

²⁰ Note that the rest of the SEEA EA definition "They are derived from the ability of ecosystems to absorb and store water, and gradually release water during dry seasons or periods <u>through evapotranspiration</u> (sic) and hence secure a regular flow of water" is incorrect WHY?. Table 6.3 also inappropriately includes peak flow mitigation as a flow regulation service as well as having a separate service called flood control services. Personally I agree with this point. We attempt a better definition of flow regulation in the text that is about the regulation of the timing of water flows affecting their availability for use, and note that while the underlying processes contribute to both, flood control is a separate service.

The landscape capacity to regulate annual groundwater recharge was mapped using the InVEST Seasonal Water Yield (SWY) model, which takes land cover into account. To estimate the ecosystem contribution to enhancing groundwater recharge, groundwater recharge was modelled for a bare land scenario. The difference in groundwater recharge between the bare ground scenario relative to under 1990 and 2015 land cover, was then used to value the contribution of ecosystems to enhancing groundwater recharge in the two accounting years. Only the ecosystem contribution to demanded groundwater recharge was valued, based on the groundwater abstraction estimates provided in the Water Accounts (UBOS, 2019, 2021). The final service flow mapped in physical terms was thus the ecosystem contribution to demanded groundwater recharge. This was valued using a replacement cost, based on the cost of construction dams to store an equivalent amount of water to the additional recharge facilitated by ecosystems.

DATA AND METHODS

The mapping of the contribution of ecosystems to groundwater recharge within each drainage basin was done using the InVEST SWY model, as capacity to supply the service. Demand for the service was based on data on groundwater use by different actors obtained from the Water Accounts (UBOS, 2019) for 2015-2018. This was used in conjunction with census and land use data to estimate groundwater abstraction in 1990 and 2015 within each drainage basin.

PHYSICAL QUANTIFICATION OF THE SERVICE CAPACITY

The InVEST Seasonal Water Yield (SWY) model was selected because it is suited to modelling hydrological processes at large-scale in data-poor environments, with relatively simple parameter requirements. The SWY model is nevertheless somewhat more complex and nuanced than the InVEST Annual Water Yield model which was used in previous ecosystem accounting work in Uganda (GoU, 2020b). An advantage of the SWY model is that it partitions flows into quickflow and "baseflow". Quickflow refers to rainfall which runs off during or immediately after rainfall events, without infiltrating into the soil. In contrast, "baseflow" refers to the remaining amount of precipitation that infiltrates as soil or groundwater, after accounting for quickflow runoff and evapotranspiration losses. The baseflow component thus captures the contribution of the landscape to groundwater recharge and dry season streamflow, and is the measure of interest for estimation of the groundwater recharge regulation service. The SWY model outputs the annual contribution of each 100 m pixel to baseflow in mm, which can then be converted to m³ of water per pixel and summed to give total m³ per basin.

The SWY model calculates quickflow using a Curve Number (CN)-based approach, which estimates runoff potential based on the land cover and soil characteristics of each pixel. Local recharge on each pixel is then calculated as precipitation minus quickflow and evapotranspiration. Evapotranspiration is calculated on a monthly basis and is limited either by the potential evapotranspiration of each pixel (*i.e.* water demand by soil and vegetation) or the available water generated on the pixel and from upslope areas (where applicable). Potential evapotranspiration is calculated by multiplying the crop evapotranspiration coefficient (Kc) by reference evapotranspiration (ET₀). Kc values express the ratio of actual evapotranspiration to reference evapotranspiration (Liu *et al.*, 2017). Pixels with positive local recharge values are included in the estimation of baseflow, while pixels where local recharge is zero or negative are assigned baseflow value of zero. Zero values for local recharge occur where all water runs off without infiltrating (*e.g.* over bare rock) or where evapotranspiration is very high. Negative values for local recharge can occur where evapotranspiration is greater than precipitation on a cell. This can occur for waterbodies as well as in vegetation types with high evapotranspiration rates where supplementary subsurface water is received from upslope areas.

Given the diversity of climatic and hydrological conditions in Uganda, the land cover map was firstly divided into more detailed classes through combination with the potential natural vegetation map (PNV) of East Africa (van Breugel et al., 2015). To do so, the PNV map was generalised into the five biomes used by Langdale-Brown, Osmaston & Wilson (1964), namely forest, moist savanna, dry savanna, wetland and other (waterbodies). This allowed for woodland, bushland and grassland to be split into moist and dry types, while farmland was split into forest, moist and dry savanna and wetland types. Different curve number and evapotranspiration coefficients could then be assigned to the more disaggregated land cover classes.

Curve numbers were estimated based on those used for comparable vegetation types in other studies (USDA, 2004; Asante *et al.*, 2008; Baker & Miller, 2013; Uribe, Quintero & Valenica, 2013). In the absence of local information, a global layer of hydrological soil groupings (Ross *et al.*, 2018) was used to assign soils into the four soil categories used for curve number estimation. Crop evapotranspiration coefficient (Kc) values for different land cover classes were calculated by dividing monthly reference evapotranspiration data (Trabucco & Zomer, 2018) by monthly actual evapotranspiration measured by remote sensing products (Elnashar *et al.*, 2021), and obtaining an average value per 2015 land cover class in ArcGIS. To account for inter-annual variability, monthly evapotranspiration data were first downloaded for 2014-2016 and an average value per month obtained for this period.

Some validation and refinement of the model estimates was performed. Modelled evapotranspiration results were compared with measured evapotranspiration and further adjustments to evapotranspiration coefficients made where necessary. Some flow gauging station data were also obtained from the Uganda Hydrological Yearbook (MWE, 2014). To compare modelled streamflow with this gauging station data, the InVEST DelineateIT tool was used to delineate the catchment areas draining into selected flow gauging stations described in MWE (2014). Some adjustments were made to improve alignment between modelled and measured streamflow in these catchments. Notably, normal antecedent moisture conditions (AMC II) curve numbers of land cover within the dry savanna biome were lowered to reflect dry antecedent moisture conditions (AMC I), as initial modelled streamflow was generally too high. In contrast, curve numbers for forest and farmland within the forest biome were increased to better match wet antecedent moisture conditions (AMC III), as initial modelled streamflow was often too low in catchments within the forest biome.

The SWY model was then run for a scenario where all ecosystems were converted to bare ground. The ecosystem contribution to regulation of groundwater recharge in the two accounting years was then estimated by subtracting groundwater recharge in the bare ground scenario from groundwater recharge under 2015 and 1990 land cover. In some areas, recharge at pixel-level was estimated to be higher under bare ground than with extant ecosystems. This was due to evapotranspiration losses from vegetation exceeding the higher runoff losses resulting from the conversion to bare ground (not uncommon; see the metanalysis by Owuor et al., 2016). These areas were considered to have zero capacity to supply flow regulation services.

ESTIMATION OF DEMAND FOR THE SERVICE

For accounting purposes, it was necessary to estimate the contribution of ecosystems to regulation of groundwater flows water that are actually used in Uganda. To estimate groundwater use, the study drew on estimates of groundwater abstraction for different purposes from Uganda's Water Accounts (UBOS, 2019, 2021), and used various ways to downscale these to estimate water use at a drainage basin level. The procedure used was the same as the method used to estimate surface water abstraction per drainage basin for the water supply service.

The estimated groundwater abstraction in each basin was then divided by the annual recharge estimate for 1990 and 2015, to give the proportion of annual recharge abstracted or demanded by groundwater users at drainage basin level. The proportion of annual recharge provided by ecosystems relative to a bare ground scenario was then estimated. The proportion was then applied to the groundwater abstracted and mapped to the ecosystems providing the service.²¹

VALUATION

Flow regulation improves water availability to households and reduces the need for larger dams to supply enough water. Flow regulation was valued using the cost of storage infrastructure that would need to be constructed if the ecosystem service was absent. The replacement cost was valued at UGX966 (constant 2017 UGX) per m³ based on previous estimates used in the region in (Turpie *et al.*, 2021).

RESULTS

Total groundwater recharge across Uganda in 1990 was estimated to be 12.5 billion m³. This declined to 12.0 billion m³ in 2015. In contrast, quickflow was estimated to increase from 19.6 billion m³ to 21.4 million m³. This increase in quickflow at the expense of groundwater recharge reflects the replacement of natural habitats with farmland and built-up areas, which generally results in an increase in runoff at the expense of infiltration. The total water yield estimates for 1990 and 2015 are comparable to (albeit slightly lower than) the total runoff estimate for Uganda of 37.4 billion m³, which was generated from data collected between 1953 and 1978 (MWE, 2022). The comparison of modelled flows with flow data sourced from MWE (2014) also indicated reasonable agreement of measured and modelled annual flows in most catchments, particularly following the adjustments described in the methods section above.

Estimated groundwater abstraction by various sectors estimated from data in the water accounts is shown in Table 4.47. Total groundwater use was estimated to have increased by 2.6 times between 1990 and 2015, with households the major user of groundwater. Overall, total groundwater abstraction from the selected sectors was estimated to be 0.3% of total modelled annual recharge in 1990. This increased to 0.8% of annual recharge in 2015, reflecting the increase in groundwater abstraction and the overall decline in annual recharge resulting from land cover changes.

The ecosystem contribution to groundwater recharge regulation was estimated to be 2.86 billion m³ in 1990 and 2.33 billion m³ in 2015. However, the ecosystem contribution to the regulation of abstracted groundwater flows was estimated to be much smaller, since only a small portion of recharge is demanded. Overall, the ecosystem contribution to regulation of abstracted groundwater recharge was estimated to be 5.87 Mm³ in 1990, increasing to 12.05 Mm³ in 2015 (Table 4.48)

Figure 4.20 shows the contribution of each pixel to the regulation of groundwater recharge in 2015. Areas with no value reflect pixels where recharge was not estimated to be higher than bare ground, thus resulting in no ecosystem contribution. after multiplying each pixel's total contribution to

²¹ For example, take a basin where groundwater abstraction is 3% of total recharge, and 60% of recharge is attributed to pixels GOOD TO HAVE THIS FOOTNOTE – I DID NOT UNDERSTAND WHY YOU INCLUDE ONLY 60 % which make a positive contribution to the groundwater regulation service. If annual recharge for a given pixel in this basin was 100 mm higher than it would be with bare ground, then the contribution of the pixel to the regulation of abstracted groundwater flows would be 100 mm*3%*60%, which amounts to 1.8 mm/year.

baseflow by the estimated percentage of total baseflow demanded per drainage basin. Unsurprisingly, the highest values are associated with some of the wettest parts of the country, including the forested slopes of Mount Rwenzori and Mount Elgon as well as grassland areas higher up on these mountains. Even though forests have high evapotranspiration rates, the large reduction in runoff losses relative to bare ground is enough to compensate for this, resulting in highly positive groundwater recharge values relative to bare ground.

Sachar	19	90	2015				
Sector	Surface water Groundwater		Surface water	Groundwater			
Agriculture (Irrigation)	104 263	182	390 559	681			
Crude oil and Mining	180	363	I 804	3 626			
Manufacturing (Food and Beverages)	2 622	462	9 858	I 736			
Manufacturing (Other)	2 2 1 6	384	8 332	I 443			
Construction	993	2 437	7 494	9 163			
Accommodation	321	51	I 207	193			
Public Administration	4 446	238	16 719	897			
Education	201	24	757	89			
Health	367	20	I 380	76			
Other	1 189	529	4 470	99			
Urban households	11 756	620	52 287	2 758			
Other households	4 209	29 466	9 238	64 668			
Sewage and waste management	I 287	3817	4 841	14 353			
Total	135 052	38 593	508 947	101 673			

Table 4.47. Estimated water use by sector based on data from UBOS (2019; 2021)

The water flow regulation replacement cost was valued at UGX5668 million (constant 2017 UGX) in 1990 and at UGX11 632 million (constant 2017 UGX) in 2015 (Table 4.50; Table 4.51). This does not include cost savings for users of raw surface water, although these are expected to be relatively modest given that most surface water is drawn from large lakes (for which the service is not demanded).



Figure 4.20. Estimated contribution of ecosystems to the regulation of abstracted groundwater recharge, in $m^3/ha/year.$

Table 4.48. Physical supply and use table for the contribution of ecosystems to the regulation of abstracted groundwater recharge, for 1990

		Econor	my		Ecosystem										
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Physical supply 1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Water (ML)	-	-	-	-	0	0	2 009	273	36	I 488	3	735	0	0	5 870
Physical use 1990															
Water (ML)	0	5 870	0	5 870	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.49. Physical supply and use table for the contribution of ecosystems to the regulation of abstracted groundwater recharge, for 2015

	Economy				Ecosystem										
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Physical supply 2015	IND	GOV	нн	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Water (ML)	-	-	-	-	0	0	3 732	2 054	I 376	2 548	13	2 323	0	0	12 047
Physical use 2015															
Water (ML)	0	12 047	0	12 047	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.50. Monetary supply and use table for the contribution of ecosystems to the regulation of abstracted groundwater recharge, for 1990; values in constant 2017 UGX millions

	Economy				Ecosystem										
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Water	-	-	-	-	0	0	1 940	264	3 5	I 436	3	710	0	0	5 668
Monetary use 1990															
Water	0	5 668	0	5 668	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.51. Monetary supply and use table for the contribution of ecosystems to the regulation of abstracted groundwater recharge, for 2015; values in constant 2017 UGX millions

		Econo	my						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Water	-	-	-	-	0	0	3 603	I 984	I 328	2 461	13	2 243	0	0	11 632
Monetary use 2015															
Water	0	11 632	0	11 632	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

EXPERIENTIAL SERVICES: TOURISM

OVERVIEW

The SEEA reference list includes a range of experiential services: recreation-related services, visual amenity services, education, scientific and research services, spiritual, artistic and symbolic services. These correspond to use values associated with cultural ecosystem services. The service is the ecosystem contribution to these benefits, that are obtained through joint use of ecosystem and human inputs and is a final ecosystem service. They are typically quantified in terms of user days, and valued in terms of resource rents where markets exist, or simulated exchange value where they do not.

Turpie *et al.* (2022) argued that experiencing ecosystems, whether actively or passively, often combines several of these aspects, and that there is no particular need to try and isolate the various motivations or types of benefits obtained. Rather, for accounting purposes it might be more useful to consider recreation by different groups of actors, which influences the type of valuation method used. A logical breakdown is into tourists (who travel significant distances, recorded in tourism satellite accounts), local users (who travel short distances), and property owners (who pay premiums to live near or to have views of ecosystems), since the method for valuing these benefits differs between these groups. This account is limited to estimating the ecosystem contribution to tourism, which is in the SNA.

The ecosystem contribution to tourism relates mainly to nature-based tourism, but also includes tourists' use of farmland and urban natural and semi-natural areas. Thus, the term "ecosystem-based tourism" is used here, since the accounts include natural and semi-natural ecosystems.

Estimation of this service involved estimating the total resource rent of attraction-based tourism expenditure from national statistics, and then disaggregating the value in proportion to the spatial pattern of geotagged photographs uploaded to the internet and their content. We isolate ecosystem attractions from other cultural attractions.

DATA AND METHODS

RATIONALE

Tourism in Uganda includes both domestic and foreign tourism and can be divided into (a) experiencing the country's attractions, or (b) other reasons such as business, visiting friends and family, or shopping. While the first category applies mainly to leisure tourists, business and other tourists may also spend part of their time visiting attractions. Uganda's tourism attractions include both its natural and cultural heritage attractions. Nature-based tourism assets include the national parks and the wildlife that they protect, landscapes for hiking, climbing and trekking, water and adventure activities, as well as urban parks. Cultural attractions include indigenous cultural experiences in rural areas, and attractions such as museums, architecture, monuments and nightlife in urban areas. Nature-based and cultural attractions are often inter-connected, and their relative contribution to attraction-based tourism is difficult to separate. For example, visitors seeking cultural experiences in the form of village visits or homestays are essentially observing how people interact with nature and the role that nature plays in everyday life. Equally, visitors to urban areas may be attracted by the combination of cultural and natural features. In general, attraction-based tourism in natural ecosystems is largely nature-based, whereas tourism focussed on farmland and urban areas is dominated by cultural attractions. For example, nature-based and cultural attractions made up 42.5% and 57.5%, respectively, of attractionbased tourism in the city of Durban (Turpie et al., 2017a).

Quantifying tourism in physical terms is typically approached in terms of visitor statistics, such as numbers of visitors, visitor-days, or bed nights. This is possible for locations for which there are discrete entry points, such as a country or a protected area. However, it is very difficult to map tourism activity in these terms, especially when mapping at fine scale. For these accounts, an index of tourism attraction, based on photographic activity, is used to disaggregate tourism expenditure. However, it cannot be used to disaggregate tourism visitor days, since it cannot be assumed that tourism days are directly proportional to value. For example, a visitor may travel for four days in order to spend one day watching gorillas. Ninety percent of their reason for visiting Uganda might be attributed to that one day. This is reflected in the photographs that they take, but not in where they spend their days. Therefore, the more appropriate physical measure is reported. Where tourism statistics are available at site level (e.g. parks), there does tend to be a strong relationship between photo numbers and visitor numbers (Wood et *al.*, 2013).

DATA AND ESTIMATION OF TOURISM EXPENDITURE FOR 1990 AND 2015

Tourism expenditure and tourism direct contribution to GDP for 2015 was extracted from the 2015/16 tourism performance report and the 2015 tourism statistical abstract (MTWA, 2015a, 2016). Time series data of total annual tourism expenditure (in current USD) and total annual visitor numbers to Uganda for the period 2000-2017 was obtained from the UBOS website, and the best fit trend line was used to estimate total tourism expenditure for 1990 (in current USD). Total expenditure in 1990 was estimated to be 2% of total expenditure in 2017. The estimated expenditure for 1990 was similar to that obtained by estimating the total visitors to Uganda in 1990 and multiplying this by an average spend per visit taken from the economic and statistical analysis of tourism in Uganda for 2012 (World Bank, 2013), converting to current 1990 USD values.

ESTIMATION OF ATTRACTION-BASED TOURISM EXPENDITURE

The proportion of tourism expenditure attributed to visiting attractions, as opposed to activities such as visiting family and friends, attending conferences, religious events, or receiving medical treatment was estimated for different types of tourists based on information collated from the Uganda tourism annual performance reports and tourism statistical abstracts (MTWA, 2015a, 2015b, 2016) and validated using data extracted from the World Bank Tourism Expenditure and Motivation Survey (TEMS; World Bank, 2020). Purpose of visit and spend per tourist type was extracted from the annual tourism performance reports and from time series data downloaded from the UBOS website. For 1990 this was based on the average over the period 2000-2015 and for 2015 was based on reported figures extracted from MTWA, 2015b, 2015a.

ESTIMATION OF RESOURCE RENT

The ecosystem contribution to tourism was valued as the resource rent generated by attraction-based tourism, which is the residual of the total output after intermediate consumption and all costs for capital and labour have been subtracted. Calculating the resource rent was done in two steps. The gross operating surplus was first calculated based on conversion factors extracted from Tourism Satellite Accounts for the Netherlands, South Africa and Zimbabwe. In the absence of a Tourism Satellite Account for Uganda conversion factors from other countries were used where labour costs were proportionally similar. For the Netherlands, South Africa and Zimbabwe, labour costs ranged from 53-57% of value added and gross operating surplus was 43-45% of value added.

Gross operating surplus (GOS) is estimated as follows:

GOS = total output - (intermediate consumption + labour costs + taxes less subsidies on production) Resource rent was then derived from the gross operating surplus by subtracting user costs of fixed capital, as follows:

Resource rent = gross operating surplus – user cost of fixed capital

Information pertaining to costs of capital were not available for the Ugandan tourism industry and so a factor of 12% of value added (tourism contribution to GDP) was used based on the results of Remme *et al.* (2015) for Limburg Province in the Netherlands for which the estimates of intermediate costs for nature tourism were proportionally similar to those for Uganda. All values were converted to 2017 prices.

MAPPING ATTRACTION-BASED AND ECOSYSTEM-BASED TOURISM VALUE

The spatial distribution of attraction-based tourism value was mapped based on the densities of "photo user days" recorded from geotagged photographic uploads to the website *flickr.com*. This was accessed using the InVEST Visitation: Recreation and Tourism model. This approach provides a means of mapping value to tourism attractions, rather than to the places where tourists spend their money (e.g., at their accommodations), so is more accurate in assigning the tourism value to the actual attractions or assets that caused the expenditure. Geotagged photo data have been found to be a reliable predictor of visitation rates of tourism sites (Wood *et al.*, 2013) and have been used extensively for mapping recreational value (Casalegno *et al.*, 2013; Turpie *et al.*, 2017b; Lee & Tsou, 2018; Barros, Moya-Gómez & Gutiérrez, 2019).

The InVEST visitation model calculates the average annual photo-user-days (PUDs) across an area of interest across the period 2005-2015.²² The model used the latitude/longitude data from photographs as well as the photographer's username and photo date to calculate PUDs. One PUD is one unique photographer who took at least one photo in a specific location on a single day. This minimises the duplicated counts due to one photographer taking multiple photos at any given site. Across Uganda an annual average of 1699 PUDs were recorded. The tourism value was spatially allocated in proportion to PUD density, after adjusting this to be based solely on the photos that were ecosystem-based, as described below.

Because the photos uploaded to Flickr include social and other content, adjustments were made to the InVEST-generated PUD densities by the percentage of photos that were attraction-based. This was determined for areas classified as water, farmland, natural ecosystems, built-up, or plantations, by categorising the content of 900 photos (30 in each of 30 randomly selected 10x10km cells) in each of these classes. To do so, each 10x10 km sampling area was manually located in the world map viewer directly on the Flickr website, and the contents of the photos taken within that location examined. Photos were categorised as (1) nature, (2) urban green space, (3) agriculture / plantation, (4) built attractions (5) traditional culture, (6) urban life / modern culture / life in Uganda, or (7) social or other non-attractions. All except the last category were taken to represent attractions. The first three categories were considered to be ecosystem-based attractions.

²² We elected to average over a 10-year period due to the sparseness of georeferenced Flickr photos over much of Uganda. For example, an area with low visitor numbers may have had a few photos added to Flickr over the whole 2005-2015 period, but zero photos uploaded in 2015 specifically. This would have erroneously resulted in no tourism value being assigned to the area.

The approach was validated by comparing the geotagged photographic uploads with recorded national park visitor numbers and revenues. Visitor numbers to the ten national parks were available for the period 2002-2016 from Uganda's Ministry of Tourism, Wildlife and Antiquities (MTWA).

ALLOCATION OF VALUE TO ECONOMIC USERS

Ecosystem contributions to tourism values acrrue to both government and industry, who generate income from the sale of park entry fees and permits, accommodation and other services. The use value accruing to government was based on information in the Biodiversity and Tourism Accounts for Uganda (NEMA, 2021c). The accounts included a breakdown of expenditure by economic unit, with park entrance, vehicle entrance, gorilla tracking, other recreational activities, and hotels, bars and restaurant accruing to government for 2012 and 2019 (UWA run National Parks). It also included a summary of visitor numbers and park entrance fees for each park for the period 2012-2019. These figures were adjusted to 1990 and 2015 based on estimated visitor numbers to National Parks in those years.

RESULTS

OVERALL TOURISM TRENDS

Although tourism has fluctuated year-on-year in Uganda, the sector has experienced significant growth over the past two and a half decades. In 2017, some 1.4 million people visited Uganda, with a total expenditure of UGX 5 247 billion (in 2017 UGX, MTWA, 2018). Based on the trends from 2000 to 2017 (Figure 4.21; Figure 4.22), it was estimated that visitor numbers and expenditure in 1990 were 56 976 and UGX 80 121 million (in 2017 UGX), respectively.



Figure 4.21. Total number of inbound tourists to Uganda over the period 2000-2017. Source: Uganda MTWA.



Figure 4.22. Total inbound visitor expenditure in Uganda over the period 2000-2017. Values in current USD millions. Source: Uganda MTWA.

Leisure tourists account for most of the expenditure on visiting tourism assets spending on average 30-100% more than other types of tourists per visit (World Bank, 2020b). Tourists whose main purpose is either visiting friends or family, or business tend to spend much less of their money on visiting attractions. These types of tourists do, however, make up a large proportion of the total tourism spending and so their contributions are not insignificant. Leisure tourists represented about 16% of tourists to Uganda in 1990 and 2015 (Table 4.52, MTWA, 2015a, 2015b). The total expenditure on all attraction-based tourism was estimated to be UGX 25 057 million in 1990, and UGX 1520 billion in 2015 (in constant 2017 UGX). This represents an average annual growth rate of 239%. The total expenditure on ecosystem-based tourism was estimated to be UGX 16 145 million in 1990, and UGX 979 894 million in 2015 (in constant 2017 UGX). Therefore, about 64% of attraction-based tourism expenditure in Uganda was attributed to ecosystem-based tourism.

The exchange value of the ecosystem contribution to tourism in Uganda was estimated to be UGX 3558 million in 1990 and UGX 215 996 million in 2015 (in constant 2017 UGX millions). The value in 1990 was estimated to be just 2% of the value in 2015.

Purpose of visit	Uganda 1990	Uganda 2015
Leisure, recreation, holiday	16%	16%
Business	19%	25%
Visiting friends and relatives (VFR)	29%	35%
Other	38%	25%

Table 4.52. Typology of tourists to Uganda in 1990 and 2015. Figures for 1990 are based on the average over the period 2000-2015. Figures for 2015 are reported figures from MTWA, 2015b, 2015a.

SPATIAL DISTRIBUTION OF ATTRACTION-BASED TOURISM VALUE

The spatial distribution of attraction-based tourism value in 2015 is shown in Figure 4.23. Ecosystembased tourism in Uganda is strongly linked to the country's protected area network. Gorilla trekking is offered in two of the national parks: Bwindi Impenetrable National Park and Mgahinga Gorilla National Park. These two national parks as well as Kibale National Park (and a few forest reserves) also offer chimpanzee trekking. Wildlife safaris are popular in Queen Elizabeth National Park,
Murchison Falls National Park, Kidepo Valley National Park and Lake Mburo National Park. The Rwenzori Mountains National Park protects the highest mountain range in Africa with Mount Stanley and the 5100-metre-high Margherita Peak considered some of the most beautiful and challenging mountain trekking in the world. Hosting Africa's largest variety of bird species, birders from around the world are attracted to Uganda's protected areas where over 1000 species of birds can be seen.



Figure 4.23. Attraction-based tourism value for the year 2015 across Uganda based on the distribution of georeferences photos uploaded to Flickr and their content.

Based on the spatial distribution of photographs and their content, it was estimated that national parks in Uganda contributed UGX 7494 million (19%) and UGX 373 773 million (25%) to the country's total tourism expenditure in 1990 and 2015 (Table 4.53), with the ecosystem contribution (resource rent) amounting to some UGX 1652 million in 1990 and UGX 82 379 million in 2015 (all values in constant 2017 UGX). Total values were highest in Queen Elizabeth and Murchison Falls but per hectare values were highest in Mgahinga Gorilla NP, Lake Mburo NP and Bwindi Impenetrable NP. Note that the

expenditure attributed to visiting the national parks is country-wide and shows that the value of parks is orders of magnitude greater than the revenues from entrance fees (NEMA, 2021c). As for all national accounting, this does not include the positive spinoffs for other sectors.

Table 4.53. Total tourism expenditure attributed to national parks, and the ecosystem contribution (resource rent) in 1990 and 2015, values in constant 2017 UGX millions. Source: this study. Note that the expenditure attributed to the park is broader than the expenditure within the park.

	Tourism	expenditure	Exchange val	ue of ecosyste	em contribution
National Park	l 990 UGX mn	2015 UGX mn	l 990 UGX mn	2015 UGX mn	2015 UGX/ha
Queen Elizabeth	3 419	114 150	754	25 58	12 055
Murchison Falls	3 4	115 384	686	25 430	6 560
Lake Mburo	757	27 681	167	6 101	16 644
Bwindi Impenetrable	-	33 329	-	7 346	22 458
Kibale	-	28 804	-	6 348	8 039
Rwenzori Mountains	-	23 097	-	5 091	5 154
Kidepo Valley	203	7 815	45	1 722	2 6
Mgahinga Gorilla	-	10 299	-	2 270	62 403
Mount Elgon	-	89	-	2 466	2 222
Semuliki	-	2 025	-	446	2 27
Total	7 494	373 773	I 652	82 379	7 351

The value of the ecosystem service from natural ecosystems was estimated to be UGX 148 466 million in 2015, representing 69% of the total value of the service (Table 4.54). The contribution of rural agricultural land in Uganda to ecosystem-based tourism was estimated to be UGX 48 894 million and urban greenspace areas UGX 16 841 million in 2015, representing 23% and 8% of the total value, respectively. Among natural ecosystem types, grasslands had the highest value in 2015 but forest ecosystems had the highest per hectare value, followed by wetlands and woodlands. Farmland had the lowest per hectare ecosystem-based tourism value of any ecosystem.

	Tourism ex	penditure	Excha	inge value of eco	osystem contrib	ution
Ecosystem	l990 UGX mn	2015 UGX mn	l 990 UGX mn	2015 UGX mn	l 990 UGX/ha	2015 UGX/ha
Open water	I 488	90 320	341	19 906	93	5 422
Wetland	I 060	64 311	243	14 174	281	18 647
Grassland	3 408	206 856	763	45 590	150	8 938
Bushland	2 223	134 897	493	29 73	320	15 082
Woodland	598	96 957	345	21 369	98	17614
Forest	326	80 487	189	17 696	197	28 044
Plantation	121	7 318	26	1613	810	14 947
Farmland	3 655	221 843	841	48 894	100	4 643
Built-up area	I 259	76 414	290	16 841	8 044	123 775
Bare	8	490	2	108	399	13 761
Total	16 145	979 894	3 530	215 923	146	8 948

Table 4.54. Ecosystem-based tourism expenditure and the ecosystem contribution (resource rent) across different ecosystem types in 1990 and 2015, values in constant 2017 UGX millions.

The total value of the service and the per hectare value was highest in The Lake Edward Basin, which is largely attributed to the fact that Mgahinga Gorilla NP and Bwindi Impenetrable NP are situated in this basin (Table 4.55). The Kidepo Basin had the lowest total tourism value because of its size but had a relatively high per hectare value because of the Kidepo Valley NP situated in this basin. The per hectare value was lowest in the Aswa Basin.

Table 4.55. Natural and semi-natura	attraction-based tourism expenditure and the ecosystem contribution to
tourism (resource rent value) across	the eight basins within Uganda in 1990 and 2015, values in constant 2017
UGX millions.	

	Tourism e	expenditure	Ec	osystem contri	bution to touris	m
Basin	l 990 UGX mn	2015 UGX mn	l 990 UGX mn	2015 UGX mn	l 990 UGX/ha	2015 UGX/ha
Albert Nile	613	37 233	141	8 206	68	3 935
Aswa	447	27 140	103	5 982	37	2 180
Kidepo	144	8 755	33	929	104	6 070
Lake Albert	810	49 187	178	10 841	97	5 895
Lake Edward	4 947	300 265	988	66 178	529	35 449
Lake Kyoga	I 900	115 294	427	25 367	75	4 442
Lake Victoria	3 719	225 705	848	49 745	137	8 035
Victoria Nile	3 495	212 095	801	46 745	291	16 965
Balancing area	70	4 220	13	930	20	I 499
Total	16 076	975 674	3 530	215 923	146	8 948

The districts with the highest ecosystem-based tourism values are Kasese, Nwoya, Wakiso and Nakasongola (Figure 4.24). These districts are all popular tourist cities or towns that are situated adjacent to popular nature or cultural assets, such as national parks. Kasese District, for example, includes Queen Elizabeth NP and Rwenzori Mountains NP. Wakiso surrounds Kampala and is situated on Lake Victoria and is a popular adventure tourism destination. Per hectare tourism values were highest in Kampala City, Jinja City, and Fort Portal City. Fort Portal is situated centrally between Semuliki NP, Rwenzori NP, and Kibale NP.



Figure 4.24. The total ecosystem-based tourism value per district for the year 2015.

Table 4.30 Total monetally supply and use of ecosystem tourism services in 1770 (constant 2017 OGA minions
--

		Econor	ny						Ec	osystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Tourism	-	-	-	-	341	243	763	493	345	189	26	841	290	2	3 530
Monetary use 1990															
Tourism	3 408	123	0	3 530	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.57 Total monetary supply and use of ecosystem tourism services in 2015 (constant 2017 UGX millions)

		Econon	ny						E	osystem					
Monetary supply							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
2015	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Tourism	-	-	-	-	19 906	4 74	45 590	29 73 1	21 369	17 696	1613	48 894	16 841	108	215 923
Monetary use 2015															
Tourism	208 106	7818	0	215 923	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

5. SUMMARY OF THE ACCOUNTS

NATIONAL LEVEL RESULTS

The ecosystem service supply and use tables are presented at national scale in Tables 5.1 to 5.4 below. Tables 5.1 and 5.2 present the flows of ecosystem services accruing to each type of economic user and from each ecosystem type in physical units for 1990 and 2015, respectively. Tables 5.3 and 5.4 present the same, but in monetary units, for 1990 and 2015, respectively.

In physical terms, all but one of the flows of services increased from 1990 to 2015. The flows of all provisioning services increased substantially. This is unsurprising given that the population doubled over this time period. Ecosystem inputs to crop production increased by 25%, but the use of grazed biomass and wood increased by 195% and 153%, respectively. The use of wild fish and other wild resources increased by 86% and 10%, respectively. Water use tripled (300% increase). In comparison, the flows of regulating services did not increase much, apart from the flow regulation service which doubled (105% increase). Sediment and nutrient retention services increased by 18% and 4%, respectively, and carbon retention declined slightly. The most significant increase was that of the ecosystem contribution to tourism value. This could not be mapped in physical terms, but the value increased by 6017% over the 25-year span of the accounts.

In monetary terms, the value flows of all services increased, and generally increased more than the increase in physical terms, though not always. Crop and grazed biomass provisioning services increased by 86% and 100%, respectively. Wood value increased dramatically, by 1683%, while fish and other resources increased by 503% and 182%, respectively. The percentage increases in value for water, flow regulation, sediment and nutrient retention services were the same as for physical flows, since no real price changes were recorded. The value of carbon retention increased by 87% due to the increased price of carbon, and the value of tourism increased by 6016% as mentioned above.

The average monetary value per ha of different ecosystem types is shown graphically in Figure 5.1. All ecosystem types, except for "Bare", increased in value from 1990 to 2015, largely attributable to the increase in numbers of people demanding services from them. The largest value per ha, both in 1990 and 2015 comes from forests and wetlands. The largest percentage increases (per ha) between 1990 and 2015 were recorded in "Open Water", "Plantation", and "Wetland".

Table 5.5 presents the national-level monetary ecosystem asset account for 1990-2015. This account records the monetary value of opening and closing stocks of all ecosystem assets within the country as a whole, and breaks down the changes in values of stocks. The asset value of each ecosystem is the aggregate net present value of the projected annual flows of all ecosystem services over time, taking into account sustainability of use as far as possible. The value of the ecosystem assets, as derived from the value of annual flows, was estimated to be UGX 387.6 trillion in 1990 (USD 105 billion) and UGX 682.9 trillion in 2015 (USD 185 billion; all in constant 2017 prices; Table 5.5).

Some UGX 94.3 trillion was lost as a result of the degradation and loss of ecosystem areas, with most of these losses from woodland and forest areas (Table 5.5, Figure 5.2). Of this, UGX 22.4 trillion was attributed to degradation, and UGX 71.9 trillion was due to the loss of ecosystem area. The value of these losses were offset by the increases in demand for services, and their volume and price effects. The volume effects increased the value of ecosystem assets by UGX 179.1 trillion, while the real increases in prices increased asset values by UGX 116.4 trillion (Table 5.5). As a result, all major ecosystem types increased in value apart from woodland, which decreased in value due to large losses in area. Farmland had the largest overall increase in value, and built-up areas and plantations, which

make up less than 1% of Uganda's landcover, showed the largest percentage increases in value between 1990 and 2015 (Table 5.5).



Figure 5.1 Average monetary value of ecosystem service flows per ecosystem type per ha per year in 1990 and 2015. Values expressed in constant 2017 UGX millions per ha per year.



Figure 5.2 Gains and losses in the asset value of ecosystems between 1990 and 2015. Values expressed in constant 2017 UGX billions.

While overall asset values increased between 1990 and 2015, due to increasing demand for resources over time, the total per capita asset value decreased by 17.7% (Figure 5.3). The largest per capita losses occurred in woodlands (65.7%), forests (37.2%) and grassland (26.7%). Farmland also decreased in per capita asset value over time (by 11.3%).

The total asset value of national ecosystem services increased between 1990 and 2015, while it declined on a per capita basis. This suggests that ecosystems have been pushed close to or beyond their tipping points and will not be able to provide each additional Ugandan with the same, or more,

services. Uganda needs to ensure that standards of living are increased without further degrading and depleting its natural assets. This will require substantial investments in restoration and increased protection of natural capital, as well as investments in education and measures to reduce population growth.



Figure 5.3 Percentage change in the per capita asset value of ecosystems between 1990 and 2015.

		Econ	omy						E	cosystem					
							Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		
Physical supply 1990	IND	GOV	HH	Total	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	Total
Ecosystem Area (km²)	-	-	-	-	36 767	8 65 1	50 827	15 419	35 100	9 603	321	84 204	361	50	241 302
Ecosystem service															
Crops (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	16 269	0	0	16 269
Grazed biomass (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	30	2 664	926	1 061	0	0	4 387	0	0	9 069
Wood (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	24	I 434	455	3 067	3 835	339	6 160	0	0	15 315
Wild fish (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	245	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	245
Other wild resources					0	22	73	23	66	29	0	138	0	0	352
(kt/y)	-	-	-	-	140.021		0		•	0		0	0	0	140.001
Water supply (ML/y)					140 021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	140 021
Water flow regulation					0	0	2 009	273	1 361	I 488	3	735	0	0	5 870
Sediment retention	-	-	-	-	0	5	143	62	113	210	2	395	0	0	979
(million m ³ /y)	-	-	-	-	Ū	5	115	02	115	210	2	575	Ŭ	Ŭ	727
Nutrient retention (ktP/y)	-	-	-	-	0	543	0	381	663	582	87	0	0	0	3 366
Carbon retention (MtC)	-	-	-	-	0	346	505	124	369	293	4	527	2	0	2 171
Tourism value (UGX					341	243	763	493	345	189	26	841	290	2	3 530
millions/y)	-	-	-	-											
Physical use 1990															
Crops (kt/y)	2 598	0	13 671	16 269	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grazed biomass (t/y)	725	0	8 343	9 069	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wood (kt/y)	4 615	0	10 700	15 315	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wild fish (kt/y)	197	0	48	245	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Other wild resources		_													
(kt/y)	0	0	352	352											
Water supply (ML/y)	117 754	6 302	15 965	140 021	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Water flow regulation	0	F 070	•	F 070											
(ML/y)	0	5 8/0	0	5 8/0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
(million m^3/v)	929	0	0	929	-	-	-			_	-	-	_	_	-
Nutrient retention (ktP/v)	3 366	0	0	3 366	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	-
Carbon retention (MtC)	0	2 171	0	2 171	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	_	-	-
Tourism value (UGX	-														
millions/y)	3 408	123	0	3 530	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 5.1. Total supply and use of ecosystem services in 1990, in physical units (apart from tourism, in monetary units). IND = industry, GOV = government and HH = households.

		Econ	omy						E	cosystem					
		601		T ()			Grass	Bush	Wood				Built-		T (1
Physical supply 2015	IND	GOV	HH	l otal	Water	Wetland	land	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	up	Bare	lotal
Ecosystem Area (km²)	-	-	-	-	36 7 1 6	7 601	51 007	19713	12 132	6 3 1 0	I 079	105 305	1 361	78	241 302
Ecosystem service															
Crops (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20 316	0	0	20 3 1 6
Grazed biomass (t/y)	-	-	-	-	0	100	8 447	3 189	46	0	0	13 879	0	0	26 760
Wood (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	81	2 678	3 144	5 281	7 392	I 755	18 429	0	0	38 760
Wild fish (kt/y)	-	-	-	-	455	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	455
Other wild resources					0	20	50		21			107		0	200
(kt/y)	-	-	-	-	0	29	59	5/	31	15	I	197	0	0	388
Water supply (ML/y)					560 577	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	560 577
(ML/y)	-	-	-	-	0	0	3 732	2 054	376	2 548	13	2 323	0	0	12 047
Sediment retention															
(million m³/y)	-	-	-	-	0	8	175	78	87	214	9	522	0	0	I 094
Nutrient retention (ktP/y)	-	-	-	-	0	1 103	557	864	258	468	254	0	0	0	3 504
Carbon retention (MtC)	-	-	-	-	0	524	321	147	122	195	15	611	9	0	I 943
Tourism value (UGX millions/v)	_	_	_	-	19 906	14 174	45 590	29 731	21 369	17 696	1613	48 894	16 841	108	215 923
Physical use 2015	-	-	-	-	17700	11171	45 570	27751	21 307	17 070	1 015	-10 07-1	10.041	100	215 725
Cross (kt/s)	0.004	0	11 222	20.214											
	8 774	0	24 (10	20 316	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grazed biomass (t/y)	2 141	0	24 619	26 760	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wood (kt/y)	20 874	0	17 887	38 760	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wild fish (kt/y)	365	0	90	455	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
(kt/v)	0	0	388	388	-	-	-	-		_	-	-	-	_	-
Water supply (ML/y)	475 358	23 696	61 524	560 577											
Water flow regulation		20 010	0.02.												
(ML/y)	0	12 047	0	12 047	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sediment retention	1.094	0	0	1 094											
(Initiation (ktP/k))	2 504	0	0	2 504		-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Corbon retention (KtP/y)	3 304	1.942	0	3 504	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Tourism value (UGX	0	1 743	0	1 743	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
millions/y)	208 106	7818	0	215 923	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 5.2. Total supply and use of ecosystem services in 2015, in physical units (apart from tourism, in monetary units). IND = industry, GOV = government and HH = households.

		Econo	my						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply 1990	IND	GOV	нн	Total	Water	Wetland	Grass land	Bush Iand	Wood land	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	Built- up	Bare	Total
Ecosystem area (km²)	-	-	-	-	36 767	8 65 1	50 827	15 419	35 100	9 603	321	84 204	361	50	241 302
Ecosystem service															
Crops	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4 240	0	0	4 240
Grazed biomass	-	-	-	-	0	9.7	850	294	336	0	0	I 376	0	0	2 866
Wood	-	-	-	-	0	0	8.4	4.8	44	61	3.5	62	0	0	184
Wild fish	-	-	-	-	0.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.1
Other wild resources	-	-	-	-	0	3.4	33	9.9	29	15	0.2	56	0	0	147
Water supply					85	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	85
Water flow regulation	-	-	-	-	0	0	1.9	0.3	1.3	1.4	0	0.7	0	0	5.7
Sediment retention	-	-	-	-	0	22	648	280	514	95 I	8.5	I 789	0	0	4 2 1 2
Nutrient retention	-	-	-	-	0	32	66	23	40	35	5.2	0	0	0	201
Carbon retention	-	-	-	-	0	772	26	276	824	653	9.6	175	5.5	0.1	4 840
Tourism value	-	-	-	-	0.3	0.2	0.8	0.5	0.3	0.2	0	0.8	0.3	0	3.5
Total	-	-	-	-	85	840	2 734	888	I 789	1715	27	8 699	5.8	0.1	16 783
Monetary use 1990															
Crops	859	0	3 381	4 240	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grazed biomass	229	0	2 636	2 866	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wood	87	0	96	184	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wild fish	0.1	0	0	0.1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Other wild resources	0	0	147	147	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Water supply	71	4	9.9	85											
Water flow regulation	0	5.7	0	5.7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sediment retention	4 212	0	0	4 2 1 2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nutrient retention	201	0	0	201	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Carbon retention	0	4 840	0	4 840	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Tourism value	3.4	0.1	0	3.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	5 662	4 850	6 27 1	16 783	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 5.3. To	otal supply and use o	f ecosystem services	1990 in monetary value	s (constant 2017 UC	GX billion). IND = iı	ndustry, GOV = §	government and HH = households
---------------	-----------------------	----------------------	------------------------	---------------------	-----------------------	------------------	--------------------------------

		Econo	my						E	cosystem					
Monetary supply	IND	COV		Tatal	Matan	Mada ad	Grass	Bush	Wood	Famaat	Diantatian	Formuland	Built-	Dava	Tatal
2015	IND	GOV	пп	Iotai	water	vvetland	Tand	land	land	Forest	Plantation	Farmiand	up	Bare	I otal
Ecosystem area (km²)	-	-	-	-	36 / 16	7 601	51 007	19/13	12 132	6 310	1 0/9	105 305	1 361	/8	241 302
Ecosystem service					0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7 020	0	0	7 020
Crops	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7 829	0	0	7 829
Grazed biomass	-	-	-	-	0	22	1 801	684	249	0	0	2 987	0	0	5 /43
Wood	-	-	-	-	0	2.4	78	181	714	1 152	204	941	0	0	3 272
Wild fish					0.6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.6
Other wild resources	-	-	-	-	0	16	67	66	36	21	1.3	209	0	0	415
Water supply	-	-	-	-	338	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	338
Water flow regulation	-	-	-	-	0	0	3.6	2.0	1.3	2.5	0	2.2	0	0	12
Sediment retention	-	-	-	-	0	37	794	355	396	968	43	2 366	0	0	4 959
Nutrient retention	-	-	-	-	0	66	33	52	15	28	15	0	0	0	209
Carbon retention	-	-	-	-	0	2 445	I 499	686	567	908	68	2 850	41	0	9 064
Tourism value	-	-	-	-	20	14	46	30	21	18	1.6	49	17	0.1	216
Total	-	-	-	-	359	2 601	4 322	2 055	2 000	3 097	333	17 232	58	0.1	32 057
Monetary use 2015															
Crops	4 267	0	3 562	7 829	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grazed biomass	459	0	5 283	5 743	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wood	2514	0	758	3 272											
Wild fish	0.5	0	0.1	0.6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Other wild resources	0	0	415	415	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Water supply	285	15	38	338	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Water flow regulation	0	12	0	12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sediment retention	4 959	0	0	4 959	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nutrient retention	209	0	0	209	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Carbon retention	0	9 064	0	9 064	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Tourism value	208	7.8	0	216	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	12 903	9 098	10 056	32 057	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 5.4. Total supply and use of ecosystem services 2015 in monetary values (constant 2017 UGX billions). IND = industry, GOV = government and HH = households.

Table 5.5. Ecosystem monetary asset account 1990-2015. NPV calculated using an asset lifespan of 100 years and a discount rate of 4.04%. All values expressed in constant 2017 UGX billions apart from per capita value in UGX millions.

	Open water	Wetland	Grassland	Bushland	Woodland	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	Built-up	Bare	Total
Opening stock (1990)	2 064	20 403	66 270	21 544	43 297	41 580	656	191 623	140	3	387 580
Change in ecosystem condition	I										
Enhancement											
Degradation			-16 580	-919	-935	-113	-40	-3 829	-22	-2	-22 440
Change in ecosystem extent (er	cosystems conversi	ons)									
Additions			315	8 2 1 8			3 428	61 184	718	I	73 864
Reductions	-7	-5 298			-45 211	-21 373					-71 890
Other changes in volume of ecosystem assets											
Catastrophic losses											
Reappraisals	6 652	21 904	42 186	13 577	23 725	16 055	962	53 777	242	2	179 083
Revaluation	-2	26 4	11812	3 768	10 942	19 767	3 073	60 897	339	-2	116 441
Net change in value	6 642	42 720	37 733	24 644	-11 479	14 336	7 423	172 030	I 277	0	275 058
Closing stock (2015)	8 706	63 123	104 002	46 188	31 818	55 916	8 079	363 653	4 7	3	682 905
Closing stock (2015) per capita (in million)	244	I 769	2 915	295	892	567	226	10 194	40	0	19 143
Net change %	322	209	57	114	-27	34	32	90	910	-6	76
Net change % per capita	97	45	-27	0.2	-66	-37	476	-11	372	-56	-18

BASIN LEVEL RESULTS

Ecosystem service and asset accounts were conducted at drainage basins which included eight basins and the remaining area (referred to as "Balancing area"). Lake Kyoga has the highest monetary supply values (constant 2017 UGX), both in 1990 and 2015, in total and per ha (Figure 5.4). The largest percentage increases in total monetary supply and per ha monetary supply between 1990 and 2015 were achieved by the Albert Nile basin.



Figure 5.4 Total monetary value of ecosystem service flows (left) and their annual value per ha (right) per basin in 1990 and 2015 (in constant 2017 UGX)

Half of Lake Kyoga's value is derived from farmland. Farmland contributes the majority of asset value in most basins (6% in Kidepo and 71% in Albert Nile) – both Lake Victoria and the Victoria Nile basin also have comparatively large farmland asset values in 2015. Kidepo and the balancing area generate most of their value from grassland. In 2015, over a third of Uganda's total grassland value was derived from Lake Kyoga's grasslands. Lake Kyoga also had the highest value of wetlands in Uganda, making up roughly half of Uganda's total wetland value, followed by Lake Victoria and the Victoria Nile basin. Lake Kyoga also held the highest forest value compared to the other basins, followed by Lake Edward and Lake Albert.

Detailed basin-level results are presented in the accompanying Excel file. Sample tables for the Albert Nile basin are shown in Table 5.6 and Table 5.7.

DISTRICT LEVEL RESULTS

District level ecosystem service and asset accounts are shown in the Excel sheet accompanying this report. Examples of the district-level accounts are shown in Table 5.8 and Table 5.9 for Abim.

supply and us	e table 1990																
			Economic unit									Ecosystem					
Agric, Forest	Water supply	Trade, caterir	Other industrie	Government	Households	Total	Open water	Wetland	Grassland	Bushland	Woodland	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	Built-up area Bare		Total
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	30 364	42 542	283 113	78 874	789 045	1 438	4 269	854 211	1 494	168	2 085 518
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	956 174	0	0	956 174
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	1 379	95 323	22 302	258 989	0	0	318 443	0	0	696 436
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	486	55 756	24 401	682 161	4 691	39 397	439 912	0	0	1 246 804
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2 987	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2 987
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	640 406	5 000 917	1 821 422	12 447 040	7 995	51 488	20 092 206	0	0	40 061 475
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3 673 325	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3 673 325
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	140 160	18 009	394 111	576	1 838	133 835	0	0	688 528
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	159 373	38 137	23 757	0	0	146 462	0	0	367 729
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	416	104	58,8	0	0	0	0	0	579
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	26 074 410	16 440 558	5 303 891	73 178 870	440 870	523 623	40 841 064	92 804	0	162 896 090
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	6,9	4,1	55,7	8,9	5,6	0	2,3	48,5	8,9	0	141
127 256	0	0	0	0	828 918	956 174	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-
55 715	0	0	0	0	640 722	696 436	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-
601 415	0	0	0	0	645 390	1 246 804	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-
2 398	0	0	0	0	588	2 987	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			
0	0	0	0	0	40 061 475	40 061 475	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			
2 242 936	0	64 213	290 517	268 029	807 629	3 673 325	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-
0	0	0	0	688 528	0	688 528	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-
0	367 729	0	0	0	0	367 729	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-
0	579	0	0	0	0	579	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-
0	0	0	0	162 896 090	0	162 896 090	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-
0	0	134	0	7,3	0	141	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-
	supply and us Agric, Forestr - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	supply and use table 1990 Agric, Foresti Water supply - <	supply and use table 1990 supply Agric, Forest: Water supply Trade, caterin - - 0 <t< td=""><td>supply and use table 1990 Economic unit Agric, Foresti Water supply Trade, caterit Economic unit Agric, Foresti Water supply Trade, caterit Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2" Agric, Foresti Water supply Trade, caterit Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2" Agric, Foresti Water supply Trade, caterit Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2" Agric, Foresti Water supply Trade, caterit Clospan="2">Clospan="2" Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Clospan="2">Clospan="2" Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply</td><td>supply and use table 1990 image im</td><td>supply and use table 1990 i i i Agric, Forest: Water supply and use table 1990 Economic unit I I Agric, Forest: Water supply and use table 1990 i I I I Agric, Forest: Water supply i i I I I I Agric, Forest: Water supply i<</td><td>supply and use bable 1990 Image: Partic Partic Stree Funders For Sovernment Households Image: Partic Partic Stree Funders For Sovernment Households Image: Partic Parte Parti Parte Partic Partic Partic Partic Partic Parte Partic P</td><td>supply and use: balle 1990Image<td>supply and use balle 1990image for a set of a set</td><td>supply and use bial bial bial bial bial bial bial bial</td><td>supply and use belowed item is the second unit of the industry of the</td><td>supply and use belaining and use</td><td>supply and year image image</td><td>supply and use table 30 image imag</td><td>supply and use table 1990 i</td></td></t<> <td>supply and year year seconds impact <t< td=""><td>supply supply supply</td></t<></td>	supply and use table 1990 Economic unit Agric, Foresti Water supply Trade, caterit Economic unit Agric, Foresti Water supply Trade, caterit Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2" Agric, Foresti Water supply Trade, caterit Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2" Agric, Foresti Water supply Trade, caterit Clospan="2">Clospan="2">Clospan="2" Agric, Foresti Water supply Trade, caterit Clospan="2">Clospan="2" Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Clospan="2">Clospan="2" Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply Agric, Foresti Water supply	supply and use table 1990 image im	supply and use table 1990 i i i Agric, Forest: Water supply and use table 1990 Economic unit I I Agric, Forest: Water supply and use table 1990 i I I I Agric, Forest: Water supply i i I I I I Agric, Forest: Water supply i<	supply and use bable 1990 Image: Partic Partic Stree Funders For Sovernment Households Image: Partic Partic Stree Funders For Sovernment Households Image: Partic Parte Parti Parte Partic Partic Partic Partic Partic Parte Partic P	supply and use: balle 1990Image <td>supply and use balle 1990image for a set of a set</td> <td>supply and use bial bial bial bial bial bial bial bial</td> <td>supply and use belowed item is the second unit of the industry of the</td> <td>supply and use belaining and use</td> <td>supply and year image image</td> <td>supply and use table 30 image imag</td> <td>supply and use table 1990 i</td>	supply and use balle 1990image for a set of a set	supply and use bial bial bial bial bial bial bial bial	supply and use belowed item is the second unit of the industry of the	supply and use belaining and use	supply and year image	supply and use table 30 image imag	supply and use table 1990 i	supply and year year seconds impact <t< td=""><td>supply supply supply</td></t<>	supply

Table 5.6 Basin level example table: Albert Nile supply and use of ecosystem services in 1990, in physical units (apart from tourism, in monetary units)

Table 5.7 Basin level example table: Albert Nile asset value of ecosystems

Albert Nile Summary: Asset value of ecosystems, UGX 20	17 millions										
	Open water	Wetland	Grassland	Bushland	Woodland	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	Built-up area	Bare	Total
Opening stock (1990)	54 306	1 425 213	1 641 839	467 993	6 241 064	25 866	38 715	10 400 596	5 243	-	20 300 833
Change due to change in ecosystem extent	-35 200	-342 609	1 819 424	883 316	-7 678 818	11 280	61 595	7 239 600	57 867	-	2 016 455
Change due to change in service supply or demand	1 384 465	1 796 112	2 114 643	835 588	4 198 624	46 796	387 746	22 661 472	27 775	-	33 453 222
Net change	1 349 266	1 453 503	3 934 068	1 718 904	-3 480 194	58 076	449 340	29 901 072	85 643	-	35 469 676
Closing stock (2015)	1 403 571	2 878 716	5 575 907	2 186 896	2 760 870	83 941	488 055	40 301 667	90 886	-	55 770 510
Net change %	2 485	102	240	367	-55,8	225	1 161	287	1 633	-	175

ABIM Ecosystem services monet	tary supply ar	nd use table 2	015															
				Economic unit									Ecosystem					
	Agric, Forest	Water suppl	Trade, cateri	Other industries	Government	Households	Total	Open water	Wetland	Grassland	Bushland	Woodland	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	Built-up area Bare	Т	otal
Ecosystem Area (ha)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	9,0	293	163 263	49 186	7 901	C) (52 873	1 467	7,0	274 999
Monetary supply 2015																		
Crops	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0) () C) 0	0	-	-	12 947	0	0	12 947
Grazed biomass	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	2,0	20 572	2 7 294	65,8	-	-	7 681	. 0	0	35 615
Wood	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	0,2	1 453	2 100	2 408	-	-	2 846	0	0	8 807
WIId fish	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0,0) () C	0	0	-	-	C	0	0	0,0
Other wild resources	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	2,5	i 934	435	338	-	-	363	0	0	2 072
Water supply	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	420	0) C	0	0	-	-	C	0	0	420
Water flow regulation	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0) (10,9	9,4	1,1	-	-	3,1	0,0	0	24,5
Sediment retention	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0) (13 088	10 031	8 558	-	-	5 175	0	0	36 852
Nutrient retention	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0) (93,0	15,9	6,0	-	-	C	0	0	115
Carbon retention	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	942	41 918	14 188	3 051	-	-	11 280	361	0	71 740
Tourism value	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0) () 173	21,6	0	-	-	9,9	0	0	204
Total	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	420	947	78 242	34 094	14 427	C) (40 305	361	0	168 796
Monetary use 2015																		
Crops	4 753	s c	0 0	0 0	0	8 194	12 947	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
Grazed biomass	2 849	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	32 766	35 615	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
Wood	4 262	2 0	0 0	0 0	0	4 546	8 807	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
WIId fish	0,0) (0 0	0 0	0	0,0	0,0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
Other wild resources	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	2 072	2 072	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
Water supply	379	0 0	3,4	13,2	13,1	11,2	420	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
Water flow regulation	0) (0 0	0 0	24,5	0	24,5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
Sediment retention	0	36 852	. 0	0 0	0	0	36 852	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
Nutrient retention	0	115	0	0 0	0	0	115	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
Carbon retention	0) (0 0) 0	71 740	0	71 740	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
Tourism value	C	0 0	196	i 0	8,1	0	204	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
Total	12 243	36 966	200	13,2	71 786	47 589	168 796	i -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	

Table 5.8 District level example table: Abim supply and use of ecosystem services in 2015, in monetary units

Table 5.9 District level example table: Abim asset value of ecosystems

ABIM Summary: Asset value of ecosystems, UGX 20											
	Open water	Wetland	Grassland	Bushland	Woodland	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	Built-up area	Bare	Total
Opening stock (1990)	121	9 035	610 515	213 233	1 173 566	-	-	182 657	28,6	-	2 189 156
Change due to change in ecosystem extent	1 150	0,0	276 402	120 102	-1 691 666	-	-	189 370	6 247	-	-1 098 395
Change due to change in service supply or demand	8 924	13 978	1 014 301	495 131	813 104	-	-	549 169	2 499	-	2 897 105
Net change	10 074	13 978	1 290 703	615 233	-878 562	-	-	738 539	8 746	-	1 798 710
Closing stock (2015)	10 195	23 012	1 901 218	828 466	295 004	-	-	921 196	8 775	-	3 987 866
Net change %	8 295	155	211	289	-74,9	-	-	404	30 581	-	82,2

6. NEXT STEPS

OVERVIEW

The Ecosystem Accounts were compiled over a period of 6 months, from engaging with government on data for the accounts, inspection of the existing data and accounts, to spatial modelling, and compilation of complex accounting tables down to the resolution of 146 districts and cities. As such, the study had to be limited in scope to achieve this. While significant progress was made in extending the previous work, there is still more to be done to complete these, and there are aspects that deserve further consideration, some of which have little precedent globally.

In discussions, the UBOS-led technical working group expressed that achieving complete coverage of ecosystem services should be a priority, even if some of the estimates are very high level or preliminary. This is important to start creating awareness of all these services, as well as what has to be done to refine the estimates. It was also considered important to have some estimate of value, even if preliminary, rather than no estimate at all. Once the coverage is more complete, there will be opportunity to begin refining these estimates over time.

In addition, these accounts are already seven years out of date. It will be important to begin in earnest to bring them closer to the present. This is now possible with the recent completion of the Uganda Land Cover for 2021. The latest land cover data are at much higher resolution (10m) than the previous series (30m), due to the launch of new satellites in 2015.

EXTENDING THE COVERAGE OF ECOSYSTEM SERVICES

The following services were not included due to data or time constraints and should be added to the accounts, as a next step. This list is not exhaustive, and further services included in the SEEA EA Table 6.3 could be considered at a later stage.

<u>Pollination</u>: This service has not been computed in the present version of the accounts due to the broad definition of "agricultural land" in the land cover data. Pollination services come from natural vegetation within 2 m of land under insect, bird or mammal-pollinated fruit and vegetable crops. This can be computed with a landcover dataset that provides a more specific agricultural land cover classification that would have to be combined with the UBOS land cover data. Preliminary estimates can be produced using evidence from other areas. Ultimately, it would be possible to generate evidence from Uganda through extension of its past panel data collection efforts with suitable modifications.

<u>Flood attenuation</u>: Estimation of flood attenuation typically relies on hydrological and hydraulic modelling, as well as detailed spatial data on structures and land use in flood prone areas. Doing this at large scales is a challenge, so must be done using relatively simple methods. InVEST has produced a flood attenuation model which simplifies some of the modelling required.

<u>Recreation services</u>: The current work has focused on tourism. However recreational services also include local use, such as visiting parks and beaches, that is not captured in tourism statistics. This is particularly valuable in urban green space areas, particularly in large urban areas that are more disconnected from surrounding natural environments. The accounts should be extended to include this value, and could make use of earlier work done on the recreational value of green open space in Kampala (Gelo & Turpie 2021).

<u>Air temperature regulation</u>: Also a service that is mainly pertinent to large urban areas, and focussing on trees and wetlands. InVEST has a model for this, which we have applied in Johannesburg. It is not an easy to use model, and again does not do the whole job, but it helps. Setting this up requires detailed mapping of natural habitats and trees, so usually some remote sensing work. The latest land cover will be better suited for this. The modelling also requires a layer of buildings with typology, which takes a bit of time to set up, and can draw on sources such as open street maps. The model generates the temperature amelioration for a specific ambient temperature which needs to be linked to cost savings for air conditioning and/or productivity. We link this to the statistical distribution of ambient temperature.

<u>Air quality regulation</u>. This service is likely to be highly relevant for Kampala. It is typically modelled using software such as iTree. Estimation of the physical service requires (a) data on air quality, and (b) detailed spatial data on trees, including species and canopy type, usually drawing on a combination of satellite data and tree sampling data. Estimation of the value requires linking air quality to illness and death. Such studies have been done using cross sectional statistical analysis of illness and death in relation to air quality across multiple cities, but as far as I know, only in the developed world (USA). We would not be able to take such a study to a refined level, but might be able to generate some preliminary estimates based on the literature.

<u>Regional climate/rainfall regulation</u>: We note that this has not been covered, but it will not be possible to do so within the time frame. Tropical high forests affect cloud cover and rainfall, and through regional/continental scale climate modelling, deforestation of tropical African forests is predicted to have some dramatic impacts on rainfall, which will see drying out of these countries, and concomitant loss of crop and livestock productivity. We are eager to see this tackled eventually with the help of climate modellers, especially as Ugandans are already somewhat sensitised to this service. This is particularly complex as neighbouring country actions affect one another, so the service is both imported and exported.

EXTENDING THE TIME SPAN OF THE ECOSYSTEM ACCOUNTS

The current accounts go to 2015. Meanwhile land cover data have been produced for 2019, and the 2021 cover was in an advanced state of preparation and could be ready. The nature of the land cover data has changed again, so extending the accounts to 2021 will provide the opportunity to demonstrate how to work with this kind of challenge in the time series.

While the next census will only be in 2024, there will be some new data for livestock (following the recent livestock census), and there are likely to be updated statistics for tourism, fisheries, forestry and agriculture.

Extending the accounts to include 2021 (or 2019) will involve rerunning all of the models using the 2019 land cover and updated estimates of demand and prices, using updated data from sources such as the statistical abstracts, or through projection (using similar methods to the projections used in the current study). The table constructions will change and will need to be regenerated. Some additional discussion points would be added, particularly how to interpret the changes given the higher resolution land cover.

INCORPORATING ECOSYSTEM CONDITION

Improving and integrating understanding of ecosystem condition and its effect on ecosystem services is an important next step. These accounts have included estimates of the effects of unstainable

resource use in the calculation of asset value. However, these estimates do not extend to agricultural land which in many parts of the world is declining in quality. Furthermore, the estimates of the capacity to supply ecosystem services is linked to ecosystem condition, but there is little information on this in Uganda. Field studies are required to measure and map ecosystem condition, to generate ecosystem condition accounts and link these to the ecosystem services accounts.

IMPROVING ESTIMATES OF ASSET VALUE

Estimates of ecosystem capacity to supply provisioning services are crucial to the computation of ecosystem asset values. More work is needed to estimate the stocks of resources such as fish, bush meat and other harvested resources, as well as the health and production capacity of farmland and rangeland. Methods need to be refined for incorporating this information into the estimates of asset value.

Ideally, there should be eventually there should be a central database of information on resources stocks, sustainable yield and resource demand that is accessible to compilers. Questions pertaining to quantities of resources harvested could be included in the Agricultural Census.

7. REFERENCES

- Adeleke, B., Robertson-Andersson, D., Moodley, G. & Taylor, S. (2020). Aquaculture in Africa: A Comparative Review of Egypt, Nigeria, and Uganda Vis-À-Vis South Africa. *Rev. Fish. Sci. Aquac.* 29, 167–197.
- Amsalu, T. & Addisu, S. (2014). Assessment of Grazing Land and Livestock Feed Balance in Gummara-Rib Watershed, Ethiopia. *Curr. Agric. Res. J.* **2**, 114–122.
- Aqua Media International. (2021). Country Profile: Uganda.
- Arensen, M. (2015). Indigenous Solutions to Food Insecurity: Wild Food Plants in South Sudan. Juba: Oxfam.
- Asante, K.O., Artan, G.A., Pervez, S., Bandaragoda, C. & Verdin, J.P. (2008). Technical Manual for the Geospatial Stream Flow Model (GeoSFM): US Geological Survey Open-File Report 2007-1441. US Geological Survey.
- Assefa, A. & Abebe, T. (2011). Wild Edible Trees and Shrubs in the Semi-arid Lowlands of Southern Ethiopia. J. Sci. Dev. 1, 5–19.
- AWF. (2014). Socio-economic baseline survey of Imatong Mountains Water Tower, and Kinyeti River Watershed, South Sudan, 2014. African Wildlife Foundation, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Ayoo, S., Opio, R. & Kakisa, O.T. (2013). Karamoja Situational Analysis. Report. CARE International.
- Bagstad, K.J., Ingram, J.C., Lange, G., Masozera, M., Ancona, Z.H., Bana, M., Kagabo, D., Musana, B., Nabahungu, N.L., Rukundo, E., Rutebuka, E., Polasky, S., Rugege, D. & Uwera, C. (2020). Towards ecosystem accounts for Rwanda: Tracking 25 years of change in flows and potential supply of ecosystem services. *People Nat.* 2, 163–188.
- Baker, T.J. & Miller, S.N. (2013). Using the Soil and Water Assessment Tool (SWAT) to assess land use impact on water resources in an East African watershed. J. Hydrol. **486**, 100–111.
- Barnes, R.F.W. & Lahm, S. A. (1997). An Ecological Perspective on Human Densities in the Central African Forest. J. Appl. Ecol. **34**, 245.
- Barros, C., Moya-Gómez, B. & Gutiérrez, J. (2019). Using geotagged photographs and GPS tracks from social networks to analyse visitor behaviour in national parks. *Curr. Issues Tour.* 23, 1291–1310.
- Barychka, T., Purves, D.W., Milner-Gulland, E.J. & Mace, G.M. (2020). Modelling parameter uncertainty reveals bushmeat yields versus survival trade-offs in heavily-hunted duiker Cephalophus spp. *PLoS One* **15**.
- Basson, G. (2010). Sedimentation and Sustainable Use of Reservoirs and River Systems. In International Commission on Large Dams (ICOLD) Bulletin.
- Benson, T. & Mugarura, S. (2010). Livestock development planning in Uganda: Identification of areas of opportunity and challenge. International Food Policy Research Institute.

- Bitariho, R. & Mosango, M. (2005). Utilisation and Conservation of Sinarundinaria alpina in Bwindi and Mgahinga. *Ethnobot. Res. Appl.* **3**, 191–200.
- Bitariho, R., Sheil, D. & Eilu, G. (2016). Tangible benefits or token gestures: Does Bwindi impenetrable National Park's long established multiple use programme benefit the poor? *For. Trees Livelihoods* **25**, 16–32.
- Bitariho, R. & Ssali, F. (2013). Status and Distribution of Montane Bamboo in Echuya Central. Institute of Tropical Forest Conservation, Ruhija, Uganda.
- Bolman, B., van Duijn, A.P. & Rutaisire, J. (2018). Review and analysis of small-scale aquaculture production in East Africa: Part 4. Uganda.
- Booth, F.E.M. & Wickens, G.E. (1988). Non-timber Uses of Selected Arid Zone Trees and Shrubs in Africa. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Bourlière, F. & Hadley, M. (1970). The Ecology of tropical savannas. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 125–152.
- van Breugel, P., Kindt, R., Lillesø, J.P.B., Bingham, M., Demissew, S., Dudley, C., Friis, I., Gachathi, F., Kalema, J., Mbago, F., Moshi, H.N., Mulumba, J., Namaganda, M., Ndangalasi, H.J., Ruffo, C.K., Védaste, M., Jamnadass, R. & Graudal, L. (2015). Potential Natural Vegetation Map of Eastern Africa (Burundi, Ethiopia, Kenya, Malawi, Rwanda, Tanzania, Uganda and Zambia). Version 2.0.
- Burns, J., Bekele, G. & Akabwai, D. (2013). Livelihood dynamics in northern Karamoja: A participatory baseline study for the Growth, Health and Governance Program. USAID and MercyCorps.
- Bush, G., Nampindo, S. & Aguti, C. (2004). The Value of Uganda's Forests: A livelihoods and ecosystems approach. Wildlife Conservation Society, National Forestry Authority, Kampala, Uganda.
- Buyinza, M., Senjonga, M. & Lusiba, B. (2010). Economic valuation of a Tamarind (Tamarindus indica L.) production system: Green money from drylands of Eastern Uganda. *Small-scale For.* **9**, 317–329.
- Campbell, B.M. (1987). The use of wild fruits in Zimbabwe. Econ. Bot. 41, 375–385.
- Casalegno, S., Inger, R., DeSilvey, C. & Gaston, K.J. (2013). Spatial Covariance between Aesthetic Value & Other Ecosystem Services. *PLoS One* **8**, 6–10.
- CDO. (n.d.). Cotton from Uganda. The Cotton Development Organisation.
- Chapman, C.A. & Lambert, J.E. (2000). Habitat alteration and the conservation of African primates: Case study of Kibale National Park, Uganda. *Am. J. Primatol.* **50**, 169–185.
- Chapman, C.A., Wrangham, R. & Chapman, L.J. (1994). Indices of Habitat-wide Fruit Abundance in Tropical Forest. *Biotropica* **26**, 160.
- CIAT. (2011). Future Climate Scenarios for Uganda's Tea Growing Areas. International Center for Tropical Agriculture, Cali, Colombia.
- Coe, M.J., Cumming, D.H. & Phillipson, J. (1976). Biomass and production of large African

herbivores in relation to rainfall and primary production. *Oecologia* **22**, 341–354.

- Costanza, R., D'Arge, R., De Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'Neill, R. V., Paruelo, J., Raskin, R.G., Sutton, P. & Van Den Belt, M. (1997). The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. *Nature* **387**, 253–260.
- Daily, G.C. (1997). Introduction: what are ecosystem services? In Nature's services: societal dependence on natural ecosystems: 1–10. Daily, G.C. (Ed.). Washington, DC: Island Press.
- de-Miguel, S., Bonet, J.A., Pukkala, T. & Martínez de Aragón, J. (2014). Impact of forest management intensity on landscape-level mushroom productivity: A regional model-based scenario analysis. *For. Ecol. Manage.* **330**, 218–227.
- Degreef, J., Demuynck, L., Mukandera, A., Nyirandayambaje, G., Nzigidahera, B. & De Kesel, A. (2016). Wild edible mushrooms, a valuable resource for food security and rural development in Burundi and Rwanda. *Biotechnol. Agron. Soc. Environ.* **20**, 441–452.
- Drichi, P. (2002). National Biomass Study Technical Report of 1996-2002. Forest Department, Kampala, Uganda.
- Drigo, R., Bailis, R., Ghilardi, A. & Masera, O. (2013). Update and upgrade of WISDOM Rwanda and Woodfuels value chain analysis as a basis for the Rwanda Supply Master Plan for fuelwood and charcoal. Republic of Rwanda: Ministry of Natural Resources.
- Egadu, S.P., Mucunguzi, P. & Obua, J. (2007). The population of Acacia tree species producing gum arabic in the Karamoja region, Uganda. *Afr. J. Ecol.* **45**, 236–241.
- Egeru, A. (2014). Rural households' fuelwood demand determinants in dryland areas of eastern Uganda. *Energy Sources, Part B Econ. Plan. Policy* **9**, 39–45.
- Egeru, A., Okia, C.A. & de Leeuw, J. (2014). Trees and Livelihoods in Karamoja, Uganda. World Agroforestry Centre.
- Ehrlich, P.R. & Mooney, H. (1983). Extinction, Substitution, and Ecosystem Services. *Bioscience* **33**, 248–254.
- Elias, M. & Carney, J. (2007). African Shea Butter: A Feminized Subsidy from Nature. Africa (Lond). 77, 37–62.
- Elnashar, A., Wang, L., Wu, B., Zhu, W. & Zeng, H. (2021). Synthesis of global actual evapotranspiration from 1982 to 2019. *Earth Syst. Sci. Data* **13**, 447–480.
- Engola, A.P.O., Eilu, G., Kabasa, J.D., Munishi, P. & Olila, D. (2007). Ecology of Edible Indigenous Mushrooms of the Lake Victoria Basin (Uganda). Res. J. Biol. Sci.
- ERA. (2020). Uganda's Electricity Sector Overview. Electricity Regulation Authority.
- European Commission. (2019). Natural Capital Accounting: Overview and Progress in the European Union 6th Report. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- FAO. (2018a). Guidelines on methods for estimating livestock production and productivity. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- FAO. (2018b). Livestock production systems spotlight Uganda. Food and Agriculture

Organization of the United Nations.

- FAO. (2021). Assessment of the Ugandan Commercial Timber Plantation Resource and the Markets for its Products. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Kampala, Uganda.
- FAO. (2022a). Crops and Livestock Products. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- FAO. (2022b). *Global Capture Production*. Food and Agriculture Organization Fisheries and Aquaculture Division.
- FAO & ITPS. (2018). Global Soil Organic Carbon Map (GSOCmap) Technical Report. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- FEWS NET. (2010). Livelihood Mapping and Zoning Exercise: Uganda. Famine Early Warning Systems Network.
- Fick, S.E. & Hijmans, R.J. (2017). WorldClim 2: new 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. *Int. J. Climatol.* **37**, 4302–4315.
- Gathagu, J., Sang, J.K. & Maina, C.W. (2018). Modelling the impacts of structural conservation measures on sediment and water yield in Thika-Chania catchment, Kenya. *Int. Soil Water Conserv. Res.* **6**, 165–174.
- Gianvenuti, A. & Vyamana, V.G. (2018). Cost-benefit analysis of forestry interventions for supplying woodfuel in a refugee situation in the United Republic of Tanzania. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Godfrey, S. & Dickens, O. (2015). Fertilizer consumption and fertilizer use by crop in Uganda. Kampala, Uganda: istry of Agriculture, Animal Industry and Fisheries (MAAIF) and Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS).
- GoU. (2016). Uganda Wetlands Atlas: Volume Two. Kampala, Uganda: Government of Uganda.
- GoU. (2019a). National plan for advancing environmental-economic accounting in Uganda. Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS), Government of Uganda, Kampala, Uganda.
- GoU. (2019b). National land physical asset account for Uganda: Technical Report. Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS), Government of Uganda, Kampala, Uganda.
- GoU. (2020a). Uganda Wood Asset and Forest Resources accounts. Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS), Government of Uganda, Kampala, Uganda.
- GoU. (2020b). Towards ecosystem accounts for Uganda. Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS), Government of Uganda, Kampala, Uganda.
- GoU. (2021a). Biodiversity and tourism accounts for Uganda. National Environment Management Authority, Government of Uganda, Kampala, Uganda.
- GoU. (2021b). National Biomass Study, Uganda, 2016-2019. National Forestry Authority, Ministry of Water and Environment, Kampala, Uganda.
- Hall, J.B. (1992). Ecology of a key African multipurpose tree species, Balanites aegyptiaca

(Balanitaceae): the state-of-knowledge. For. Ecol. Manage. 50, 1–30.

- Harris, I., Osborn, T.J., Jones, P. & Lister, D. (2020). Version 4 of the CRU TS monthly high-resolution gridded multivariate climate dataset. *Sci. Data* **7**, 109.
- Harrison, M. (2013). Penetrating the Impenetrable: Establishing profiles and motivations of resource users at Bwindi Impenetrable. Imperial College, London.
- Harrison, M., Baker, J., Twinamatsiko, M. & Milner-Gulland, E.J. (2015). Profiling unauthorized natural resource users for better targeting of conservation interventions. *Conserv. Biol.* 29, 1636–1646.
- Hartter, J. (2010). Resource use and ecosystem services in a forest park landscape. Soc. Nat. Resour. 23, 207–223.
- Hatfield, R. & Malleret-King, D. (2007). Economic Valuation of the Virunga and Bwindi protected forests. International Gorilla Conservation Programme, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Hengl, T., Heuvelink, G.B.M., Kempen, B., Leenaars, J.G.B., Walsh, M.G., Shepherd, K.D., Sila, A., MacMillan, R.A., De Jesus, J.M., Tamene, L. & Tondoh, J.E. (2015). Mapping soil properties of Africa at 250 m resolution: Random forests significantly improve current predictions. *PLoS One* 10.
- van der Hoek, Y., Emmanuel, F., Eckardt, W., Kwizera, I., Derhé, M., Caillaud, D., Stoinski, T.S. & Tuyisingize, D. (2019). Recent decline in vegetative regeneration of bamboo (Yushania alpina), a key food plant for primates in Volcanoes National Park, Rwanda. Sci. Rep. 9, 1–10.
- Howard, A.P.C., Davenport, T.R.B., Kigenyi, F.W., Viskanic, P., Baltzer, M.C., Dickinson, J., Lwanga, J., Matthews, R.A. & Mupada, E. (2000). Protected Area Planning in the Tropics: Uganda's National System of Forest Nature Reserves. *Conserv. Biol.* 14, 858–875.
- Ingham, K., Lyons, M., Kokole, O.H., Semakula, M. & Kiwanuka, M. (2022). Uganda [WWW Document]. *Encycl. Br.* URL https://www.britannica.com/place/Uganda
- IPCC. (2006). IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme.
- IPCC. (2019). 2019 Refinement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (2019 Refinement). IPCC Task Force on National Greenhouse Gas Inventories.
- Jaffé, R., Dietemann, V., Allsopp, M.H., Costa, C., Crewe, R.M., Dall'olio, R., De La Rúa, P., El-Niweiri, M.A.A., Fries, I., Kezic, N., Meusel, M.S., Paxton, R.J., Shaibi, T., Stolle, E. & Moritz, R.F.A. (2010). Estimating the density of honeybee colonies across their natural range to gill the gap in pollinator decline censuses. *Conserv. Biol.* 24, 583–593.
- Jjagwe, A., Kakembo, V. & Bernard, B. (2021). Land Use Cover Types and Forest Management Options for Carbon in Mabira Central Forest Reserve. *African Handb. Clim. Chang. Adapt.* 2733–2754.
- Jones MB & Muthuri FM. (1997). Standing Biomass and Carbon Distribution in a Papyrus (Cyperus papyrus L.) Swamp on Lake Naivasha Kenya. J. Trop. Ecol. **13**, 347–356.
- Kakuba, S.J. & Kanyamurwa, J.M. (2021). Management of wetlands and livelihood opportunities

in Kinawataka wetland, Kampala-Uganda. Environ. Challenges 2.

- Kalanzi, F., Mwanja, C., Agaba, H. & Guuroh, R.T. (2017). Potential of Bamboo as a Source of Household Income in South Western Uganda. J. Bamboo Ratt. 16, 33–45.
- Kalema, V.N. (2010). Diversity, use and resilience of woody species in a multiple land use equatorial African savanna, central Uganda. University of the Witwatersrand, South Africa.
- Kanabahita, C. (2001). Forestry Outlook Studies in Africa (FOSA) Country Report Uganda. Forestry Department, Ministry of Water, Lands & Environment.
- Kansiime, F. & Nalubega, M. (1999). Wastewater Treatment by a Natural Wetland: the Nakivubo Swamp, Uganda. Wageningen University.
- Karamage, F., Zhang, C., Liu, T., Maganda, A. & Isabwe, A. (2017). Soil erosion risk assessment in Uganda. *Forests* **8**, 1–20.
- Kaschula, S.A. & Shackleton, C.M. (2009). Quantity and significance of wild meat off-take by a rural community in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. *Environ. Conserv.* **36**, 192–200.
- Kasirye, I. (2015). Taxation for investment in the Uganda Agricultural Sector. *Econ. Policy Res. Centre, Policy Br.* **58**.
- Kayanja, F.I.B. & Byarugaba, D. (2001). Disappearing forests of Uganda: The way forward. *Curr. Sci.* **81**, 936–947.
- Kayima, J.K., Mayo, A.M. & Nobert, J. (2018). Ecological Characteristics and Morphological Features of the Lubigi Wetland in Uganda. *Environ. Ecol. Res.* **6**, 218–228.
- Kraybill, D. & Kidoido, M. (2009). Analysis of relative profitability of key Ugandan agricultural enterprises by agricultural production zone. International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Kyoshabire, C., Kizza, S. & Rollanda, K. (2018). Species Richness and Nutritive Values of Fodder and Their Relationship with Soil Characteristics in Ugandan Rangelands. *Am. J. Agric. For.* **6**, 38.
- Langdale-Brown, I., Osmaston, H. & Wilson, J.G. (1964). The vegetation of Uganda and its bearing on land use. Entebbe, Uganda: Government of Uganda.
- Larive International and Asigma. (2022). Aquaculture Road Map Uganda: Opportunities in the aquaculture value chain.
- Lee, J.Y. & Tsou, M.H. (2018). Mapping spatiotemporal tourist behaviors and hotspots through location-based photo-sharing service (Flickr) data. *Lect. Notes Geoinf. Cartogr.* 315–334.
- Lehner, B. & Grill, G. (2013). Global river hydrography and network routing: Baseline data and new approaches to study the world's large river systems. *Hydrol. Process.* **27**, 2171–2186.
- Ling, S. & Milner-Gulland, E.J. (2006). Assessment of the Sustainability of Bushmeat Hunting Based on Dynamic Bioeconomic Models. *Conserv. Biol.* **20**, 423–436.
- Liu, C., Sun, G., McNulty, S.G., Noormets, A. & Fang, Y. (2017). Environmental controls on seasonal ecosystem evapotranspiration/potential evapotranspiration ratio as determined

by the global eddy flux measurements. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 21, 311–322.

- Liu, Y., Villalba, G., Ayres, R.U. & Schroder, H. (2008). Global phosphorus flows and environmental impacts from a consumption perspective. J. Ind. Ecol. **12**, 229–247.
- Lovett, P. (2013). Industry assessment and potential for public private partnerships in development of trade in sheanuts and butter (lulu) in South Sudan and Shea Workshop Report. United States Agency for International Development (USAID).
- MAAIF and UBOS. (2009). 2008 Livestock Census Report. Ministry of Agriculture, Animal Industry and Fisheries (MAAIF), Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS).
- Mayer, P.M., Reynolds, S.K., McCutchen, M.D. & Canfield, T.J. (2007). Meta-analysis of nitrogen removal in riparian buffers. J. Environ. Qual. **36**, 1172–1180.
- Mbowa, S., Odokonyero, T. & Munyaho, A.T. (2017). Harnessing Floating Cage Technology to Increase Fish Production in Uganda. Economic Policy Research Centre.
- McKean, S.G. (2003). Toward sustainable use of Palm leaves by a rural community in Kwazulu-Natal, South Africa. *Econ. Bot.* **57**, 65–72.
- Mekonnen, M., Keesstra, S.D., Baartman, J.E., Ritsema, C.J. & Melesse, A.M. (2015). Evaluating sediment storage dams: Structural off-site sediment trapping measures in northwest Ethiopia. *Geogr. Res. Lett.* **41**, 7–22.
- MEMD. (2019). Draft National Energy Policy. Ministry of Energy and Mineral Development, Kampala, Uganda.
- Monadjem, A. (1997). Habitat preferences and biomasses of small mammals in Swaziland. Afr. J. Ecol. **35**, 64–72.
- MTWA. (2015a). 2015 Tourism Sector Statistical Abstract. Government of Uganda, Ministry of Tourism, Wildlife and Antiquities.
- MTWA. (2015b). *Tourism Sector Annual Performance Report 2014/15*. Government of Uganda, Ministry of Tourism, Wildlife and Antiquities.
- MTWA. (2016). Annual Tourism Sector Performance Report 2015/16. Government of Uganda, Ministry of Tourism, Wildlife and Antiquities.
- MTWA. (2018). Tourism Sector Annual Performance Report 2017/18. Government of Uganda, Ministry of Tourism, Wildlife and Antiquities.
- Mugo, F., Wamono, F., Arineitwe, J.N., Nturanabo, F. & van Tilborg, C. (2016). *National Charcoal Survey*. Ministry of Energy and Mineral Development.
- MWE. (2014). Consolidated Hydrological Yearbook for Uganda 1978-2014. Kampala, Uganda: Ministry of Water and Environment.
- MWE. (2016). State of Uganda's Forestry 2015. Ministry of Water and Environment. Kampala, Uganda.
- MWE. (2017). Uganda Water Supply Atlas. Kampala, Uganda: Ministry of Water and Environment.

- MWE. (2022). Consultancy Services for Assessing and Managing the Use of Groundwater Resources and Developing a Strategy and Policy for Sustainable Development and Management of Groundwater Resources in Uganda. Ministry of Water and Environment, Kampala, Uganda.
- Mworia, J.K., Kinyamario, J.I. & John, E.A. (2008). Impact of the invader Ipomoea hildebrandtii on grass biomass, nitrogen mineralisation and determinants of its seedling establishment in Kajiado, Kenya. *African J. Range Forage Sci.* **25**, 11–16.
- Nabonga, G., Namaalwa, J. & Sssenyonjo, E. (2010). REDD Working Papers: REDD and Sustainable Development Perspective from Uganda. International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED), London, UK.
- Nahayo, A., Ekise, I.E. & Niyigena, D. (2013). Assessment of the contribution of Non-timber Forest Products to the improvement of local people's livelihood in Kinigi sector, Musanze District, Rwanda. *Ethiop. J. Environ. Stud. Manag.* **6**, 698–706.
- Nakakaawa, C.A., Vedeld, P.O. & Aune, J.B. (2011). Spatial and temporal land use and carbon stock changes in Uganda: Implications for a future REDD strategy. *Mitig. Adapt. Strateg. Glob. Chang.* 16, 25–62.
- Naughton-Treves, L., Kammen, D.M. & Chapman, C. (2007). Burning biodiversity: Woody biomass use by commercial and subsistence groups in western Uganda's forests. *Biol. Conserv.* **134**, 232–241.
- Naughton, C.C., Lovett, P.N. & Mihelcic, J.R. (2015). Land suitability modeling of shea (Vitellaria paradoxa) distribution across sub-Saharan Africa. *Appl. Geogr.* **58**, 217–227.
- Ndayambaje, J.D. (2002). Potential for joint management and use of Nyungwe Forest, Rwanda. University of Stellenbosch, South Africa.
- NEMA. (2016). National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan II (2015-2025). National Environmental Management Authority, Kampala, Uganda.
- NEMA. (2021a). Land and Soil Improvement Accounts for Uganda. Government of Uganda, National Environmental Management Authority, Kampala, Uganda.
- NEMA. (2021b). Fisheries resources accounts for Uganda. Government of Uganda, National Environmental Management Authority, Kampala, Uganda.
- NEMA. (2021c). Biodiversity and Tourism Accounts for Uganda. National Environment Management Authority, Government of Uganda, Kampala, Uganda.
- NFA. (2009). Uganda National Biomass Study: Technical Report 2005. Kampala, Uganda: National Forestry Authority.
- NFA. (2017). Uganda land use/land cover. National Forestry Authority, Kampala, Uganda.
- Nkonya, E., Pender, J., P, J., Sserunkuuma, D., Kaizzi, C. & Ssali, H. (2004). Sustainability of land management: The case of soil nutirent balances in Eastern Uganda. In *Strategies for Sustainable Land Management and Poverty Reduction in Uganda*, International Food Policy Research Institute Research Report: 92. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Nkuutu, D., Lovett, P.N., Masters, E., Ojok, P. & Obua, J. (2000). Tree management and plant

utilisation in the agroforestry parklands of Northern Uganda. In The Shea Tree (Vitellaria paradoxa) First Regional Conference for Eastern & Central Africa.

- La Notte, A., Vallecillo, S., Polce, C., Zulian, G. & Maes, J. (2017). Implementing an EU System of Accounting for ecosystems and their services: Initial proposals for the implementation of ecosystem services accounts. EUR 28681 EN. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Nsubuga, F.N.W., Namutebi, E.N. & Nsubuga-Ssenfuma, M. (2014). Water Resources of Uganda: An Assessment and Review. J. Water Resour. Prot. **06**, 1297–1315.
- Nzigidahera, B. (2006). Assessment of socio-cultural, economic characteristics and livelihood of riparian population of the Kibira National Park. GEF, Birdlife International and UNDP.
- Odada, E.O., Olago, D.O., Kulindwa, K., Ntiba, M. & Wandiga, S. (2004). Mitigation of environmental problems in Lake Victoria, East Africa: Causal chain and policy options analyses. *Ambio* **33**, 13–23.
- Odokonyero, G.G.O. (2005). Pitsawn timber production in natural forests of Uganda. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Okia, C.A., Opolot, V.I., Sekatuba, J., Katumba, B.M. & Esegu, J.F. (2008). Use and conservation of indigenous fruit tree diversity for improved livelihoods in Eastern Africa: Uganda Country Report. National Forestry Resources Research Institute (NaFORRI), Kampala, Uganda.
- Olupot, W., McNeilage, J. & Plumptre, A.J. (2009). An analysis of socioeconomics of bushmeat hunting at major hunting sites in Uganda. Work. Pap. no. 38.
- Owuor, S.O., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Guzha, A.C., Rufino, M.C., Pelster, D.E., Díaz-Pinés, E. & Breuer, L. (2016). Groundwater recharge rates and surface runoff response to land use and land cover changes in semi-arid environments. *Ecol. Process.* **5**.
- Panagos, P., Borrelli, P., Meusburger, K., Yu, B., Klik, A., Lim, K.J., Yang, J.E., Ni, J., Miao, C., Chattopadhyay, N., Sadeghi, S.H., Hazbavi, Z., Zabihi, M., Larionov, G.A., Krasnov, S.F., Gorobets, A. V., Levi, Y., Erpul, G., Birkel, C., Hoyos, N., Naipal, V., Oliveira, P.T.S., Bonilla, C.A., Meddi, M., Nel, W., Al Dashti, H., Boni, M., Diodato, N., Van Oost, K., Nearing, M. & Ballabio, C. (2017). Global rainfall erosivity assessment based on hightemporal resolution rainfall records. *Sci. Rep.* **7**.
- Pimentel, D., Harvey, C., Resosudarmo, P., Sinclair, K., Kurz, D., McNair, M., Crist, S., Shpritz, L., Fitton, L., Saffouri, R. & Blair, R. (1995). Environmental and economic costs of soil erosion and conservation benefits. *Science* (80-.). 267, 1117–1123.
- Plumptre, A., Kujirakwinja, D., Moyer, D., Driciru, M. & Rwetsiba, A. (2010). Large mammal surveys, Greater Virunga Landscape. Uganda Wildlife Association.
- Plumptre, A.J. & Cox, D. (2006). Counting primates for conservation: Primate surveys in Uganda. *Primates* **47**, 65–73.
- Potschin, M., Haines-Young, R., Fish, R. & Turner, R.K. (2016). Routledge Handbook of Ecosystem Services. Oxford, UK and New York, USA: Routledge.
- PPIAF. (2022). Uganda: Technical and Financial Review of the National Water and Sewerage Corporation (NWSC) [WWW Document]. *Public-Private Infrastruct. Advis. Facil.* URL

https://ppiaf.org/activity/uganda-technical-and-financial-review-national-water-and-sewerage-corporation-nwsc-0

- Remme, R.P., Edens, B., Schröter, M. & Hein, L. (2015). Monetary accounting of ecosystem services: A test case for Limburg province, the Netherlands. *Ecol. Econ.* **112**, 116–128.
- Ribeiro, N.S., Snook, L.K., Nunes de Carvalho Vaz, I.C. & Alves, T. (2019). Gathering honey from wild and traditional hives in the Miombo woodlands of the Niassa National Reserve, Mozambique: What are the impacts on tree populations? *Glob. Ecol. Conserv.* **17**.
- Ross, C.W., Prihodko, L., Anchang, J., Kumar, S., Ji, W. & Hanan, N.P. (2018). HYSOGs250m, global gridded hydrologic soil groups for curve-number-based runoff modeling. *Sci. data* **5**.
- Rwamahe, A.S. (2008). The contribution of forest products to rural livelihoods in Nkasi District, Rukwa, Tanzania. Sokoine University of Agriculture.
- Saunders, M.J., Jones, M.B. & Kansiime, F. (2007). Carbon and water cycles in tropical papyrus wetlands. Wetl. Ecol. Manag. 15, 489–498.
- Schneider, S. & Blyther, R. (1988). The habitat and nesting biology of the African honey bee Apis mellifera scutellata in the Okavango River Delta, Botswana, Africa. *Insectes Soc.* 35, 167–181.
- Scott, P. (1998). From conflict to collaboration: People and forests at Mount Elgon, Uganda. Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK: IUCN.
- Shackleton, S.E. (1990). Socio-economic importance of Cymbopogon validus in Mkambati Game Reserve, Transkei. South African J. Bot. 56, 675–682.
- Sharp, R., Douglass, J., Wolny, S., Arkema, K., Bernhardt, J., Bierbower, W., Chaumont, N., Denu, D., Fisher, D., Glowinski, K., Griffin, R., Guannel, G., Guerry, A., Johnson, J., Hamel, P., Kennedy, C., Kim, C.K., Lacayo, M., Lonsdorf, E., Mandle, L., Rogers, L., Silver, J., Toft, J., Verutes, G., Vogl, A.L., Wood, S. & Wyatt, K. (2020). InVEST 3.12.0.post7+ug.g57226b8 User's Guide. *Nat. Cap. Proj. Stanford Univ. Univ. Minnesota, Nat. Conserv. World Wildl. Fund.*
- Shiferaw, D., Kelbessa, E. & Soromessa, T. (2011). Vegetation structure and regeneration status of Anbesa Chaka lowland bamboo forest, Western Ethiopia. *Ethiop. J. Biol. Sci.* 10.
- SNA. (2008). System of National Accounts 2008. European Communities, International Monetary Fund, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, United Nations and World Bank. New York.
- Stites, E., Akabwai, D., Mazurana, D. & Ateyo, P. (2007). Angering Akujů : Survival and Suffering in Karamoja. Tufts Univ. Feinstein Int. Cent. Feinstein International Center.
- Struhsaker, T.T. (1987). Forestry issues and conservation in Uganda. *Biol. Conserv.* **39**, 209–234.
- Sweeney, B.W. & Newbold, J.D. (2014). Streamside forest buffer width needed to protect stream water quality, habitat, and organisms: A literature review. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 50, 560–584.

- Thompson, K., Shewry, P.R. & Woolhouse, H.W. (1979). Papyrus swamp development in the Upemba Basin, Zaïre: studies of population structure in Cyperus papyrus stands. *Bot. J. Linn. Soc.* **78**, 299–316.
- Tolbert, S., Makambo, W., Asuma, S., Musema, A. & Mugabukomeye, B. (2019). The Perceived Benefits of Protected Areas in the Virunga-Bwindi Massif. *Environ. Conserv.* **46**, 76–83.
- Trabucco, A. & Zomer, R.J. (2018). Global Aridity Index and Potential Evapo-Transpiration (ETO) Climate Database v2. CGIAR Consortium for Spatial Information (CGIAR-CSI).
- Treves, A., Plumptre, A.J., Hunter, L.T.B. & Ziwa, J. (2009). Identifying a potential lion Panthera leo stronghold in Queen Elizabeth National Park, Uganda, and Parc National des Virunga, Democratic Republic of Congo. *Oryx* **43**, 60–66.
- Tumusiime, D.M., Eilu, G., Tweheyo, M. & Babweteera, F. (2010). Wildlife snaring in Budongo Forest Reserve, Uganda. *Hum. Dimens. Wildl.* **15**, 129–144.
- Turpie, J., Day, L., Gelo Kutela, D., Letley, G., Roed, C. & Forsythe, K. (2016). A preliminary investigation of the potential costs and benefits of rehabilitation of the Nakivubo Wetland, Kampala. International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank, Washington DC.
- Turpie, J., Letley, G., Chrystal, R., Corbella, S. & Stretch, D. (2017a). Promoting Green Urban Development in Africa: Enhancing the relationship between urbanization, environmental assets and ecosystem services. Part 1: A spatial valuation of the natural and semi-natural open space areas in Ethekwini Municipality. Prepared for the World Bank, Washington, DC.
- Turpie, J., Letley, G., Weiss, J. & Schmidt, K. (2022). Accounting for ecosystem services and asset value: pilot accounts for KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *One Ecosyst.* **7**.
- Turpie, J., Smith, B., Emerton, L. & Barnes, J. (1999). Economic Value of the Zambezi Basin Wetlands. Zambezi Basin Wetlands Conservation and Resource Utilisation Project. IUCN Regional Office for Southern Africa.
- Turpie, J., Wilson, L., Letley, G. & Weiss, J. (2021). Economic Value of East Africa's Transboundary Wildlife Landscapes. USAID Report.
- Turpie, J.K., Forsythe, K.J., Knowles, A., Blignaut, J. & Letley, G. (2017b). Mapping and valuation of South Africa's ecosystem services: A local perspective. *Ecosyst. Serv.* **27**, 179–192.
- Turpie, J.K., O'Connor, T., Mills, A. & Robertson, H. (2007). The ecological and economic consequences of changing land use in the southern Drakensberg Grasslands, South Africa. South African J. Econ. Manag. Sci. 10, 423–441.
- Turyahabwe, N., Kakuru, W., Asiimwe, M. & Byakagaba, P. (2016). Proximate and underlying causes of illegal timber trade in Uganda. In *Precious Forests Precious Earth*: 225–240. Intech.
- Twinamatsiko, M., Baker, J., Harrison, M., Shirkhorshidi, M., Bitariho, R., Wieland, M., Asuma, S., Milner-Gulland, E.J., Franks, P. & Roe, D. (2014). *Linking Conservation, Equity and Poverty Alleviation.* International Institute for Environment and Development, London.
- UBOS. (2010). Uganda Census Of Agriculture 2008/2009. Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS), Ministry of Agriculture, Animal Industry and Fisheries (MAAIF), Kampala, Uganda.

- UBOS. (2016a). National Population and Housing Census 2014 Main Report. Uganda Bureau of Statistics, Kampala, Uganda.
- UBOS. (2016b). Uganda Statistical Abstract 2016. Uganda Bureau of Statistics, Kampala, Uganda.
- UBOS. (2018). Uganda National Household Survey 2016/17 Report. Uganda Bureau of Statistics, Kampala, Uganda.
- UBOS. (2019). System of Environmental Economic Accounting: 2015-2018 Water Accounts Report. Uganda Bureau of Statistics, Kampala, Uganda.
- UBOS. (2020a). Annual Agriculture Survey 2018. Uganda Bureau of Statistics, Kampala, Uganda.
- UBOS. (2020b). 2020 Statistical Abstract. Uganda Bureau of Statistics, Kampala, Uganda.
- UBOS. (2020c). Uganda Census of Agriculture 2018. Uganda Bureau of Statistics, Kampala, Uganda.
- UBOS. (2021). System of Environmental Economic Accounting 2017 to 2020 Water accounts Report. Kampala, Uganda: Uganda Bureau of Statistics.
- UN. (2014). System of Environmental-Economic Accounting 2012: Central Framework. New York: United Nations.
- UN. (2017). SEEA Experimental Ecosystem Accounting: Technical Recommendations. Prepared as part of the joint UNEP / UNSD / CBD project on Advancing Natural Capital Accounting funded by NORAD. United Nations.
- UN et al. (2021). System of Environmental-Economic Accounting— Ecosystem Accounting (SEEA EA). White cover publication, pre-edited text subject to official editing. Final Draf. New York: United Nations et al.
- UNEP-WCMC & IDEEA. (2017). Experimental Ecosystem Accounts for Uganda. Cambridge, U.K.: United Nations Environment Programme World Conservation Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC).
- UNEP-WCMC & IUCN. (2022). Protected Planet: The World Database on Protected Areas (WDPA) and World Database on Other Effective Area-based Conservation Measures (WD-OECM).
- UNHCR. (2022). Refugee Data Finder.
- UNHCR & GoU. (2022). Uganda refugees and asylum seekers as of 31 August 2022 [WWW Document]. URL https://data.unhcr.org/en/country/uga
- United Nations. (2005). Sustainable Development Goals [WWW Document]. URL https://sdgs.un.org/goals/goal6
- URA. (2014). A guide on tax incentives/exemptions available to investors in Uganda. Uganda Revenue Authority.
- URA. (2022). A Guide to Taxation of the Agricultural Sector. Vol 1, Issue 2, FY 2022-2023. Uganda Revenue Authority.
- Uribe, N., Quintero, M. & Valenica, J. (2013). Aplicación Del Modelo Hidrológico SWAT (Soil and

Water Assessment Tool) a La Cuenca Del Río Cañete. Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical.

- USAID. (2021). Uganda Water Resources Profile Overview. United States Agency for International Development, Sustainable Water Partnership (SWP).
- USDA. (2004). Hydrologic Soil-Cover Complexes. In Part 630 Hydrology National Engineering Handbook. United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service.
- Vaudo, A.D., Ellis, J.D., Cambray, G.A. & Hill, M. (2012). Honey bee (Apis mellifera capensis/A. m. scutellata hybrid) nesting behavior in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. *Insectes Soc.* 59, 323–331.
- Verdoodt, A., Mureithi, S.M., Ye, L. & Van Ranst, E. (2009). Chronosequence analysis of two enclosure management strategies in degraded rangeland of semi-arid Kenya. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **129**, 332–339.
- Visser, R., van der Heijden, R., van der Meulen, R., Hulshof, M., Wamubeyi, B., Nyaega, L. & Wamae, T. (2017). *Kinaite Catchment: Environmental risk assessment and ecosystem mapping*. Wetlands International.
- Walter, S. (2001). Non-Wood Forest Products in Africa: A regional and national overview. Food and Agriculture Organisation, Rome.
- Wanyama, F., Elkan, P., Grossmann, F., Mendiguetti, S., Modi, M., Kisame, F., Kato, R., Okiring, D., Loware, S. & Plumptre, A.J. (2014). Aerial surveys of Kidepo Valley National Park and Karenga Community Wildlife Area. Wildlife Conservation Society, Uganda Wildlife Authority.
- Wanyonyi, M., Talibita, M., Kirigwajo, M. & Rusoke, T. (2020). Africa Tobacco Industry Monitoring (ATIM) Country Report: Uganda. Africa Centre for Tobacco Industry Monitoring and Policy Research.
- Wasswa, H., Kakembo, V. & Mugagga, F. (2019). A spatial and temporal assessment of wetland loss to development projects: the case of the Kampala–Mukono Corridor wetlands in Uganda. *Int. J. Environ. Stud.* **76**, 195–212.
- WAVES. (2020). *Country Brief: Uganda*. Wealth Accounting and the Valuation of Ecosystem Services.
- WAVES. (2022). Waves About Us [WWW Document]. URL https://www.wavespartnership.org/en/about-us
- Willcock, S., Phillips, O.L., Platts, P.J., Balmford, A., Burgess, N.D., Lovett, J.C., Ahrends, A., Bayliss, J., Doggart, N., Doody, K., Fanning, E., Green, J., Hall, J., Howell, K.L., Marchant, R., Marshall, A.R., Mbilinyi, B., Munishi, P.K.T., Owen, N., Swetnam, R.D., Topp-Jorgensen, E.J. & Lewis, S.L. (2012). Towards Regional, Error-Bounded Landscape Carbon Storage Estimates for Data-Deficient Areas of the World. *PLoS One* 7, 1–10.
- Wischmeier, W. & Smith, D. (1978). Predicting rainfall erosion losses—a guide to conservation planning. U.S. Department of Agriculture.
- Wood, S.A., Guerry, A.D., Silver, J.M. & Lacayo, M. (2013). Using social media to quantify

nature-based tourism and recreation. Sci. Rep. 3.

- World Bank. (2013). Economic and Statistical Analysis of Tourism in Uganda. World Bank, Washington, DC.
- World Bank. (2020a). Uganda investing in forests and protected areas for climate-smart development project (P170466).
- World Bank. (2020b). Statistical and Economic Analysis of Uganda's Tourism Expenditure and Motivation Survey 2019. Stat. Econ. Anal. Uganda's Tour. Expend. Motiv. Surv. 2019. World Bank, Washington, DC.
- World Bank. (2022). The Ugandan Commercial Forestry Sector: Review of the Value Chains and Markets. Washington DC: World Bank.
- World Bank Group. (2021). Climate Risk Country Profile: Uganda. The World Bank Group, Washington DC.
- Wronski, T. (2003). Fire induced changes in the foraging behaviour of impala Aepyceros melampus in Lake Mburo National Park, Uganda. *Afr. J. Ecol.* **41**, 56–60.
- Zhang, F., Zhan, J., Zhang, Q., Yao, L. & Liu, W. (2017). Impacts of land use/cover change on terrestrial carbon stocks in Uganda. *Phys. Chem. Earth* **101**, 195–203.
- Zhang, X., Liu, X., Zhang, M. & Eitzel, M. (2010). A review of vegetated buffers and a metaanalysis of their mitigation efficacy in reducing nonpoint source pollution. J. Environ. Qual. 39, 76–84.
- Zhao, Y., Feng, D., Jayaraman, D., Belay, D., Sebrala, H., Ngugi, J., Maina, E., Akombo, R., Otuoma, J., Mutyaba, J., Kissa, S., Qi, S., Assefa, F., Oduor, N.M., Ndawula, A.K., Li, Y. & Gong, P. (2018). Bamboo mapping of Ethiopia, Kenya and Uganda for the year 2016 using multi-temporal Landsat imagery. *Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf.* 66, 116–125.
- Zhou, M., Brandt, P., Pelster, D., Rufino, M.C., Robinson, T. & Butterbach-Bahl, K. (2014). Regional nitrogen budget of the Lake Victoria Basin, East Africa: syntheses, uncertainties and perspectives. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 9, 105009.

8. APPENDIX

Uganda's land cover data were the key data input for mapping and estimating the extent of ecosystems in the study. Previous accounting work used land cover classes as a suitable proxy for ecosystem types, as is commonly done in the Ugandan context (GoU, 2020b). However, for the purposes of this study, the 13 national land cover classes were aggregated into 10 ecosystem types, as certain land cover divisions were not considered to meet the definition of distinct ecosystem types based on the SEEA definition. This appendix provides further detail on the overlap between the original land cover classes and the ecosystem types used for accounting, showing the total area of each land cover class and ecosystem type in 1990 (Table 8.1) and 2015 (Table 8.2).

Land cover Ecosystem	Open								Built-up		
	water	Wetland	Grassland	Bushland	Woodland	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	area	Bare	Total
Open water (ha)	3 676 875										3 676 875
Wetland		501 765									501 765
Grassland			5 338 320								5 338 320
Bushland				I 553 473							I 553 473
Woodland					3 542 873						3 542 873
THF well stocked						742 816					742 816
THF low stocked						227 569					227 569
Broad leaved plantation							16 574				16 574
Coniferous plantation							15 705				15 705
Small-scale farmland								8 404 734			8 404 734
Commercial farmland								68 571			68 57 1
Built-up									36 185		36 185
Impediments										5 088	5 088
Total	3 676 875	501 765	5 338 320	1 553 473	3 542 873	970 385	32 279	8 473 305	36 185	5 088	

Table 8.1. Cross-walk of the 13 original land cover classes and the 10 final ecosystem types used for accounting. Values give the area of each land cover class and ecosystem type in 1990.

Table 8.2. Cross-walk of the 13 original land cover classes and the 10 final ecosystem types used for accounting. Values give the area of each land cover class and ecosystem type in 1990.

Land cover Ecosystem	Open water	Wetland	Grassland	Bushland	Woodland	Forest	Plantation	Farmland	Built-up area	Bare	Total
Open water	3 671 788										3 671 788
Wetland		760 109									760 109
Grassland			5 100 737								5 100 737
Bushland				97 363							1 971 363
Woodland					2 3 20						1 213 201
THF well stocked						529 030					529 030
THF low stocked						101 983					101 983
Broad leaved plantation							44 359				44 359
Coniferous plantation							63 557				63 557
Small-scale farmland								10 273 651			10 273 65 I
Commercial farmland								256 860			256 860
Built-up									136 062		136 062
Impediments										7 848	7 848
								10 530			
Total	3 671 788	760 109	5 100 737	1 971 363	1 213 201	631013	107 916	511	136 062	7 848	-